

ISSN: 2356-3931 (Online) Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Gadjah Mada Journal of the Medical Sciences

Volume 54 No 2, 2022



Published by Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Credits

Editor in Chief Hardyanto Soebono

Associate Editors

Dewi Kartikawati Paramita Eti Nurwening Sholikhah Gunadi Junaedy Yunus Mae Sri Hartati Wahyuningsih Mardiah Suci Hardianti Mei Neni Sitaresmi Muhammad Bayu Sasongko Mustofa Retno Danarti Sultana MH Faradz Yana Supriatna Yohanes Widodo Wirohadidjojo Pamungkas Bagus Satriyo Fara Silvia Yuliani

International Advisory Board

Agostino Pierro Alexis Valentin Carina Hanashima Dorothy E. Oorschot Fatima Shad Kaneez Françoise Benoit-Vical Gan Siew Hua Hisahide Nishio Hugo A. Heij I. Bing Tan Isaak Effendy Jaap Middeldorp Mulyoto Pangestu Rik J. Scheper Teguh Haryo Sasongko William R. Faber Yoshitake Hayashi Zilfalil Bin Alwi

Language Editor

Rahmi Ayu Wijayaningsih Irham Ramadhan

Cover

Dian Prasetyo Wibisono

Layout editor

Tri Mulyono Nurhadiyahya

Table of contents

Increased blood-brain barrier permeability correlate with microglial activation at hippocampal CA1 region in acute and chronic bilateral common carotid artery ligation in rats	
Dian Prasetyo Wibisono, Nur Arfian, Handoyo Pramusinto, Fauziyatul Munawaroh, Yeshua Putra Krisnugraha, Daniel Agriva Tamba, Dwi Cahyani Ratna Sari	103-113
Potential secondary metabolite analysis of soil <i>Streptomyces</i> sp. GMR22 and antibacterial assay on <i>Porphyromonas gingivalis</i> ATCC 33277	
Hera Nirwati, Ema Damayanti, Eti Nurwening Sholikhah, Mustofa, Jaka Widada	114-124
Analysis of systemic risk factors of occipital stroke-related vision loss	
Indra Tri Mahayana, Nyssa Alexandra Tedjonegoro, Tatang Talka Gani	125-131
The role of clinical reminder system to drug prescribing on patients of the National Health Insurance with ischemic stroke	
Faramita Hiola, Iwan Dwiprahasto, Rizaldy Pinzon	132-140
Hearing loss in pediatric patients with congenital rubella syndrome	
Muyassaroh, Nisa Alifia Rahmi	141-147
Relationship between high-risk human papilloma virus (HPV) and subclinical condyloma acuminata (CA) in the cervix of high-risk women	
Benjamin Ricardo Rubirosa Lumban Tobing, Richard Hutapea, Kristina Nadeak	148-160
Antibiotic resistance of biofilm-producing bacteria from sepsis patients in Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo Hospital, Purwokerto, Central Java	
Rani Afifah Nur Hestiyani, Wahyu Siswandari, Vitasari Indriani, I Dewa Sang Ayu Putu Peramiarti, Dwi Utami Anjarwati, Hermin Prihartini	161-170
Challenge in diagnosing tuberculosis on a boy with severely wasted in limited resource area	
Marini Siagian, Norman Tanyadji	171-180
Obesity and the role of genetic polymorphism: A review of genes as the risk of obesity	
Pramudji Hastuti	181-201



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 103-113 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202201

Increased blood-brain barrier permeability correlate with microglial activation at hippocampal CA1 region in acute and chronic bilateral common carotid artery ligation in rats

Dian Prasetyo Wibisono¹, Nur Arfian², Handoyo Pramusinto¹, Fauziyatul Munawaroh³, Yeshua Putra Krisnugraha³, Daniel Agriva Tamba¹, Dwi Cahyani Ratna Sari²

¹Division of Neurosurgery, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, ²Department of Anatomy, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, ³Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Inflammatory processes might play a key role in the pathogenesis of post-stroke Submitted: 2022-01-31 Accepted : 2022-03-09 epilepsy. The activation of microglia and release of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM1) might induce blood-brain barrier (BBB) disintegration. However, the influence of such pathomechanisms in the generation of poststroke epilepsy is still not clear. We investigated whether cerebral ischemia exerts effects on inflammation in the hippocampus by measuring the hippocampal injury score, expression of a microglial marker, and expression of *VCAM1* in rats. A total of 24 Sprague Dawley rats were randomized into four groups with 6 rats in eachgroup i.e. sham operation (SO) as control, carotid ligation 1 (GCL1) as an acute model, carotid ligation 3 (GCL3) as a subacute model, and carotid ligation 7 (GCL7) as a chronic model. Immunostaining for microglia marker (CD68) was measured in rat brain tissue sections. The VCAM1 expression was evaluated by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Cerebral ischemia increased the amount of microglial immunostaining and expression of VCAM1. The hippocampal injury score and microglial immunopositivity were significantly correlated with the duration of brain ischemia. We conclude that cerebral ischemia is correlated with neuroinflammatory reaction and disturbance of BBB permeability, and the correlation of those molecular impairments with the generation of post-stroke epilepsy remains to be elucidated.

ABSTRACT

Proses inflamasi kemungkinan berperan penting dalam patogenesis epilepsi pasca stroke. Aktivasi mikroglia dan pelepasan vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM1) dapat menurunkan fungsi sawar darah otak. Namun, pengaruh setiap mekanisme patogensis tersebut dengan munculnya epilepsi pasca stroke masih belum diketahui dengan baik. Dalam penelitian ini, peneliti mengkaji apakah iskemia cerebri mencetuskan inflamasi di hippocampus dengan menetapkan skor luka hippocampal, ekspresi marker mikroglia, dan ekspresi dari VCAM1 pada tikus. Total 24 ekor tikus Sprague Dawley dibagi secara acak dalam empat kelompok yaitu sham operation (SO) sebagai kontrol, carotid ligation 1 (GCL1) sebagai model iskemia akut, carotid ligation 3 (GCL3) seebagai model iskemia subakut, dan carotid ligation 7 (GCL7) sebagai model iskemia kronik. Pemeriksaan imunohistokimia marker mikroglia (CD68) dilakukan pada potongan otak tikus. Ekspresi VCAM1 diperiksa dengan reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Iskemia serebral meningkatkan imunopositivitas mikroglia dan ekspresi VCAM1. Skor luka hippocampal dan imunopositivitas mikroglia berkorelasi nyata terhadap durasi iskemia serebral. Peneliti berkesimpulan bahwa iskemia serebral berkaitan dengan rekasi neuroinflamasi dan gangguan permeabilitas sawar darh otak, dan hubungan antara proses molekular tersebut dengan munculnya epilepsi pasca stroke masih harus diteliti lebih lanjut.

Keywords:

blood-brain barrier; hippocampus; microglia; post-stroke epilepsy; VCAM1

INTRODUCTION

Epilepsy is one of the neurological conditions that cause disability in patients, with an incidence rate of 61.4 per 100,000 person-years.¹ Epilepsy might be associated with genetic abnormality (i.e., idiopathic epilepsy) or may be caused by a wide array of intracranial disorders, including cerebrovascular attack or stroke.² The cerebrovascular attack or stroke are considered as the most common causes of seizures and epilepsy in the elderly.³ Research conducted by the Oxfordshire Community Stroke Project (OCSP), reported that 11.5% of patients with stroke had a risk of experiencing a post-stroke seizure within 5 y after a stroke.4

Following the stroke event, inflammatory cascade an occurs, which leads to post-stroke glial cell proliferation.⁵ Microglia act as resident macrophages and are key modulators of the brain immune response. This cell is one type of glial cell that increased in number after stroke.6 The role of microglia in epileptogenesis is still uncertain, but several studies have shown that reactive microglia are found in the brains of temporal lobe epilepsy animal model.⁷ Furthermore, increased activity of microglia also have been shown in the brain tissue section of epileptic patients.^{8,9}

Several molecular dysregulations were postulated as the impact of the increasing number of microglial expressions, including the impairment of BBB integrity.¹⁰⁻¹³ Human brain endothelial cells forming the BBB can release *VCAM1* and the level of microglial was positively correlated with *VCAM1* expression level.¹⁴ High level of *VCAM1* was associated with the breakdown of the BBB, but to date, it is unknown whether *VCAM1* itself modulates BBB permeability.¹⁵

In an ischemic condition after stroke, several regions in the hippocampus,

including CA1 region, are known to be the region with high vulnerability.¹⁶ This variability was primarily associated with the difference in N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor activation, a type of glutamate receptor.¹⁷ An increased activity of NMDA receptor might increase the excitotoxicity following ischemia.¹⁷ In such conditions, the presence of extensive and multiple injuries, cortical damage, and hippocampal involvement are predictors of post-stroke epilepsy.⁴ However, the mechanism that drives this condition is still unclear.

Currently, only a few studies focused on the correlation between the incidence of inflammation and the blood-brain barrier damage as the basis for the mechanism of post-stroke epilepsy, especially related to the hippocampus as the most vulnerable structure in ischemic injury. This mechanism may provide a basic important mechanism for prevention, pharmacological, and surgical therapy in cases of post-stroke epilepsy.

We hypothesized that the ischemic condition following stroke could increase the number of microglia in the brain, which leads to an increase in BBB permeability and ultimately increased the incidence of post-stroke epilepsy. To address this hypothesis, a model of cerebral ischemia (i.e., bilateral common carotid artery ligation model) in rats was utilized. The changes in the number of microglia as the marker of brain inflammation were then assessed using immunohistochemistry. In addition to this, we also hypothesized that the expression of microglial increased activity after experimentally-induced stroke increases the expression of VCAM1, which might be associated with BBB breakdown.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This was a quasi-experimental study with a post-test only controlled

group design using 24 Sprague Dawley male rats, 4 wk, weighing 100 g. Rats were obtained from Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. The animals were randomized and maintained with standard laboratory conditions and given access to an ad libitum diet and tap water. The protocol of study was approved (FIGURE 1) the Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada (ref. KE/ FK/0222/EC/2021).



FIGURE 1. Experimental steps

Bilateral common carotid artery ligation for stroke model rats

Rats were divided into 4 groups containing 6 rats in each group i.e. sham operation (SO) as control, carotid ligation 1 (GCL1) as an acute model, carotid ligation 3 (GCL3) as a subacute model, and carotid ligation 7 (GCL7) as a chronic model. All experiments were performed under general anesthesia. Intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital solution 1:10 (0.1 mg/10 g BW) was used as the anesthesia agent. In this model, we performed clamping of the right and left common carotid artery using a non-traumatic vascular clamp p (Karl Hammacher GmbH, Solingen, Germany) for 30 min. After 30 min, the clamp was released. The incised skin was then closed using surgical thread silk 3/0 (OneMed-Healthcare, Surabaya, Indonesia). In the SO group, no artery clamping was performed and the rats only underwent a cervical incision followed by the closing of the incised skin. All rats in this group were euthanized on day 7. In the remainder groups, bilateral common carotid artery clamping was performed on all rats. All subjects were then euthanized on day 1 in CGL 1 group, day 3 in the CGL3 group, and day 7 in CGL7group.

Brain sample preparation for immunohistochemistry and hematoxylin-eosin staining

All animals were transcardially perfused with 4% paraformaldehyde (PAM) in 50 mM phosphate buffer and decapitated. The brains were kept in 4% PAM. Rats' brains were paraffinized and cut at 4 μ m with a microtome (Leica Biosystems, UK). Rats' brain fixation and the cutting process were performed by a laboratory assistant and this author.

Microscopic analysis

Hippocampal injury score

Brain sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (HE) and examined with an Olympus CX22 light microscope (Olympus Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). The images were then portrayed using the Optilab software at 400x magnification at the CA1 area. As mentioned earlier, this hippocampal region has been recognized as an injury-prone area in an ischemic condition.¹⁷ Hippocampal injury scores were determined using semi-quantitative scoring system, а as suggested by Møller *et al.*¹⁸ Fifteen fields per hippocampus were chosen as region of interests (ROI). In each ROI, the injuries were graded from 0-4 (0: normal; 1: injury affecting <25%; 2: injury affecting 25-50%; 3: injury affecting 50-75%; 4 injury affecting >75%). According to these variables, the thickness of the pyramidal layer, pyramidal cell distribution, pyramidal cell clumping, gaps, and cytoplasmic color were evaluated.¹⁸

Immunohistochemical staining of CD68

Microglia were evaluated bv immunohistochemistry on 4 µm brain slices using antibodies against CD68. The sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated using 100, 90, 80, and 70% alcohol, followed by the heating process in citrate buffer (pH 6) for antigen retrieval and blocking endogenous peroxidase using H₂O₂ 3% in PBS solution. The slides were then incubated using Background Sniper, rabbit 1st monoclonal antibody CD68 with 1:200 dilution (Abcam, ab32570, Cambridge, United Kingdom), TrekAvidin-HRP, 2^{nd} antibody antirabbit Trekkie Universal Link (Biocare Medical. STUHRP700. California. United States), and diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (Biocare Medical, STUHRP700H L10). The results were analyzed using the ImageI software, examined with a light microscope (Olympus CX22), and portrayed with the Optilab software at 400x magnification.

Reverse transcriptase PCR analysis

We performed RT-PCR analysis and electrophoresis to assess the changes in the expression of *VCAM1* after the experimentally-induced stroke.

RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Total RNA was extracted using Genezol (Geneaid GZR100, Geneaid Biotech Ltd, New Taipei City, Taiwan), followed by quantification of RNA concentration using spectrophotometry. We used 3,000 ng RNA for making cDNA. The cDNA was made using Rever Tra Ace® (Toy-obo Cat. No. TRT-101, Osaka, Japan) and random primer (Toyobo Cat. No. 3801), with PCR conditions: 30°C for 10 min (denaturation), 42°C for 60 min (annealing) and 99°C for 5 min (extension).

Reverse transcriptase PCR and electrophoresis

The RT-PCR was carried out to amplify the following specific cDNAs: *VCAM1* (F: GTCTACACCTCCCCAAGAAT and R: GGAGATGTCAACAGTAAATGGTTTC); and *GAPDH* (F: GGCACAGTCAAGGCTGAGAATG and R: TCTCGCTCCTGGAAGGCTGAGAATG and R: TCTCGCTCCTGGAAGATGGTGA). The RT-PCR was performed by mixing 2 μ L cDNA, 12.5 μ L of Taq Master Mix (Bioron, Germany, Cat. No. S101705), 0.6 μ L of forward and reverse primer, and 9.3 μ L of PCR water.

The cDNA was amplified to the following conditions: 94°C for 2 s (initial denaturation), 94°C for 10 s (denaturation), 60°C for 20 seconds (annealing), 72°C for 1 min (extension), and 72°C for 10 min (last extension) for 35 cycles. The PCR products were analyzed in 2% agarose gel along with a 100 bp DNA ladder (Bioron Cat. No. 306009, Germany). Expressions of the gene were quantified with densitometry analysis using the ImageJ software. The housekeeping gene used was *GAPDH*.

Statistical analysis

The data obtained were analyzed using the Shapiro Wilk test for distribution analysis. The Pearson correlation and Spearman correlation tests were used if the data were normally and abnormally distributed, respectively. Multiple comparisons among the groups were made using one-way Anova and followed by post hoc LSD tests if the data were normally distributed. If the data were abnormally distributed, Kruskal Wallis and post-hoc Mann Whitney tests were used. A p value < 0.05 was considered to be significant.

RESULTS

Microscopy analysis

Bilateral common carotid artery ligation induced hippocampal injury. Such occurrence was characterized by thickness decreasing of the pyramidal layer, increased gap between pyramidal cell, pyramidal cell clumping, and increased pyramidal cell with pale cytoplasm (FIGURE 2a). Hematoxylineosin staining revealed there was a progressive injury from acute, sub-acute, to the chronic phase. Quantification of the hippocampal injury score showed a significantly higher hippocampal injury score in the GCL1, GCL3, and GCL7 groups compared with the SO group (p=0.000). The GCL7 group demonstrated the highest hippocampal injury score followed by GCL3 and GCL1 groups (FIGURE 2a and 2b). This condition suggested that injury progressed and still occurred in the chronic phase.

Bilateral common carotid artery ligation induced a significant increase in the number of positive CD68 (microglia) fraction areas in GCL1, GCL3, and GCL7 groups compared with the SO group (p=0.002) (FIGURE 3a and 3b). This condition was associated with the increased number of activated microglia in the hippocampus following ischemia. In the chronic phase, the microglia presents in its active form, as the amoeboid form increased compared to the processed form (FIGURE 3a).



FIGURE 2. Histological quantification of hippocampal injury. (a). Representative FIGURE of Hematoxylin Eosin staining. The presence of pyramidal cell clumping (white arrow) and the increasing number of pyramidal cells with pale cytoplasm (blue arrow) are more frequent in the group with longer duration of cerebral ischemia. In such group, the pyramidal layer is thinner and gap between pyramidal gap is increased. This will lead to a higher hippocampal injury score in the chronic ischemic group. (b). Results of hippocampal injury score. The difference of hippocampal injury score was analyzed using one-way Anova (p=0.000). Asterisks show significance between SO and GCL groups (**, p<0.001). Elbow connectors show significance between GCL groups (+, p<0.001; ++, p<0.01; +, p<0.05).



FIGURE 3. Immunohistochemical quantification of CD68. (a). Microscopic FIGUREs of CD68 positive fraction area. CD68 was observed in control and all ischemic groups. Microglial activity is shown in the form of ameboid cells (red arrow) and the appearance of cell processes (yellow arrow). (b). CD68 positive fraction area were analysed using one-way ANOVA (p=0.000). Asterisks show significance between SO and GCL groups (**, p<0.001; *, p<0.01). Elbow connectors show significance between GCL groups (++, p<0.01).</p>

RT-PCR analysis of VCAM1 expression

Bilateral common carotid artery ligation induced a significantly higher mRNA expression of *VCAM1* in the GCL1, GCL3, and GCL7 groups, compared to the SO group. This suggests that ischemia, either in acute or chronic conditions, leads to increasing *VCAM1* production (p=0.000) (FIGURE 4a and 4b).



FIGURE 4. (a) Gel electrophoresis FIGUREs of RT-PCR analyses of *VCAM1* and *GAPDH* gene after 48 hours incubation.
(b). Bar charts of relative quantification for mean *VCAM1/GAPDH* mRNA expressions. Data were analysed using one-way ANOVA (p=0.000). Asterisks show significance between SO and GCL groups (**, p<0.001; *, p<0.01). Elbow connectors show significance between GCL groups (++, p<0.01; +++, p<0.05).

Correlation test

The Pearson correlation test showed a strong positive correlation between CD68-positive fraction area with the *VCAM1* expression (p=0.000; r=0.661), *VCAM1* expression with the hippocampal injury score (p=0.000; r=0.761), and CD68-positive fraction area with the hippocampal injury score (p=0.000; r=0.681).

DISCUSSION

Until now, the impact of the inflammatory response on the pathogenesis of post-stroke epilepsy is unclear. In this study, arterial ligation to trigger ischemic conditions in the rat's brain was performed. The temporary blood flow cessation led to a caused significant neuronal death. Such damage was assessed microscopically at CA1 region of the hippocampus using hippocampal injury score quantification. The hippocampal injury scores were significantly higher in all groups with arterial ligation procedures than in SO group. Also, this project focused on the role of microglia on the inflammatory response following brain stroke. It was found that the neurological deterioration observed in the ischemic group might be associated with inflammation-mediated by microglia. CD68 immunopositivity, which marks the presence of microglia, was significantly increased in rats undergoing arterial ligation. Moreover, this study assessed the integrity of BBB after the ischemic insult by evaluating the level of *VCAM1* expression in the brain ischemia models. *VCAM1* expression was raised in two ischemic groups (i.e., CGL 3 and CGL 7), indicating a disruption in BBB integrity.

Microglial activation occurred at acute, sub-acute, and chronic phases of ischemic injury.¹⁹ In the present study, CD68 immunopositivity was highest in GCL7 group (i.e., a model of chronic ischemic phase), followed by GCL3, GCL1, and SO group. This condition suggested that the amount of microglia after ischemic condition might be graded temporally. As shown in a previously published article, the amount of microglial activation was positively correlated with the number of the day spent following the ischemic insult.²⁰ inflammatory Moreover. response characterized post-ischemia is by morphological alterations and increased mobility of microglia.²¹ In this study, the evolution of microglial form into an amoeboid type might be observed in GCL3 and GCL7 groups.

On the other hand, VCAM1 expression also showed a progressive increase from the acute phase toward the chronic phase. The highest expression showed in the GCL7 group, followed by GCL3, GCL1, and SO group. VCAM1 is a glycoprotein that is inducible and expressed in endothelial cells. Its expression is dramatically increased by hypoxia.²² It is activated by proinflammatory cytokines and Reactive Oxygen Species.²³ In this study, microglial activation could lead to the expression of some proinflammatory cytokines such as IL1 β , IL6, and TNF α , depending on the polarization of the microglia. Microglia can undergo phenotypic changes in a process known as polarization.²⁴ Microglia, which are glial cells like macrophages, are rapidly activated and differentiate into M1 or M2.25 M1 phenotype are the proinflammatory state and will secrete proinflammatory cytokines that induce tissue damage.²⁶ proinflammatory cvtokines Several produced include IL1 β , IL6, TNF α , and iNOS.^{27,28} Related to the expression of proinflammatory cytokines, it is known that VCAM1 was dramatically increased by IL1 β and TNF α .²⁹ In contrast, the M2 phenotype has antiinflammatory properties that mainly work in debris clearance, extracellular matrix deposition, and angiogenesis.³⁰ In this study, we could not differentiate between these two types of microglial phenotypes.

A previous study revealed that epileptic conditions can be caused by inflammation cascade and BBB correlation dysfunction, but the between those two, is still unclear.¹⁰ In this study, the Pearson correlation test showed a strong positive correlation between CD68 and VCAM1 expression. It can be assumed that increased proinflammatory cytokines such as IL1 β , produced by activated microglia, may induce the increase of VCAM1 expression. VCAM1 acts as a mediator for peripheral immune cells such as leukocytes to infiltrate through the BBB. It will add inflammatory response also endothelium dysfunction and and BBB leakage. The contribution of brain intrinsic inflammatory reactions compared with those mediated by peripheral immune cells was still unclear, but BBB failure could be the link between these two mechanisms.³¹

to its unique Due structural architecture, BBB and its permeability have a significant role in brain impairment.³² Failure of BBB function could induce seizure activity through brain inflammation and BBB permeability.¹⁰ Epilepsy could be the result of the inflammatory response and the endothelium impairments.³³ The inflammatory response includes the secretion of several inflammatory factors from neurons, astrocytes, and microglia. On the other hand, infiltration of leukocytes through the BBB via adhesion molecules might be the reason for endothelium dysfunction and BBB leakage in epileptic patients.^{31,33,34} expression of cytokines The and inflammatory chemokines and matrix metalloproteinases in activated microglial cells contribute directly or indirectly to BBB damage.35 The M1type microglial cells produce TNF- α and IL-1 β , and affect the localization of VEcadherin, occludin, and claudin-5, and therefore contribute to BBB disruption.³⁶ Therefore, both inflammatory reaction BBB disruption contributes and epileptic condition originating to from hippocampus. Moreover, such contribution occurs in acute to chronic phase of ischemic insult.

This study has some limitations. We did not assess the direct relationship between neuroinflammation (i.e., microglial activity and *VCAM1* expression) and post-stroke epilepsy. We suggest that future studies should include an analysis of the influence of post-stroke neuroinflammation in an animal model of epilepsy and its relation with the duration of cerebral ischemia.

CONCLUSION

Our data demonstrate that acute and chronic phases of ischemic injury in the hippocampal CA1 region might induce an inflammatory response. Accumulation of activated microglia and increased level of *VCAM1* expression might be correlated with post-ischemic neuroinflammation and BBB disruption, respectively. The association between those events and the pathogenesis of post-stroke epilepsy remains to be elucidated.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Mulyadi for his great assistance during the completion of this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Fiest KM, Sauro KM, Wiebe S, Patten SB, Kwon CS, Dykeman J, *et al.* Prevalence and incidence of epilepsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of international studies. Neurology 2017; 88(3):296-303. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 2 1 2 / WNL.00000000003509
- Pack AM. Epilepsy overview and revised classification of seizures and epilepsies. Continuum 2019; 25(2):306-21. https://doi.org/10.1212/ CON.000000000000707
- Hernández-Ronquillo L, Adams S, Ballendine S, Téllez-Zenteno JF. Epilepsy in an elderly population: Classification, etiology and drug resistance. Epilepsy Res 2018; 140:90-4. h t t p s : //d o i . o r g / 10.1016/j. eplepsyres.2017.12.016
- 4. Myint PK. Post-stroke seizure and post-stroke epilepsy. Postgrad Med J 2006; 82(971):568-72. https://doi.org/10.1136/pgmj.2005.041426
- Yang H, Rajah G, Guo A, Wang Y, Wang Q. Pathogenesis of epileptic seizures and epilepsy after stroke. Neurol Res 2018; 40(6):426-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/01616412.201 8.1455014
- El Khoury J, Hickman SE, Thomas CA, Loike JD, Silverstein SC. Microglia, scavenger receptors, and the pathogenesis of alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 1998; 19(1 Suppl):S81-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0197-4580(98)00036-0.
- van Vliet EA, da Costa Araujo S, Redeker S, van Schaik R, Aronica E, Gorter JA. Blood-brain barrier leakage may lead to progression of temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain 2007; 130(Pt2):521-34.

https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl318

8. Sosunov AA, Wu X, McGovern RA, Couglin DG, Mikell CB, Goodman RR, *et al.* The mTOR pathway is activated in glial cells in mesial temporal sclerosis. Epilepsia 2012; 53(Suppl 1):78-86.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03478.x

- 9. Liu M, Chen Z, Beaulieu C, Gross DW. Disrupted anatomic white matter network in left mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 2014; 55(5):674-82. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.12581
- 10. Oby E, Janigro D. The blood-brain barrier and epilepsy. Epilepsia 2006; 47(11):1761-74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00817.x
- 11. van Vliet EA, Forte G, Ho;man L, den Burger JCG, Sinjewel A, de Vries HE, *et al.* Inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin reduces epileptogenesis and blood-brain barrier leakage but not microglia activation. Epilepsia 2012; 53(7):1254-63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03513.x
- 12. Marchi N, Angelov L, Masaryk T, Fazio V, Granata T, Hernandez N, *et al.* Seizure-promoting effect of bloodbrain barrier disruption. Epilepsia 2007; 48(4):732-42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-

1167.2007.00988.x

13. Tomkins O, Shelef I, Kaizerman I, Eliushin A, Afawi Z, Misk A, *et al.* Blood-brain barrier disruption in post-traumatic epilepsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2009; 79(7):774-7.

https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2007.126425

- 14. Yousef H, Czupalla CJ, Lee D, Chen MB, Burke AN, Zera KA, *et al.* Aged blood impairs hippocampal neural precursor activity and activates microglia via brain endothelial cell VCAM1. Nat Med 2019; 25(6):988-1000. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0440-4
- 15. Haarmann A, Nowak E, Deiß A, van der Pol S, Monoranu CM, Kooij G, *et al.* Soluble VCAM-1 impairs human brain endothelial barrier integrity

via integrin α-4-transduced outsidein signalling. Acta Neuropathol 2015; 129(5):639-52.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-015-1417-0

- 16. Yamashima T. Implication of cysteine proteases calpain, cathepsin and caspase in ischemic neuronal death of primates. Prog Neurobiol 2000; 62(3):273-95. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0301-0082(00)00006-x
- 17. Nikonenko AG, Radenovic L, Andjus PR, Skibo GG. Structural features of ischemic damage in the hippocampus. Anat Rec (Hobogken) 2009; 292(12):1914-21. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.20969
- Møller A. Results with calcium antagonists. In: New Strategies to Prevent Neuronal Damage from Ischemic Stroke. CHI Press 1994; 125-33.
- 19. Gulyás B, Toth M, Schain M, Airaksinen A, Vas A, Kostulas K, *et al.* Evolution of microglial activation in ischaemic core and peri-infarct regions after stroke: a PET study with the TSPO molecular imaging biomarker [((11))C]vinpocetine. J Neurol Sci 2012; 320(1-2):110-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2012.06.026
- 20. Li T, Pang S, Yu Y, Wu X, Guo J, Zhang S. Proliferation of parenchymal microglia is the main source of microgliosis after ischaemic stroke. Brain 2013; 136(Pt 12):3578-88. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt287
- Schilling M, Besselmann M, Leonhard C, Mueller M, Ringelstein EB, Kiefer R. Microglial activation precedes and predominates over macrophage infiltration in transient focal cerebral ischemia: a study in green fluorescent protein transgenic bone marrow chimeric mice. Exp Neurol 2003; 183(1):25-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0014-4886(03)00082-7
- 22. FrijnsCJM, KappelleLJ. Inflammatory

cell adhesion molecules in ischemic cerebrovascular disease. Stroke 2002; 33(8):2115-22.

https://doi.org/10.1161/01. str.0000021902.33129.69

23. Cook-Mills JM, Marchese ME, Abdala-Valencia H. Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression and signaling during disease: regulation by reactive oxygen species and antioxidants. Antioxid Redox Signal 2011; 15(6):1607-38. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2010.3522

 24. Taylor RA, Sansing LH. Microglial responses after Ischemic Stroke and intracerebral hemorrhage. Clin Dev

Immunol 2013; 20113:746068. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/746068

- 25. Liu R, Pian MX, Tang JC, Zhang Y, Liao HB, Zhuang Y, et al. Role of neuroinflammation in ischemic stroke. Neuroimmunol Neuroinflammation 2017; 4:158-66. https://doi.org/10.20517/2347-8659.2017.09
- 26. Xiong XY, Liu L, Yang QW. Functions and mechanisms of microglia/ macrophages in neuroinflammation and neurogenesis after stroke. Prog Neurobiol 2016; 142:23-44. h t t p s : //d o i . o r g / 10.1016/j. pneurobio.2016.05.001
- 27. Liu X, Wen S, Yan F, Liu K, Liu L, Wang L, *et al.* Salidroside provides neuroprotection by modulating microglial polarization after cerebral ischemia. J Neuroinflammation 2018; 15(1):39.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-018-1081-0

- 28. Boddaert J, Bielen K, Jongers B, Manocha E, Yperzeele L, Cras P, *et al.* CD8 signaling in microglia/ macrophage M1 polarization in a rat model of cerebral ischemia. PLoS One 2018; 13(1):e0186937. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0186937
- 29. Wang Q, Tang XN, Yenari MA. The inflammatory response in stroke. J Neuroimmunol 2007; 184(1-2):53-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

jneuroim.2006.11.014

30. Cherry JD, Olschowka JA, O'Banion MK. Neuroinflammation and M2 microglia: the good, the bad, and the inflamed. J Neuroinflammation 2014; 11:98.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-11-98

- 31. Fabene PF, Mora GN, Martinello M, Rossi B, Merigo F, Ottoboni L, et al. A role for leukocyte-endothelial adhesion mechanisms in epilepsy. Nat Med 2008; 14(12):1377-83. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.1878
- 32. Ivens S, Gabriel S, Greenberg G, Friedman A, Shelef I. Blood-brain barrier breakdown as a novel mechanism underlying cerebral hyperperfusion syndrome. J Neurol 2010; 257(4):615-20.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-009-5384-z

33. Vezzani A, French J, Bartfai T, Baram TZ. The role of inflammation in epilepsy. Nat Rev Neurol 2011; 7(1):31-40. https://doi.org/10.1038/

nrneurol.2010.178

- 34. Kim SY, Buckwalter M, Soreq H, Vezzani A, Kaufer D. Blood-brain barrier dysfunction-induced inflammatory signaling in brain pathology and epileptogenesis. Epilepsia 2012; 53(Suppl 6):37-44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03701.x
- 35. Sumi N, Nishioku T, Takata F, Matsumoto J, Watanabe T, Shuto H, *et al.* Lipopolysaccharide-activated microglia induce dysfunction of the blood–brain barrier in rat microvascular endothelial cells cocultured with microglia. Cell Mol Neurobiol 2010; 30(2):247-53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-009-9446-7
- 36. da Fonseca ACC, Matias D, Garcia C, Amarel L, Geraldo LH, Freitas C, *et al.* The impact of microglial activation on blood-brain barrier in brain diseases. Front Cell Neurosci 2014; 8:368.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00362



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 114-124 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202202

Potential secondary metabolite analysis of soil *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 and antibacterial assay on *Porphyromonas gingivalis* ATCC 33277

Hera Nirwati^{1*}, Ema Damayanti², Eti Nurwening Sholikhah³, Mustofa³, Jaka Widada⁴

¹Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, ²Research Center for Food Technology and Processing, National Research and Innovation Agency, Gunungkidul, Indonesia ³Department of Pharmacology and Therapy, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, ⁴Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Agriculture, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2021-12-26 Accepted : 2022-03-03 Infectious diseases caused by oral pathogenic bacteria are currently a serious problem due to the increasing incidence of antimicrobial resistance. *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22, a soil actinobacterium which has large-genome size. In previous studies, it was known to have antifungal, and antibiofilm activity on Candida albicans. However, its antibacterial activity on oral pathogenic bacterium, Porphyromonas gingivalis is not clear. This study aimed to identify potential active compound based on genome mining analysis and to evaluate the antibacterial activity of GMR22 extract on P. gingivalis ATCC 33277. Potential active compounds and biosynthesis gene clusters were analysis using antiSMASH version 5. Antibacterial activity assay was carried out by the microdilution method on P. gingivalis ATCC 33277. Based on genome mining analysis polyketide synthase (PKS), the Streptomyces sp. GMR22 is the abundant BGCs (35%) and has large-predicted compounds which have antibiotic-antibacterial activity (22.9%). On antibacterial assay, chloroform extract of GMR22 at 7.8 – 62.5 μ g/mL has high antibacterial activity on P. gingivalis compared to other extracts. Soil Streptomyces sp. GMR22 bacterium has biotechnological potential to produce active compounds for antibacterial.

ABSTRACT

Penyakit infeksi yang disebabkan oleh bakteri patogen rongga mulut hingga saat ini masih menjadi masalah serius yang disebabkan oleh peningkatan kejadian resistensi antimikroba. *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 merupakan aktinobakteri tanah yang memiliki ukuran genom besar. Penelitian sebelumnya, bakteri mempunyai aktivitas antijamur dan antibiofilm pada Candida albicans. Namun, belum diketahui aktivitasnya terhadap bakteri patogen oral seperti *Porphyromonas gingivalis*. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengidentifikasi senyawa aktif potensial berdasarkan analisis penambangan genom dan mengevaluasi aktivitas antibakteri dari ekstrak GMR22 terhadap P. gingivalis ATCC 33277. Senyawa aktif potensial dan klaster gen – gen biosintesis dianalisis dengan menggunakan antiSMASH version 5. Uji aktivitas antibakteri dilakukan dengan metode mikrodilusi terhadap bakteri P. gingivalis ATCC 33277. Berdasarkan analisis penambangan genom polyketide synthase (PKS), Streptomyces sp. mempunyai klaster gen – gen biosintesis dominan (33%) dan senyawa yang diprediksi memiliki kemampuan sebagai antibiotik – antibakteri (22,9%). Pada uji antibakteri, ekstrak kloroform GMR22 pada konsentrasi 7,8 – 62,5 μg/mĹ memiliki aktivitas antibakteri tertinggi pada P. gingivalis dibandingkan ekstrak lainnya. Bakteri tanah Streptomyces sp. GMRR22 memiliki potensi bioteknologi untuk menghasilkan senyawa aktif antibakteri.

Keywords: actinobacteria; antibacterial; Streptomyces; Porphyromonas gingivalis

INTRODUCTION

Porphyromonas gingivalis is an opportunistic pathogenic bacterium, commonly found in the human body and especially in the oral cavity, where it is associated with periodontal diseases.¹ Several clinical strains of P. gingivalis show moderate susceptibility and or resistance to amoxicillin metronidazole.¹ The other study showed that the P. gingivalis samples isolated from periodontitis patients showed relatively similar rates of resistance to amoxicillin (24.6%), azithromycin (21.3%) and metronidazole (24.6%).² Some antibiotics maybe does not reach the bacteria in the biofilm, so it requires a higher dose to kill.³ Efforts are needed to find new sources of antibiotics that are effective against P. gingivalis.

Actinobacteria especially genus Streptomyces have produced bioactive compounds for more than 10,000 of the 18,000 known bacterial bioactive compounds.⁴ These bacteria have a huge genome size, between 6.2 and 12.7 Mb and 5% of their genome is devoted to the synthesis of secondary metabolites.⁵ The discovery of new active compounds from Actinobacteria especially genus Streptomyces has become an important research because of the resulting novelty in chemical diversity and promising natural products for new drugs.⁶

Inpreviousresearch,*Streptomycess*p. GMR22, a soil bacterium⁷ demonstrated promising antifungal activity.⁸ Based on bioassay studies, this bacterium has the biotechnological potential for drug discovery. In recent years, the drug discovery from *Streptomyces* bacteria is not only based on bioassay procedure but also based on genome analysis and metabolite profiling. The genome mining techniques are currently genome analysis as the solution for accelerating the discovery of new drug candidates.⁹ With this technique, biosynthetic gene clusters (BGCs) could be identified from genome analysis and used for the chemical core structures prediction.¹⁰ Over the last 10 years, several new active compounds from *Streptomyces* have been revealed using genome mining approaches.¹¹

The huge biotechnology potential of the soil bacteria *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 drives exploratory research on this bacterium as a source of new antibiotics. This study aimed to identify the potential active compounds of Streptomyces sp. GMR22 using a genome mining approach and to evaluate its activity against *P. gingivalis.* This research is expected to provide information on the potential of *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 as a source of antibiotics to treat *P. gingivalis* infection.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Biological material

Streptomyces sp. GMR22, a soil bacterium isolated from the rhizosphere Cajuput medicinal plant, of the Melaleuca leucadendra (L), Myrtaceae, in Wanagama Forest, Gunung Kidul, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.⁷ The GMR22 isolate has been deposited at InaCC A148, Indonesian Institute of Sciences, and NBRC Japan (NBRC 110112). GMR22 16S RNA sequence has been submitted in the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), accession code MN922646. The whole-genome shotgun projects have been deposited in Data Bank of Japan/ European Nucleotide Archive/GenBank with accession number JACGSQ000000000 for *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22. Porphyromonas gingivalis ATCC[®] 33277 (Culti-loops[™]) purchased from Thermo Scientific, Lenexa, USA. P. gingivalis was maintained in Brain Hearth Infusion (BHI) Broth at the Microbiology Laboratory, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

Morphological analysis

The bacterial cell is grown at 28°C for 14 d on International Streptomyces Project-2 (ISP-2) medium (Difco, Spark, USA) were observed by scanning electron (Hitachi SU3500, microscopy (SEM) Japan). The SEM analysis in this study was performed without any chemical fixative.¹² One loop of bacterial biomass was added evenly to the surface of the carbon tape-covered stub. The sample was air-dried and coated with Au (Hitachi MC1000 Au ion sputter, Japan) with a setting of 10 mA for 60 sec and observed using SEM. The SEM settings operated in high vacuum mode, an accelerating voltage of 5 kV, a spot intensity of 30%, and magnifications of 5,000 and 10,000 x. The SEM analysis was conducted at Research Center for Food Technology and Processing, National Research, and Innovation Agency, Gunung Kidul, Indonesia.

Genome mining analysis

The identification, annotation, and analysis of gene clusters involved in the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites and predictions of the core structures produced were conducted by using antiSMASH 5.0,¹³genome mining has seen broad applications in identifying and characterizing new compounds as well as in metabolic engineering. Since 2011, the 'antibiotics and secondary metabolite shell-antiSMASH' analysis (https:// antismash.secondarymetabolites. http://antismash. available at org secondarymetabolites.org.

Fermentation and extraction

Streptomyces sp. GMR22 was maintained on ISP-2 Agar medium (Difco, Sparks, USA). *Streptomyces* spp. was cultured at 28 °C with 180 rpm agitation for 2 - 3 d in a 250 mL Erlenmeyer flask containing 100 mL of tryptic soy broth (TSB) (Difco, Sparks, USA) as the seed medium. Then, the cells were transferred into four 1000 mL flasks containing 500 mL of starch nitrate broth (SNB) as the production medium and incubated for 8 d at 28 - 29 °C with 180 rpm agitation in a shaker incubator (Stuart S1500). The SNB medium contained 0.5 g of NaCl, 1 g of KNO₃, 0.5 g of K₂HPO₄, 0.5 g of MgSO₄·7H₂O, 0.01 g of FeSO₄·7H₂O and 20 g of soluble starch in 1000 mL of distilled water.¹⁴ All media was sterilized using autoclave machine (Tommy) at 121 °C, 2 atm, for 15 min.

Secondary metabolites were obtained by separating the cell biomass from the liquid using refrigerated centrifugation at 4137 × g at 4 °C for 15 min. The supernatant was extracted two times with an equal volume of ethyl acetate, and evaporated using a rotary vacuum evaporator (Buchi, Switzerland) to obtain the crude extract. The crude ethyl acetate extract was fractionated using chloroform, *n*-hexane, ethvl acetate and methanol to separate the polar and nonpolar fractions. All extracts were then evaporated using a vacuum evaporator (Buchi, Germany). The crude extracts were weighed for yield extract analysis and stored in the refrigerator (Gea). All chemical reagents and solvents were purchased from Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany.

Antibacterial assay

The antibacterial assay against P. gingivalis ATCC[®] 33277 was conducted microdilution using the protocol described in a previous study with minor modification.¹⁵ The extract was prepared in six levels of concentration $(7.8 - 62 \ \mu g/mL$ in 0.1% of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)) as solvent and rediluted using Brain Hearth Infusion (BHI) medium (Merck, Germany). The initial bacterial suspension used for inoculation for assay was adjusted to 5 x 10⁵ CFU/mL in BHI medium using

McFarland standard. An untreated growth control (without extract) was included. The plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 h, anerobic condition (AnaeroGen™). Growth inhibition was determined by a spectrophotometer at 0 and 24 h. Optical densities at 600 nm (OD_{600} nm) were measured using a multi-scan reader (Thermo Scientific). All experiments were performed in triplicate. Growth inhibition (%) was determined by change in OD (\triangle OD) from the start of incubation to the final time point (24 hours). Growth inhibition was calculated with the following formula: $[(\Delta OD \text{ control } -\Delta OD \text{ test})/\Delta OD \text{ control}] x$ 100. The IC_{50} was defined as the lowest concentration at which 50% of growth was inhibited. The IC_{50} were determined by nonlinear regression analysis of \log_{10} concentrations of the extract against percent P. gingivalis inhibition. Statistical analysis was performed using One-way Anova followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test for analysis of treatment. Nonlinear regression and statistical analysis were done by using GraphPad Prism 9.0.1 software.

Targeted liquid chromatography high-resolution mass spectrometry (LC-HRMS)

Metabolite analysis of the active extract was carried out using ultra-highperformance liquid chromatography (TS Vanquish UHPLC) coupled to targeted high-performance mass spectrometry (Thermo Scientific Dionex Ultimate 3000 **RSLC Nano UHPLC paired with Thermo** Scientific Q Exactive) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). Targeted LC-HRMS was based on a predicted compound formula which was obtained from the genome mining analysis of Streptomyces sp. GMR22 whole-genome sequence using antiSMASH version 513 available online at https://antismash. secondarymetabolites.org/. HRMS was carried out with mobile phases

A (water + 0.1% formic acid) and B (acetonitrile + 0.1% formic acid). The column used was an Accucore™ Phenyl Hexyl analytical column (2.1 mm × 2.6 um) (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with a flow rate of 40 μ L/min, an injection volume of 5 uL, and a gradient with an analysis time of 25 min. The gradient was programmed as follows: 2 min, 5% B; 15 min, 60% B; 22 min, 95% B; 25 min, 95% B; 25.1 min, 5% B; and 30 min, 5% B. Experiments were carried out in full MS data dependent MSMS at 70,000 the full width at half maximum (FWHF) resolution, heated electrospray ionization, positive ionization, and data processing with Thermo Scientific XCalibur and Compound Discover 3.2. The data was analysis using procedures for targeted processing workflows for expected compounds. The mol file of expected compounds was selected and was input in analysis system based on manual procedures of Compound Discoverer version 3.2, user guide for LC studies (ThermoFisher Scientific, 2020).

Ethical clearance

This study has been approved by the Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, the Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia (ref. No. KE/0927/09/2020).

RESULT

The GMR22 bacterial strain was observed to be Gram-positive and aerobic, grew well on ISP-2 Agar medium, ISP-4 Agar medium, and TSA after 5 – 7 d at 28 - 29 °C. Morphological observations of the 7-day-old culture grown on ISP2 medium showed a smooth spore surface with aerial and vegetative hyphae. Soil bacterium GMR22 has white aerial spores at young culture and changed into gray spores at old culture. *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 spores have a round shape and form a spirals chain (FIGURE 1).

Based on genome mining analysis (FIGURE 2), *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 had the highest number of BGCs among the

large genome-sized *Streptomyces* group. GMR22 has the highest BGCs (65 of BGCs) with PKS as dominant BGCs. The other BGCs, hybrid NRPS – PKS, NRPS, and terpene also as major BGCs.



FIGURE 1. Morphology of *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 using scanning electron microscope with 10,000x of magnification (A) and 1,000x of magnification (B)



FIGURE 2. Biosynthesis gene clusters of secondary metabolites distribution of *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 based on genome mining using AntiSMASH 5¹³

Based on their biological activities, most of the compounds had known biological activities, while some compounds had no known specific activity. The biological activities possessed by the compounds predicted to be produced by this bacterium was shown in FIGURE 3. Based on this FIGURE 3, it is dominated by antibiotic compounds that have antibacterial activities.

FIGURE 4 showed that the chloroform

extract (CE) at $7.8 - 62.5 \mu g/mL$ has the significant antibacterial activity against *P. gingivalis*. This extract has the higher antibacterial activity than *n*-hexane, ethyl acetate and methanol extracts. The fungal growth was 56.16 - 72.65% and it was lower than bacterial growth in the control (100 %). The statistical analysis showed that there was significant difference at $7.8 - 15.62 \mu g/mL$ (p= 0.001) and at $31.25 - 62.5 \mu g/mL$ (p<0.001) with control without CE (p<0.05).



FIGURE 3. The biological activities of known compounds of *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 based on genome mining analysis



FIGURE 4. Antibacterial activity of soil *Streptomyces* sp. GMR22 extract on *Porphyromonas gingivalis*. Value are expressed as mean ± SD (^{ns}p>0.5, *p<0.1, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001) compared to control without any extract.

Prediction of the content of active compounds from chloroform extract was carried out using targeted LC-HRMS. TABLE 1 shows that the five selected targeted compounds had undergone a transformation and had changes in both formula and molecular weight.

|--|

Parent compound	Formula	Molecular weight	Transformations	Composition change	RT (min)	Area (Max)
Hygrocin A	$C_{28}H_{31}NO_{6}$	477.21514	Dehydration, nitro reduction	-(02)	17.426	23582396.96531
Amipurimycin	$C_{20}H_{35}N_7O_5$	453.26997	Hydration, nitro reduction, nitro reduction	-(O3) +(H6)	23.35	259957945.55138
Geldamycin	$C_{29}H_{42}N_2O_{11}$	594.27886	Hydration, oxidation	+(H2 O2)	23.82	42389047.14245
Bicyclomycin	$C_{12}H_{20}N_2O_2$	224.15248	Dehydration, nitro reduction, nitro reduction	-(O5) +(H2)	25.24	23911337.10273
Nigericin	${\rm C}_{40}{\rm H}_{74}{\rm O}_{10}$	714.5282	Hydration, nitro reduction, reduction	-(O) +(H6)	25.34	48124828.60041

DISCUSSION

The Streptomyces sp. GMR22 isolated from rhizopshere soil has the closest relationship to S. lactacystinicus strains OM-6519^T. The S. lactacystinicus strains OM-6519^T was isolated from soil samples near Lake Inba, Chiba, Japan.¹⁶respectively.Here, the taxonomic positions of these two strains were determined. The morphological and chemical features of strains OM-6519T and K04-0144T indicated that they belonged to the genus Streptomyces. Strain OM-6519T showed the highest 16S rRNA gene sequence similarities with Streptomyces xanthocidicus NBRC 13469T (99.7% GMR22 has high BGCs with PKS as dominant BGCs (FIGURE 2). This result was similar to the other previous studies. Genome mining analysis using antiSMASH version 3 revealed that the genome of Streptomyces sp. GMR22 harbored at least 63 BGCs with polyketide synthetase (PKS) as the major group of the identified gene cluster products.¹⁷ GMR22 also exhibited the presence of PKS-I and NRPS genes were amplified by PCR⁷ These genes were predicted to have a correlation with the antifungal activity of GMR22.7

Streptomyces rapamycinicus NRRL 5491 (12.7 Mbp) (accession number QYCY0000000)¹⁸ has 53 BGCs, and *S. bingchenggensis* BCW-1 (11.9 Mbp) (accession number CP002047)¹⁹ has 49 BGCs. The considerable genome potential of GMR22 suggest that this Indonesian *Streptomyces* species may be a promising source of new drugs.

The most antibiotic compounds produced by GMR22 bacteria such meilingmycin,²⁰ daptomycin,²¹ as feglymycin as anti-HIV,²² antinomycin,²³ **B1,**²⁵ glycinocin,²⁴ bafilomycin chlorothricinc,26 medermycin,²⁷ cadaside,29 paromomycin,²⁸ and azalomycin F3a,³⁰ GMR22 soil bacteria are also known to produce the most antifungal compounds such as, ECO-

02301,³¹ selvamicin,³² mediomycin A,³³ natamycin,³⁴ This is in line with the previous studies demonstrating that GMR22 produces antifungal compounds against molds and yeasts.^{7,17,35} GMR22 is also known to be the only bacterium that is predicted to produce antiplasmodial compounds, namely geldamycin^{36,37} and salinomycin.³⁸

The antibacterial activity in this study was similar with previous studies that showed chloroform extract has the highest inhibition against *C. albicans* (>20 mm of clear zone diameter) within n-hexane, benzene, and ethyl acetate extracts.³⁵ The IC₅₀ value of antifungal against *C. albicans* was 62.5 μ g/mL.¹⁷

Therefore, the active compound belonging Streptomyces sp. GMR22 could be predicted to be a new compound and has nothing in common with the predicted compound based on genome mining analysis. Further research related to the isolation of active compounds from the active fraction of chloroform extract is very important. In addition, the mechanism of antibacterial action of the active compounds found is also important to know.

CONCLUSION

Streptomyces sp. GMR22 has abundant biosynthetic cluster genes and has the potential to produce new types of antibiotics. Chloroform extract of GMR22 fermentation product has the potential to produce new compounds as antibacterial against *P. gingivalis*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by Indonesian Ministry of Research and Technology and Higher Education through Excellent Basic Research for Higher Education (Penelitian Dasar Unggulan Perguruan Tinggi) (Project No. 2757/UN1.DITLIT/DIT-LIT/PT/2020).

REFERENCES

1. Conrads G, Klomp T, Deng D, Wenzler JS, Braun A, Abdelbray MMH. The antimicrobial susceptibility of *Porphyromonas gingivalis*: genetic repertoire, global phenotype, and review of the literature. Antibiotics 2021; 10(12):1438.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 3 3 9 0 / antibiotics10121438

2. Ardila CM. Bedoya-Antimicrobial García JA. resistance Aggregatibacter of actinomycetemcomitans, Porphyromonas gingivalis and *Tannerella forsythia* in periodontitis patients. J Glob Antimicrob Resist 2020; 22:215-218.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2020.02.024

- 3. Larsen T. Susceptibility of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* in biofilms to amoxicillin, doxycycline and metronidazole. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2002; 17(5):267-71. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-302x.2002.170501.x
- 4. Bérdy J. Thoughts and facts about antibiotics: where we are now and where we are heading. Journal of Antibiotics 2012; 65(8):441. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2012.54
- 5. Undabarrena A, Ugalde JA, Seeger M, Cámara B. Genomic data mining of the marine actinobacteria *Streptomyces* sp. H-KF8 unveils insights into multistress related genes and metabolic pathways involved in antimicrobial synthesis. PeerJ 2017; 5:e2912. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2912
- 6. Dalisay DS, Willams DE, Wang XL, Centko R, Chen J, Andersem JE. Marine sediment-derived *Streptomyces* bacteria from British Columbia, Canada are a promising microbiota resource for the discovery of antimicrobial natural products. PLoS One 2013; 8(10):77078.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0077078 Nurjasmi R, Widada J, Ngadiman. Diversity of Actinomycetes at several forest types in Wanagama I Yogyakarta and their potency as a producer of antifungal compound. Indones. J Biotechnol 2009; 14(2):1196-205.

https://doi.org/10.22146/ijbiotech.7813

 Alimuddin, Widada J, Asmara W, Mustofa. Antifungal production of a strain of Actinomycetes spp isolated from the rhizosphere of Cajuput plant: selection and detection of exhibiting activity against tested fungi. Indones J Biotechnol 2011; 16(1):1-10.

https://doi.org/10.22146/ijbiotech.7829

9. Ziemert N, Alanjary M, Weber T. The evolution of genome mining in microbes-a review. Nat Prod Rep 2016; 33(8):988-1005.

https://doi.org/10.1039/c6np00025h

- 10. Weber T, Charusanti P, Musiol-Kroll EM, Jiang X, Tong Y, Kim HU. Metabolic engineering of antibiotic factories: new tools for antibiotic production in actinomycetes. Trends Biotechnol 2015; 33(1):15-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibtech.2014.10.009
- 11. Ward AC, Allenby NE. Genome mining for the search and discovery of bioactive compounds: the *Streptomyces* paradigm. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2018; 365(24). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsle/fny240
- 12. Kumar V, Bharti A, Gusain O, Bisht GS. Scanning electron microscopy of *Streptomyces* without use of any chemical fixatives. Scanning 2011; 33(6):446-9.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sca.20261

 Blin K, Shaw S, Steinke K, Villebro R, Ziemert M, Lee SY, *et al.* AntiSMASH
 Updates to the secondary metabolite genome mining pipeline. Nucleic Acids Res 2019; 47(W1):W81-7

https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz310

14. Ghanem NB, Sabry SA, El-Sherif

ZM, Abu El-Ela GA. Isolation and enumeration of marine actinomycetes from seawater and sediments in Alexandria. J Gen Appl Microbiol 2000; 46(3):105-11.

https://doi.org/10.2323/jgam.46.105

- Carrol DH, Chassagne F, Dettweiler M, Quave CL. Antibacterial activity of plant species used for oral health against *Porphyromonas gingivalis*. PLoS One 2020; 15(10):e0239316. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0239316
- 16. Také A, Matsumoto A, Omura S, Takahashi Y. Streptomyces lactacystinicus sp. nov. and Streptomyces cyslabdanicus sp. nov., producing lactacystin and cyslabdan, respectively. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 2015; 68(11):719

https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2014.162

17. Herdini C, Mubarika S, Hariwiyanto B, Wijayanti N, Hosoyama A, Yamazoe A, et al.. Secondary bioactive metabolite gene clusters identification of anticandidaproducing *Streptomyces* Sp. GMR22 isolated from Wanagama forest as revealed by Genome mining approach. Indones J Pharm 2017; 28(1):26-33.

http://dx.doi.org/10.14499/ indonesianjpharm28iss1pp26

- 18. Baranasic D, Gacesa R, Starcevic A, Zucko J, Blazik M, Horvat M, *et al.* Draft genome sequence of *Streptomyces rapamycinicus* strain NRRL 5491, the producer of the immunosuppressant rapamycin. Genome Announc 2013; 1(4):e0058.1 h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 2 8 / genomeA.00581-13
- 19. Wang XJ, Yan YJ, Zhang B, An J, Wang JJ, Tian J, et al. Genome sequence of the milbemycin-producing bacterium Streptomyces bingchenggensis. Journal of Bacteriology 2010; 192(17):4526-7. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00596-10

20. Sun Y, Zhou X, Tu G, Deng Z.

Identification of a gene cluster

encoding meilingmycin biosynthesis among multiple polyketide synthase contigs isolated from *Streptomyces nanchangensis* NS3226. Arch Microbiol 180(2):101-7.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-003-0564-1

- 21. Li L, Ma T, Liu Q, Huang Y, Hu C, Liao G. Improvement of daptomycin production in *Streptomyces roseosporus* through the acquisition of pleuromutilin resistance. Biomed Res Int 2013; 2013:479742. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/479742
- 22. Férir G, Hanchen A, Francois KO, Hoorelbeke B, Huskens D, Dettner F, *et al.* Feglymycin, a unique natural bacterial antibiotic peptide, inhibits HIV entry by targeting the viral envelope protein GP120. Virology 2012; 433(2):308-19.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2012.08.007

- 23. Chandrakar S, Gupta AK. Actinomycin-producing endophytic *Streptomyces parvulus* associated with root of *Aloe vera* and optimization of conditions for antibiotic production. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins 2019; 11(3)1055-69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12602-018-9451-6
- 24. Kong F, Carter GT. Structure determination of glycinosins A to D, further evidence for the cyclic structure of the amphomycin antibiotics. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 2003; 56(6):557-64.

https://doi.org/10.7164/antibiotics.56.557

25. Shacka JJ, Klocke BJ, Roth KA. Autophagy, bafilomycin and cell death: The 'A-B-Cs' of plecomacrolideinduced neuroprotection. Autophagy 2006; 2(3):228-30.

https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.2703

26. JiaXY, TianZH, ShaoL, QuXD, ZhaoQF, Tang J, *et al.* Genetic characterization of the chlorothricin gene cluster as a model for spirotetronate antibiotic biosynthesis. Chem Biol 2006; 13(6):575-85. h t t p s : //doi.org/10.1016/j.

chembiol.2006.03.008

27. Ichinose K, Ozawa M, Itou K, Kunieda

K, Ebizuka Y. Cloning, sequencing and heterologous expression of the medermycin biosynthetic gene cluster of *Streptomyces* sp. AM-7161: Towards comparative analysis of the benzoisochromanequinone gene clusters. Microbiology 2003; 149(Pt 7):1633-45.

https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.26310-0

28. Ibrahim AA, **El-Housseiny** GS, Aboshanab Yassien KM, MA, Hassouna NA. Paromomycin production from **Streptomyces** NRRL 2455: Statistical rimosus optimization and new synergistic antibiotic combinations against multidrug resistant pathogens. BMC Microbiol 19; 19(1):18.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-019-1390-1 29. Wu C, Shang Z, Lemetre C, Ternei MA, Brady SF. Cadasides, calciumdependent acidic lipopeptides from the soil metagenome that are active against multidrug-resistant bacteria. J Am Chem Soc 2019; 141(9):3910-9. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.8b12087

30. Yuan G, Xu L, Xu X, Li P, Zhong Q, Xia H, *et al.* Azalomycin F 5a , a polyhydroxy macrolide binding to the polar head of phospholipid and targeting to lipoteichoic acid to kill methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Biomed Pharmacother 2019; 109:1940-50.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopha.2018.11.067

- 31. McAlpine JB, Bachmann BO, Piraee M, Tremblay S, Alarco AM, Zazopoulos E, *et al.* Microbial genomics as a guide to drug discovery and structural elucidation: ECO-02301, a novel antifungal agent, as an example. J Nat Prod 2005; 68(4):493-6. https://doi.org/10.1021/np0401664
- 32. Van Arnam EB, Ruzzini AC, Sit CS, Horn H, Tomas AAP, Currie CR, *et al.* Selvamicin, an atypical antifungal polyene from two alternative

genomic contexts. Proc Natl Acad. Sci USA 2016; 113(46):12940-5.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1613285113

33. Sun F, Xu S, Jiang F, Liu W. Genomic-driven discovery of an amidinohydrolase involved in the biosynthesis of mediomycin A. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2018; 102(5):2225-34.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8729-z

34. Elsayed EA, Farid MA, El-Enshasy HA. Enhanced Natamycin production by *Streptomyces natalensis* in shakeflasks and stirred tank bioreactor under batch and fed-batch conditions. BMC Biotechnol 2019; 19(1):46.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-019-0546-2

- 35. Alimuddin, Asmara W, Widada J, Nurjasmi R. An Actinomycetes producing anticandida isolated from Cajuput rhizosphere: partial identification of isolates and amplification of PKS-I genes. Indones J Biotechnol 2010; 15(1):1-8 https://doi.org/10.22146/ijbiotech.7817
- 36. Kumar R, Musiyenko A, Barik S. The heat shock protein 90 of *Plasmodium falciparum* and antimalarial activity of its inhibitor, geldanamycin. Malaria J 2003; 2(30).

https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-2-30

- 37. Neznanov N, Gorbachev AV, Neznanova L, Komarov AP, Gurova KV, Gasparian AV, *et al.* Antimalaria drug blocks proteotoxic stress response: anticancer implications. Cell Cycle 2009; 8(23):3960-70. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.8.23.10179
- 38. D'Alessandro S, Corbett Y, Ilboudo DP, Misiano P, Dahiya N, Abay SM, *et al.* Salinomycin and other ionophores

as a new class of antimalarial drugs with transmission-blocking activity. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2015; 59(9):5135-44.

https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.04332-14



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 125-131 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202203

Analysis of systemic risk factors of occipital strokerelated vision loss

Indra Tri Mahayana^{*}, Nyssa Alexandra Tedjonegoro, Tatang Talka Gani

Department of Ophthalmology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2022-01-09 Accepted : 2022-02-12

Occipital stroke is associated with visual field defects and other visual perceptual deficits that might lead to detrimental effects on health-related quality of life. This study aimed to evaluate the possible association between systemic risk factors and the features of occipital stroke. It was a retrospective observational study involving patients diagnosed with occipital stroke in Dr. Yap Eye Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, between 2013 and 2014. A total of 72 patients with occipital stroke proven with CT/MRI who underwent detailed evaluation of ocular and systemic risk factors were included in this study. The patients were divided into two groups with or without risk factors. The risk factors were hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and cardiac diseases. The effect of risk factors on sex, age groups (\leq 40, >40 and \leq 60, >60 years old), stroke lesions (left occipital, right occipital, bilateral), and visual field defects (homonymous hemianopia, homonymous quadrantanopia, and others) were analyzed. Out of 72 patients, there were 56 males (77.8 %), and 16 females (22.2 %), with a mean age of 58.46 ± 11.83 years old. The study found a significant difference in age with risk factors compared with those without risk factors (p = 0.025), as well as visual acuity with age groups (p = 0.005) and stroke lesions (p = 0.024). Analysis of risk factors showed that hypertension was significantly correlated with stroke lesions, whereas cardiac disease was significantly associated with age groups (p<0.05). Predictive analysis was performed using a linear regression model, and it showed that risk factors could predict the occurrence of stroke lesions. In conclusion, patients' systemic risk factors are significantly associated with the older onset of occipital stroke and lower visual acuity, although not significantly associated with stroke location and visual field defect characteristics.

ABSTRAK

Stroke oksipital berhubungan dengan defek pada bidang visual dan defisit persepsi visual lainnya yang dapat merugikan kualitas hidup yang berkaitan dengan kesehatan. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengkaji hubungan antara faktor risiko sistemik dan karakteristik stroke oksipital. Penelitian ini merupakan penelitian retrospektif observasi pada pasien dengan stroke oksipital yang berobat di RSM Dr. Yap, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, pada tahun 2013 sampai 2014. Total sebanyak 72 pasien stroke oksipital yang dibuktikan dengan CT/MRI dan menjalani evaluasi faktor risiko okuler dan sistemik secara detail dilibatkan dalam penelitian. Pasien dibagi menjadi dua kelompok, yaitu kelompok dengan faktor risiko (hipertensi, diabetes mellitus, dan penyakit jantung) dan tanpa faktor risiko. Pengaruh faktor risiko pada jenis kelamin, kelompok usia (<40, >40 · ≤60, >60 tahun), lesi stroke (oksipital kiri, oksipital kanan, bilateral), dan defek lapang pandang (hemianopia homonim, quadrantanopia homonim, dan lain-lain) dianalisa. Dari 72 pasien, 56 laki-laki (77,8%) dan 16 perempuan (22,2%) dengan usia rata-rata 58,46 \pm 11,83 tahun. Terdapat perbedaan nyata pada usia dengan faktor risiko dibandingkan tanpa faktor risiko (p = 0,025), dan juga pada ketajaman penglihatan pada kelompok usia (p = 0,005) dan lesi stroke (p = 0,024). Analisa faktor risiko menunjukkan bahwa hipertensi berhubungan bermakna dengan lesi stroke, sedangkan penyakit jantung secara bermakna berhubungan dengan kelompok usia (p< 0,05). Analisa prediktif dilakukan menggunakan model regresi linear. Analisa tersebut menunjukkan bahwa faktor risiko dapat menentukan keberadaan lesi stroke. Kesimpulan, faktor risiko sistemik yang dimiliki pasien berhubungan dengan onset stroke oksipital yang lebih lama dan ketajaman visual yang lebih rendah, namun tidak berhubungan dengan lokasi stroke dan karakteristik defek bidang visual.

Keywords:

aging; neuro-ophthalmology; occipital stroke; visual acuity; visual cortex

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is a common problem in the elderly that leads to significant disability. Although most patients have no other neurological deficits aside from visual-field defects, occipital stroke has significant impacts on their quality of life, which include changes to independent living, ability to drive, loss of confidence, and some links to depression.¹⁻³

The most common cause of occipital lobe infarct is posterior cerebral artery (PCA) ischemia, also known as posterior circulation ischemic stroke, which is caused by a cardiac embolism and blocked local artery to artery sources.⁴ Cardiac disease is the most common source of embolism (41%), and patients with a cardiac source of an embolism usually have pure PCA infarcts (81%).⁵ Vascular disease due to hypertension and diabetes mellitus may be the main underlying cause of stroke.⁶⁻⁸ A study by Subramanian⁹ in 2009 reported that diabetes mellitus is associated with the increased odds of posterior circulation ischemic stroke. This study is supported by Kim et al. in 2012, who found that hypertension and diabetes mellitus were more related to posterior than anterior circulation ischemic stroke.¹⁰

Occipital stroke is associated with visual field damage with detrimental effects on health-related quality of life.³ The PCA infarction may lead to homonymous hemianopia (HH) and other visual perceptual deficits, which is expected since it creates damage to the areas responsible for the central visual pathway.^{11,12}

This study aimed to evaluate the association of systemic risk factors i.e. hypertension, cardiac disease, and diabetes mellitus and the characteristics of occipital stroke such as patients' age, visual loss, visual field defects, and stroke laterality.

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Design and study population

This retrospective observational study used the medical records of occipital stroke patients who came to the outpatient clinic at Dr. Yap Eye Hospital between January 2013 and December 2014.

Protocol of study

The diagnosis of occipital stroke was performed through clinical examinations (complete ophthalmic evaluation: visual acuity, anterior segment examination, funduscopy, and visual field examination) by an ophthalmologist and then continued by reviewing the results of imaging modalities such as computerized tomography (CT)-scan, magnetic resonance imagery (MRI), or both, performed by the radiologists.

Basic characteristics of patients and systemic risk factors (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and cardiac diseases) were collected from the medical records. The laterality and location of the stroke in the occipital cortex were also recorded for analysis. Visual acuity was assessed at a fixed distance with the Snellen chart, and the visual field examination used Goldmann kinetic perimetry. Patients with pre-existing ophthalmological problems were excluded, such as cataracts, glaucoma, retinopathy, or other ocular pathologies that may affect the visual field. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The institutional ethics board of the Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, approved the study and waived individual consent for this retrospective analysis by issuing the ethical clearance number KE/FK/0749/ EC/2017.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the IBM SPSS Statistic for Windows Version 20.0 (IBM Corp. Armonk, NY, USA). The patients were divided into two groups with (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and cardiac diseases) or without risk factors. The effect of risk factors on sex, age groups (≤ 40 , >40 and \leq 60, >60 years old), stroke lesions (left occipital, right occipital, bilateral), and visual field defects (HH, homonymous quadrantanopia, and others) were analyzed using Chi-square tests, whereas age and visual acuity were analyzed using independent t-tests if the data distribution was normal. The association between stroke lesions and visual acuity were analyzed using one-way Anova followed by post-hoc analysis. Predictive

analysis using linear regression models was performed to predict the possibility of systemic risk factors affecting the stroke lesions and the visual field defects. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 72 patients (mean age 58.46 ± 11.83 years) were included in this study with 56 males (77.8 %) and 16 females (22.2 %). TABLE 1 describes the subjects' characteristics, which indicate almost half of the subjects had a right occipital lesion (45.05%). The most frequent visual field defect in patients with occipital stroke was hemianopia (69.44%). Data showed that most patients had hypertension (61%) as their main risk factor for occipital stroke.

Variables	Number
Sex [n (%)]	
• Male	56 (77.8)
• Female	16 (22.2)
Age (mean ± SD years)	58.46 ± 11.83
Visual acuity (mean ± SD dec)	0.37 ± 0.35
Stroke lesions [n (%)]	
 Left occipital 	24 (33)
 Right occipital 	31 (45.05)
- Bilateral	10 (13.88)
 Others 	7 (9.72)
Visual field defects [n (%)]	
 Hemianopia 	50 (69.44)
 Quadrantanopia 	10 (13.88)
 Others 	12 (16.67)
Risk factors [n (%)]	
 Hypertension 	44 (61.10)
 Diabetes mellitus 	22 (30.60)
 Cardiac disease 	9 (12.50)

TABLE 1. Characteristic of subjects

TABLE 2 shows the association of sex, age, and visual acuity with the presence of systemic risk factors. The visual acuity of the right eye (VOD) was significantly correlated with age groups (F=5.630, p=0.005). In comparison, the visual acuity of the left eye (VOS) was not (F=2.036, p=0.138) (TABLE 3). Post hoc pairwise comparisons (Bonferroni adjusted) showed a significant difference between the two age groups: \leq 40 years

old versus >60 years old (p=0.012). Significant results were also observed between the locations of stroke lesions and the visual acuity for both eyes (VOD (F=3.338, p=0.024) and VOS (F=3.682, p=0.016)). Post hoc pairwise (Bonferroni adjusted) comparison was significant on VOD and VOS for left occipital stroke versus bilateral occipital stroke (p=0.039 and p=0.023, respectively).

TABLE 2. The correlation of subject characteristics with the presence of systemic risk factors

Variables	Without risk factors (n=15)	With risk factors (n=57)	р
Sex [n (%)]			
 Male 	10 (66.67)	46 (80.7)	0.245
 Female 	5 (33.33)	11 (19.3)	(OR:0.478, CI:0.136-1.684)
Age (mean ± SD years)	52.4 ± 16.22	60.05 ± 9.95	0.025
■ ≤40	2 (13.33)	1 (1.75)	
■ >40 and ≤60	9 (60)	31 (54.38)	0.093*
• >60	4 (26.67)	25 (43.85)	
VOD (mean ± SD)	0.54 ± 0.37	0.32 ± 0.33	0.028^{*}
VOS (mean ± SD)	0.51 ± 0.36	0.34 ± 0.35	0.090

Note: Sex was analyzed by Chi-square test; Age, VOD, and VOS (shown in decimal) were analyzed by independent samples t-tests; visual acuity: means \pm standard deviation; *significant (p<0.05); CI= confidence interval.

TABLE 3	. Risk factors	analyses	based on	laterality	of the s	stroke	and	visual
	field defects	3		-				

Variables	Without risk factors (n=15)	With risk factors (n=57)	р
Stroke lesions [n (%)]			
 Left occipital 	5 (33.33)	19 (33.33)	
 Right occipital 	8 (53.33)	23 (40.35)	0.715
 Bilateral 	1 (6.67)	9 (15.78)	0./15
 Others 	1 (6.67)	6 (10.53)	
Visual field defects [n (%)]			
 Hemianopia 	11 (73.3)	39 (68.42)	
 Quadrantanopia 	3 (20)	7 (12.28)	0.430
 Others 	1 (6.67)	11 (19.33)	

Note : p value : Chi-square tests

TABLE 4 shows the analysis of the risk factors based on stroke characteristics. The results showed that there were no significant differences observed. Spearman's correlation of risk factors and stroke lesions, visual field defects, and age groups showed that hypertension had a significant correlation with stroke lesions (r= 0.317, p=0.007), the cardiac disease had a significant correlation with age groups (r= 0.288, p=0.014), and diabetes mellitus had marginally significant correlation with visual field defects (r=-0.199, p=0.095). Furthermore, predictive analysis using a linear regression model of stroke lesions and risk factors showed that risk factors could predict the stroke lesions ($R^2 = 0.102$, p=0.049), where hypertension was the most common systemic risk factor (t=2.610, p=0.011). However, the visual field defects did not have a significant result (diabetes mellitus and visual field defects: t= -1.749, p=0.085).

TABLE 4. The correlation of systemic risk factors, visual field defects, and age groups

Systemic risk factors	r	р
Hypertension	0.317	0.07
Cardiac disease	0.288	0.014*
Diabetes mellitus	-0.199	0.095
*significant (p<.05)		

DISCUSSION

This study found that patients with risk factors were associated with older age and lower visual acuity, but it was not associated with stroke laterality and visual field defect characteristics. Previous studies revealed that patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus were more significantly associated with posterior circulations stroke.^{9,10} Although the contribution of systemic risk factors might be combined with the occurrence of a specific condition such as vertebral artery hypoplasia.¹³

The significant difference in visual acuity between right and left occipital stroke was presumably due to coincidence since occipital stroke might not affect visual acuity. However, this finding was in line with a study conducted by Rowe et al.,¹⁴ which also mentioned that this asymmetry might affect patients' ability to read in the future. This study also found that sex was not associated with systemic risk factors. On the contrary, age groups and visual acuity were associated with risk factors in which older age had more underlying systemic diseases and lower visual acuity. A study conducted by Naess *et al.*,¹⁵ revealed that occipital infarction was associated with younger patients. Although occipital stroke may not create any changes to visual acuity, further detailed visual acuity analyses showed associations of visual acuity with the location of occipital stroke lesions (TABLE 3). The visual acuity of patients with bilateral lesions and involvement of parietal or temporal lesions were lower compared to patients who only have unilateral occipital stroke lesions. This finding showed that there might be other underlying risk factors. Poor visual acuity is a risk factor for falls and a common impediment to rehabilitation.^{16,17} After a stroke, visual impairment may exacerbate the impact of other impairments on overall disability.16,17

TABLE 4 shows there was no association between stroke lesions and visual field defects with the underlying risk factors. Hypertension and diabetes mellitus might create an effect on the development of stroke-associated visual field defects, although the frequency distribution analysis of risk factors based on visual field defects was not statistically significant. However, predictive analysis using linear regression showed that systemic risk factors could predict the occurrence of stroke lesions, with hypertension being the most frequently found factor. This finding shows that vascular factors, such as hypertension, might be one of the significant risk factors in the occurrence of occipital stroke.

Rowe *et al.*¹⁴ found that cortical strokes which are associated with visual field loss, particularly in the occipital, temporal, and parietal lobes, were mainly caused by PCA infarcts. Infarcts on PCA's territory are common, and their clinical signs and symptoms are well-known.^{18,19} Occipital strokes may produce HH visual field defects although, other visual field defects such as quadrantanopia (HQ) and other defects might occur due to lesions affecting the occipital white matter or defects with the adjacent temporal or parietal area, such as occipitotemporal and occipitoparietal lesions.^{1,14} Lack of visual field improvement is the most accurate prediction for the high risk of cortical blindness. Ischemic stroke due to occipital lobe lesions causes most HH, which generally does not produce any other neurologic manifestations. The HH configuration does not predict the location of the lesion within the retrochiasmal visual pathway.¹⁸

There are several limitations in this study. First, this is not a populationbased prospective study. Therefore, it is not possible to analyze the improvement and treatment outcome of patients with occipital stroke over time. Second, the results and conclusions should be interpreted cautiously due to the small sample size. With a larger sample population, some marginally trending results could become more significant. Further, a larger number of patients and a population-based study are needed to disclose the association of occipital stroke more accurately with certain risk factors.

CONCLUSION

Risk factors are associated with older patients and lower visual acuity,

although they are not associated with stroke location and visual field defect characteristics. Younger patients might suffer from an occipital stroke that is not underlined by systemic risk factors, and therefore, further study is important to investigate the exact mechanism of occipital stroke.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors declare no conflict of interest regarding this paper's publication. The authors are accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

REFERENCES

1. Rowe F, Brand D, Jackson CA, Price A, Walker L, Harrison S, *et al.* Visual impairment following stroke: do stroke patients require vision assessment? Age Ageing 2009; 38(2):188-93.

https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afn230

- Robinson RG, Jorge RE. Post-stroke depression: a review. Am J Psychiatry 2015; 173(3):221-31. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi. ajp.2015.15030363
- Shi YZ, Xiang YT, Yang Y, Zhang N, Wang S, Ungvari GS, *et al.* Depression after minor stroke: the association with disability and quality of life–a 1-year follow-up study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2016; 31(4):421-7. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.4353
- 4. Gilhotra JS, Mitchell P, Healey PR, Cumming RG, Currrie J. Homonymous visual field defects and stroke in an older population. Stroke 2002; 33(10):2417-20. https://doi.org/10.1161/01. str.0000037647.10414.d2
- 5. Yamamoto Y, Georgiadis AL, Chang HM, Caplan LR. Posterior cerebral artery territory infarcts in the New

England Medical Center posterior circulation registry. Arch Neurol 1999; 56(7):824-32.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 0 1 / archneur.56.7.824

- 6. Holden BA, Fricke TR, Wilson DA, Jong M, Naidoo KS, Sankaridurg P, *et al.* Global prevalence of myopia and high myopia and temporal trends from 2000 through 2050. Ophthalmology 2016; 123(5):1036-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ophtha.2016.01.006
- D'Agostino RB, Wolf PA, Belanger AJ, Kannel WB. Stroke risk profile: adjustment for antihypertensive medication. The Framingham Study. Stroke 1994; 25(1):40-3.

https://doi.org/10.1161/01.str.25.1.40

- 8. Fayyaz M, Ali QM, Chaudhary GM, Hameed A, Bukhari AJM. Functional outcome of ischemic stroke in diabetics. Ann King Edw Med Univ 2016; 11(4).
- 9. Subramanian G, Silva J, Silver FL, Fang J, Kapral MK, Oczkowski W, *et al.* Risk factors for posterior compared to anterior ischemic stroke: an observational study of the registry of the Canadian Stroke Network. Neuroepidemiology 2009; 33(1):12-6.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000209282

- 10. Kim JS, Nah HW, Park SM, Kim SK, Cho KH, Lee J, *et al.* Risk factors and stroke mechanisms in atherosclerotic stroke: intracranial compared with extracranial and anterior compared with posterior circulation disease. Stroke 2012; 43(12):3313-8. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 10.1161/ STROKEAHA.112.658500
- 11. Chang FC, Yong CS, Huang HC, Tsai JY, Sheng WY, Hu HH, *et al.* Posterior circulation ischemic stroke caused by arterial dissection: characteristics and predictors of poor outcomes. Cerebrovasc Dis 2015; 40(3-4):144-50. https://doi.org/10.1159/000437172

12. Townend BS, Sturm JW, Petsoglou C, O'Leary B, Whyte S, Crimmins D. Perimetric homonymous visual field loss post-stroke. J Clin Neurosci 2007; 14(8):754-6.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2006.02.022

13. Szárazová AS, Bartels E, Bartels S, Turčáni, P. Possible morphological pathomechanisms of ischemic stroke in the posterior circulation of patients with vertebral artery hypoplasia. J Neuroimaging 2014; 25(3):408-14.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jon.12137

- 14. Rowe FJ, Wright D, Brand D, Jackson C, Harrison S, Maan T, *et al.* A prospective profile of visual field loss following stroke: prevalence, type, rehabilitation, and outcome. Biomed Res Int 2013; 2013:719096. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/719096
- 15. Naess H, Waje-Andreassen U, Thomassen L. Occipital lobe infarctions are different. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2007; 3(4):413-5.
- Jones SA, Shinton RA. Improving outcome in stroke patients with visual problems. Age Ageing 2006; 35(6):560-5.

https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afl074

17. Sand KM, Wilhelmsen G, Næss H, Midelfart A, Thomassen L, Hoff JM. Vision problems in ischaemic stroke patients: effects on life quality and disability. Eur J Neurol 2016; 23(Suppl 1):1-7. https://doi.org/10.1111/one.12848

https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.12848

- 18. Zhang X, Kedar S, Lynn MJ, Newmann NJ, Biousse V. Homonymous hemianopia in stroke. J Neuroophthalmol 2006; 26(3):180-3. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. wno.0000235587.41040.39
- 19. Pessin MS, Kwan ES, Scott RM, Hedges TR. Occipital infarction with hemianopsia from carotid occlusive disease. Stroke 1989; 20(3):409-11. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.str.20.3.409



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 132-140 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202204

The role of clinical reminder system to drug prescribing on patients of the National Health Insurance with ischemic stroke

Faramita Hiola^{1*}, Iwan Dwiprahasto², Rizaldy Pinzon³

¹Faculty of Sports and Health, Universitas Negeri Gorontalo, Gorontalo, Indonesia ²Department of Pharmacology and Therapy, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, ³Department of Neurology, Bethesda Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2021-01-28 Accepted : 2021-10-12 Since 2014 Indonesia has entered the era of universal health coverage (UHC) and public health financing system managed by the Social Security Organizing Agency Law/SSOAL (Badan Penyelenggara Jaminan Sosial/BPJS) . In this system, a national formulary was used as the basis for prescribing drugs by clinicians. One effort for quality and cost control in UHC was to develop a clinical reminder system (CRS) to help prescriber set treatment options in accordance with the national formulary. The aim of this study was to measure the role of CRS to the compatibility of drug prescribing in patients with ischemic stroke in Bethesda Hospital Yogyakarta, Indonesia. This study was carried out using quasi-experimental with pre-test and post-test design. The subjects of this study were outpatient ischemic stroke and the National Health Insurance (NHI) participant, age >18 years and had complete medication data. Prescribing data were compared between stroke patients treated at the hospital before and after implementation of CRS. The study was performed in 200 National Health Insurance (NHI) scheme outpatients with ischemic stroke. The groups consisted of 100 patients without CRS and 100 patients with CRS. The basic characteristics of both groups were similar. The results showed that after implementation of CRS, a significant improvement in the compliance of the neurologist prescribing medicine used to be available only in national formulary (RR: 1.02; 95% CI=1.00-1.04; p=0.015). Among others the most significant improvement was the prescription of antidyslipidemic using HMG-CoA medicine available in formulary. In conclusion, CRS can improve the compliance of prescribing with national formulary in stroke ischemic patients.

ABSTRAK

Sejak tahun 2014, Indonesia telah memasuki era jaminan kesehatan universal (JKU) dan sistem pembiayaan kesehatan masyarakat dikelola oleh Badan Penyelenggara Jaminan Sosial (BPJS). Dalam sistem ini, digunakan formularium nasional sebagai dasar peresepan obat oleh para klinisi. Salah satu upaya untuk kendali mutu dan kendali biaya dalam JKU adalah dengan mengembangkan sistem pengingat klinis (SPK) untuk membantu prescriber menetapkan pilihan terapi sesuai dengan yang terdapat dalam formularium nasional. Tujuan dari penelitian ini adalah untuk mengukur peran SPK terhadap kesesuaian peresepan obat pada pasien stroke iskemik di rumah sakit Bethesda, Yogyakarta. Penelitian ini adalah penelitian quasi eksperimental dengan desain pre-test and post-test. Subjek penelitian adalah pasien stroke iskemik rawat jalan peserta jaminan keseahtan nasional (JKN), usia >18 tahun dan memiliki data pengobatan yang lengkap. Data peresepan dibandingkan antara pasien stroke yang berobat pada saat sebelum dan setelah penerapan SPK. Penelitian dilakukan pada 200 pasien stroke iskemik peserta JKN rawat jalan di rumah sakit, 100 pasien pada saat sebelum penerapan SPK dan 100 pasien setelah penerapan SPK. Karakteristik kedua kelompok penelitian sebanding. Hasil penelitian menunjukkan bahwa setelah penerapan SPK, terdapat peningkatan kepatuhan dokter dalam meresepkan obat sesuai formularium nasional (RR: 1.02; 95% CI=1.00-1.04; p=0.015). Perbaikan yang signifikan terdapat pada peresepan antidislipidemia jenis HMG-CoA. Simpulan, SPK dapat meningkatkan kesesuaian peresepan obat dengan formularium nasional pada pasien stroke iskemik di rumah sakit.

Keywords:

clinical reminder system; stroke; prescription; universal health coverage; national formulary

INTRODUCTION

Indonesia has entered the era of universal health coverage (UHC) since 2014. The public health financing system is managed by the Social Security Organizing Agency Law/SSOAL (Badan Penyelenggara Jaminan Sosial/BPJS) with a publicly subsidized or premium system.1 Recently, there are more than 178 million inhabitants of about 256 million have become UHC members managed by BPJS.¹ In this system, the Minister of Health of Republic of Indonesia establishes a national formulary as a basis for prescribing medicines by clinicians. The national formulary is a list of selected drugs are needed and must be available at health service facilities in the context of implementing the National Health Insurance (NHI).²

Since the introduction of UHC, one of the diseases classified as high cost is stroke. Stroke is the 5th leading cause of death and the first leading cause of disability. There are two main types of strokes. The commoner type is an ischemic stroke, caused by interruption of blood flow to a certain area of the brain, and hemorrhagic stroke caused by leak or interruption of a blood flow in brain.^{3,4} The incidence of stroke in Indonesia is high. Therefore, various efforts to optimize stroke management in Indonesia are required.¹ In an effort to quality and cost control in the execution of NHI schema, the Ministry of Health of Republic of Indonesia set up a drug price list and as outlined in a national formulary.⁵ According to the applicable provisions, every health service should use the National Formulary to establish the type of drug for NHI patients.⁵

Stroke is one of the diseases that the number of events is increasing from time to time (8.3%), then in 2013 the incidence of stroke increased by 12.1%.⁶ In NHI, stroke is included in high-cost disease from the diagnosis, therapy, up to rehabilitation of physiotherapy to improve patient's quality of life. An attempt that can be done to control the quality and the cost of disease implementation is using clinical reminder system (CRS). This system is a computer-based reminder system that is used to inform the doctor about the drug, indication of use, restrictions and maximum prescription of each type of drug.

Clinical reminder system is an information system for improving health services to patients in hospitals and helps in clinical evaluation, decision making, assisting doctors in diagnosing and reducing prescribing errors. It is adapted from treatment guidelines both locally and nationally by providing complete access to information on patient treatment data to obtain quality treatment.7 This reminder system is integrated in a computerized provider order entry (CPOE), therefore every doctor determines the types and items of the drug accompanied by a reminder that explains what drugs can be given to NHI patients. This clinical reminder is expected to help control hospital costs and select therapy according to the National Formulary.8

This study aimed to evaluate the usefulness of the CRS in improving physician compliance to prescribe drugs contained in the National Formulary.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Protocol of the study

It was a quasi-experimental study with pre-test and post-test design. The inclusion criteria of this study were all ischemic stroke patients with diagnostic criteria based on CT scans and in accordance with ischemic stroke characteristics of the American Heart Association.⁹ Subjects were outpatients NHI participants who underwent treatment during the period January 2014 to December 2015, subjects aged > 18 years and had complete treatment data. They were excluded from the study if not SSOAL patients, died, and had incomplete medical record data. Prescribing data were compared between ischemic stroke patients treated before and after CRS application. The protocol of the study has been approved by the Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta.

The CRS was developed by the team at Bethesda Hospital, based on the list of drugs in the National Formulary. One of the outcomes of this study was an increase in physician compliance to use the National Formulary, and reduce the use of drugs outside the National Formulary which is the burden of hospitals.

Statistical analysis

The sample size used in this study was calculated using the power and sample size software. Data of ischemic stroke patients that have been collected were analyzed using data processing software. For comparisons of dichotomous outcomes, the relative risk (RR) with their 95% confidence interval (95% CI) was calculated. The exact p value was calculated using Yatescorrected chi-square test. The outcome with continuous data was first checked normality of distribution. for For normally distributed data, comparison of means was performed using an independent t-test; otherwise, the non parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used. Patients factors such as age, sex, onset, and comorbidity was assessed to determine the amount of influence on the study outcome.

RESULT

Based on data from the electronic stroke register, there are 6 neurologists who treat outpatient ischemic stroke patients. The subjects were divided into two groups i.e. before implementation of the CRS in 2014 and after implementation of the CRS in 2015. The sample size used can be seen in FIGURE 1 that each group consists of 100 subjects.



FIGURE 1. The flowchart of the study data selection process

The subjects of this study were 100 in each observation group showing that between the two groups was comparable in terms of age, gender, onset of attack, number of comorbidities and visits. The characteristics of the subject are presented in TABLE 1.

TABLE 1 shows that men (60.5%) and age (63.0%) have a high risk of having

ischemic stroke. Based on the basic characteristics of patients including age, gender, onset, number of comorbidities, and frequency of visits between groups before and after the application of the CRS was the same. It can be seen that the widely prescribed antiplatelet type is acetylsalicylic acid, clopidogrel and cilostazol (TABLE 2).

Characteristics	Total n = 200	Before CRS [n =100 (%)]	After CRS [n = 100 (%)]	р
Gender				
 Male 	121 (60.5)	58 (58)	63 (63)	0.470
 Female 	79 (39.5)	42 (42)	37 (37)	0.470
Age (y.o.)				
■ ≤ 60 years	74 (37)	33 (33)	41 (41)	0.044
> 60 years	126 (63)	67 (67)	59 (59)	0.241
Onset (h)				
■ ≥ 3	164 (82)	84 (84)	80 (80)	0.400
• < 3	36 (18)	16 (16)	20 (20)	0.462
Comorbidity				
• 1	99 (49.5)	49 (49)	50 (50)	0.000
• > 1	101 (50.5)	51 (51)	50 (50)	0.888
Visitation frequency (times)				
■ ≥ 3	77 (38.5)	39 (39)	38 (38)	0.00/
• < 3	123 (61.5)	61 (61)	62 (62)	0.084

TABLE 1. Study subject characteristics

TABLE 2.	Туре	of	single-antiplatelet prescribed	in
	patier	nts	with ischemic stroke	

Variable	Before CRS	After CRS
Vallable	[n = 257 (%)]	[n = 273 (%)]
Acetylsalicylic acid	193 (75.1)	200 (73.3)
Clopidogrel	53 (20.6)	65 (23.8)
Cilostazol	11 (4.3)	8 (2.9)

There were various types of antihypertensive prescribed for stroke patients, most of which are the calcium channel blocker groups which is amlodipine (TABLE 3). From the two study groups, it can be seen that in 2014 the prescribed amlodipine was 93 drugs (52.5%) compared to others, while in 2015 it was 85 (56.3%). In addition, there were also groups of angiotensin II antagonists' namely irbesartan, valsartan and candesartan were widely prescribed for patients with ischemic stroke.
CIG	filter end	
(%)]	[n = 134 (%)]	
.7)	90 (67.2)	
8)	37 (27.6)	
)	7 (5.2)	
3)	0 (0)	
increa	se of 43.9% (TAB	LE 5).

After CRS

The results in TABLE 6 illustrate the
compliance of neurologist prescription
at Bethesda Hospital. It appears that the
application of CRS has been well utilized,
and proved significant in CRS used by
doctors with DS-A, DS-B and DS-D codes.

TABLE 4. Type of single-antidyslipidemic prescribed in patients with ischemic stroke

Before CRS

[n = 150 (%)]

82 (54.7)

57 (38)

9 (6)

2 (1.3)

TABLE 4 shows the most prescribed
statin group which was 90 simvastatin
(67.2%) of the prescribed drugs in 2015.

Variable

Simvastatin

Atorvastatin

Fenofibrate

Gemfibrozil

Atorvastatin was the most prescribed in 2014 of 57 (38%), followed by fenofibrate and gemfibrozil.

Variable	Before CRS	After CRS
variable	[n = 177 (%)]	[n = 151 (%)]
Amlodipine	93 (52.5)	85 (56.3)
Irbesartan	13 (7.3)	18 (11.9)
Valsartan	12 (6.8)	12 (7.9)
Candesartan	10 (5.6)	10 (6.6)
Spironolacton	11 (6.2)	6 (4.0)
Telmisartan	14 (7.9)	2 (1.3)
Ramipril	2 (1.1)	8 (5.3)
Bisoprolol	6 (3.4)	2 (1.3)
Losartan	7 (4.0)	0 (0.0)
Furosemide	2 (1.1)	5 (3.3)
Lisinopril	4 (2.3)	0 (0.0)
Captopril	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)
Nifedipine	1 (0.6)	1 (0.7)
Telmisartan + amlodipine	1 (0.6)	0 (0.0)
Clonidine	0 (0.0)	1 (0.7)

TABLE 3. Types of single-antihypertensive prescribed in patients with ischemic stroke

This study found that the amount of national formulary drugs prescribed in 2015 was higher than in 2014 before the implementation of the CRS (76.3% vs. 61.3%). In 2014 (before CRS) the amount of generic drugs prescribed was 31.6%, while in 2015 (after CRS) there was an

Variable	Before CRS [n = 1254 (%)]	After CRS [n = 1083 (%)]
National formulary		
• Yes	769 (61.3)	826 (76.3)
• No	485 (38.7)	257 (23.7)
Generic		
• Yes	396 (31.6)	475 (43.9)
• No	858 (68.4)	608 (56.1)

TABLE 5. F	Prescription	of drugs i	in ischen	nic stroke	patients
	1				1

TABLE 6. The compatibility of physicians prescription with a list of drugs in national formulary

Variable	Before CRS [n (%)]	After CRS [n (%)]	р
DS-A			
 National formulary 	297 (654)	185 (80.8)	<0.001
• No	157 (34.6)	44 (19.2)	<0.001
DS-B			
 National formulary 	90 (54.5)	114 (73.1)	0.001
• No	75 (45.5)	42 (26.9)	0.001
DS-C			
 National formulary 	84 (54.5)	117 (65.4)	0.050
• No	70 (45.5)	62 (34.6)	0.056
DS-D			
 National formulary 	231 (58.9)	264 (80.2)	-0.001
■ No	161 (41.1)	65 (19.8)	<0.001
DS-E			
 National formulary 	44 (67.7)	111 (75.5)	0.044
• No	21 (32.3)	36 (24.5)	0.244
DS-F			
 National formulary 	23 (95.8)	35 (81.4)	0 1 4 9
• No	1 (4.2)	8 (18.6)	0.142

Assessment of prescribing compatibility was only carried on drugs included in the national formulary, based on drug strength, restriction, and maximum prescribing. Drugs prescribed outside from national formulary were categorized as inappropriate. The results in TABLE 7 show that the application of CRS significantly improves the prescribing compatibility with the national formulary of 1.02 than without CRS. The prescribing of antiplatelet and antihypertensive was also increased but these results were not significant. The prescribing antidyslipidemic is proven to increase the compatibility (p<0.001).

Variable	National formulary restriction		Total	DD (05% CI)	
variable	Compatible [n (%)]	Not compatible [n (%)]	TOLAT	KK (95% CI)	þ
CRS					
 After 	809 (97.9)	17 (2.1)	826	1 02 (1 00 1 04)	0.015
 Before 	737 (95.8)	32 (4.2)	769	1.02 (1.00-1.04)	0.015
Antiplatelets					
 After 	267 (97.8)	6 (2.2)	273	1 01 (0 00 1 02)	0 510
 Before 	249 (96.9)	8 (3.1)	257	1.01 (0.98-1.03)	0.512
Antihypertensive					
 After 	144 (95.4)	7 (4.6)	151	1 02 (0 07 1 02)	0.207
 Before 	164 (92.7)	13 (7.3)	177	1.02 (0.97-1.08)	0.307
Antidyslipidemic					
 After 	119 (88.8)	15 (11.2)	134	1 40 (1 04 1 04)	-0.001
 Before 	93 (62)	57 (38)	150	1.43 (1.24-1.64)	<0.001
Antihypertensive • After • Before Antidyslipidemic • After • Before	144 (95.4) 164 (92.7) 119 (88.8) 93 (62)	7 (4.6) 13 (7.3) 15 (11.2) 57 (38)	151 177 134 150	1.02 (0.97-1.08) 1.43 (1.24-1.64)	0.307 <0.001

TABLE 7. Compatibility of drugs prescription with the National Formulary

DISCUSSION

The CRS started as a prototype system and evolved into an integrated and daily used software in outpatient care services. It can be used simultaneously and also available to multiple clinics and physician practices through a web-based system.¹⁰ This study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of CRS application to physician prescribing in outpatient ischemic stroke patients. The results suggest that CRS can improve the compliance of drugs prescribing with national formulary for NHI patients compared without CRS. This reminder would appear in the form of a reminder spot that is automatically displayed on the computer of each physician when prescribing drugs. Therefore it can help in reminding the list of drugs and restrictions according to the formulary.

The results in this study were similar to the result obtained by Youssef *et al.*¹¹ The use of clinical reminders has been proven to reduce 30% patient treatment costs and medication errors in hospitals.¹¹ Other study by Foster *et al.*¹² in their 6-month study showed that adherence to prescribing was significantly higher in the group receiving CRS than without CRS. Prescribing compatibility to formulary rules can improve medication safety and assist hospitals in managing drugs as quality and cost control. Clinical reminder systems can increase the percentage of generic drugs prescription, generic drugs have the same benefits and efficacy compared to branded drugs.¹³ The application of clinical reminder systems can assist in controlling the medication cost in hospitals.

Analysis result of the use antidyslipidemic drugs showed that the CRS could improve prescribing compatibility with the national formulary than without the CRS, because the prescribing of antidyslipidemic should be based on the results of patient's laboratory, and attached when taking drugs at the pharmacy.

There was no significant difference in antiplatelet and antihypertensive prescribing. These results were different from those conducted by Sequist *et al.*¹⁴ on the use of aspirin in diabetic patients and coronary arteries, suggesting that CRS can improve the appropriateness of aspirin than without CRS. Other research conducted by Filippi *et al.*¹⁵ suggests that the compatibility of antiplatelet prescribing was increased in the intervention group than in the control group but these results were not significant. Incompatibility in this study occurred in the prescription of acetylsalicylic acid 100 mg. In formulary restriction, the maximum prescription is 30 tablets for 30 days, but in this case 40 tablets were given.

Incompatibility of antihypertensive prescribing occurs in telmisartan 80 mg and valsartan 80 mg. This drug is only used in hypertension patients who are intolerant to ACE inhibitors with prescribing maximum 30 tablets for 30 days, but in this study 60 tablets were given. In addition, another class of angiotensin II antagonists used was losartan 50 mg. However this drug is not attached to the list in the national formulary, so it is categorized as inappropriate. In prescribing amlodipine 5 mg there is also incompatibility because it exceeds the maximum prescriptions.

CONCLUSION

Application of CRS can improve the compatibility of prescribing drugs based on the restriction of the national formulary.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We are grateful to Bethesda Hospital, Yogyakarta and the staffs of Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta and all who involved in the data collection and analysis in this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. BPJS Kesehatan. Pentingnya dukungan pemda untuk mencapai *universal health coverage*. BPJS Kesehatan 2016: 3-12.
- 2. Kementerian Kesehatan RI. Formularium Nasional kendalikan mutu dan biaya pengobatan. Pusat Komunikasi Publik Sekretariat

Kementerian Kesehatan RI, 2013. http://www.kemenkes.go.id.

- Tadi P, Lui F. Acute Stroke. [Updated 2021 Sep 29]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 Jan. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK535369/
- 4. Stroke foundation. Clinical guidelines for stroke management, 2017. Available from: https://informme.org.au/guidelines/clinical-guidelines-for-stroke-management
- 5. Kementerian Kesehatan RI. Formularium nasional. Jakarta: Kementerian Kesehatan RI, 2014.
- Anonim. Laporan hasil riset kesehatan dasar (Riskesdas) national 2013. Jakarta: Badan Penelitian dan Pengembangan Kesehatan, 2014.
- Matheny ME, Sequist TD, Seger AC, Fiskio JM, Sperling M, Bugbee D, *et al*. A randomized trial of electronic clinical reminders to improve medication laboratory monitoring. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2008; 15(4):424-9.

https://doi.org/10.1197/jamia.M2602

8. Pinzon RT, Priskila L. Sistem pengingatklinisuntukmeningkatkan kepatuhan peresepan berdasarkan formularium di RS Bethesda. J Hosp Accred 2019;1(1):24-26.

https://doi.org/10.35727/jha.v1i1.16

- 9. American Heart Association. Quideline for the early management of patients with acute ischemic stroke. Update, American Heart Association/American Stroke Association, 2013.
- 10. Diamond H, Johnson MP, Padman R, Zheng K, Payne VL. Clinical reminder system: a relational database application for evidence-based medicine practice. Spring National Conference 2004; 1-35.
- 11. Youssef A, Almubarak A, Alnuaimi M, Alshehri B, Ghayda A, Akkari K, *et al.* Contraindicated medications

administered to inpatients with renal insufficiency in a Saudi Arabian hospital that has a computerized clinical decision support system. J Taibah Univ Med Sci 2015:1–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. jtumed.2015.02.012

12. Foster JM, Usherwood T, Smith L, Sawyer S, Xuan W, Rand CS, *et al.* Inhaler reminders improve adherence with controller treatment in primary care patients with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014; 134(6):1260-8.e3.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2014.05.041

13. Food and Drug Administration. Generic drug facts 2018. Quintiles IMS Institute: Reports, 2018.

- 14. Sequist TD, Gandhi TK, Karson AS, Fiskio JM, Bugbee D, Sperling M, *et al.* A randomized trial of electronic clinical reminders to improve quality of care for diabetes and coronary artery disease. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2005; 12(4):431-7. https://doi.org/10.1197/jamia.M1788
- 15. Filippi A, Sabatini A, Badioli L, Samani F, Mazzaglia G, Catapano A, *et al.* Effects of an automated electronic reminder in changing the antiplatelet drug–prescribing behavior among italian general practitioners in diabetic patients: an intervention trial. Diabetes Care 2003; 26(5):1497-500.

https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.26.5.1497



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 141-147 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202205

Hearing loss in pediatric patients with congenital rubella syndrome

Muyassaroh^{1*}, Nisa Alifia Rahmi²

¹Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Dr. Kariadi Central Hospital Semarang, ²Department of Pediatric, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro/Dr. Kariadi Central Hospital Semarang, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2021-11-01 Congenital rubella syndrome (CRS) is caused by rubella infection in pregnant Accepted : 2022-03-09 women. It was estimated 100.000 children with CRS, with 46% found in developing countries. The CRS consists of symptoms like sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL), congenital heart disease, cataract or congenital glaucoma, and other symptoms. Sensorineural hearing loss is the commonest symptoms compared with others. This study aimed to determine the hearing loss in CRS in Dr. Kariadi Central Hospital, Semarang, Central Java. This was a descriptive study using data from medical records from CRS pediatric patients who had BERA examination from January 2019 until December 2020. The CRS was characterized with one or more symptoms: SNHL, congenital cataract, congenital heart disease, and laboratory IgG and/or IgM Rubella (+). The SNHL was described from refer OAE result, tympanometry A, and BERA with hearing threshold \geq 40 dB. Follow-up evaluation was performed with Google form questionnaire. There were 55 CRS cases with 70.9% had bilateral SNHL, mostly with very severe hearing loss. Normal hearing was found in 16 children (28.1%). From 30 children who were followed up, there were 20 children who had bilateral SNHL with 30% were moderate-severe degree and 70% profound. With further multidisciplinary management in children with CRS and parental support, 65% children used hearing aid and 40% had auditory-verbal therapy (AVT). Evaluation of the AVT showed progress in 30% children. In conclusion, SNHL is found in 70.9% children with CRS. Further management using hearing aid and AVT shows progress on few children.

ABSTRAK

Sindrom rubella kongenital (SRK) terjadi akibat adanya infeksi rubella pada ibu hamil. Diperkirakan lebih dari 100.000 anak menderita SRK setiap tahunnya. Sindrom rubella kongenital ditandai adanya sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL), cacat jantung bawaan, katarak atau glaukoma kongenital, dan symptom lain. Sensorineural hearing loss yang paling umum didapatkan dibanding yang lainnya. Penelitian ini melaporkan kejadian kurang pendengaran pada SRK di RSUP Dr. Kariadi, Semarang. Penelitian deskriptif ini mengambil data rekam medis anak SRK yang diperiksa BERA pada Januari 2019 sampai Desember 2020. Sindrom rubella kongenital ditandai dengan salah satu atau lebih adanya SNHL, katarak kongenital, penyakit jantung bawaan, hasil laborat IgG dan atau IgM rubella (+). SNHL dinilai dari hasil OAE refer, timpanometri A, BERA ambang dengar ≥40dB. Evaluasi tindak lanjut penanganan dengan kuesioner Google form. Terdapat 55 (70,9%) anak dengan SRK. Sebagian besar SNHL bilateral berderajat sangat berat. Pendengaran normal dijumpai pada 16 anak (28,1%). Dari 30 anak yang dievaluasi, terdapat 20 anak dengan SNHL bilateral derajat sedang-berat sebanyak 30% dan sangat berat sebanyak 70%. Tindak lanjut dan tatalaksana multidisiplin pada anak SRK disertai dukungan orang tua didapatkan 65% menggunakan alat bantu dengar (ABD) dan menjalani auditory-verbal therapy (AVT) rutin (40%). Evaluasi AVT terdapat kemajuan pada 30% anak. Dapat disimpulkan, dijumpai SNHL pada 70,9% anak dengan SRK. Tindak lanjut dan tatalaksana penggunaan ABD dan AVT menunjukkan perbaikan pada sebagian kecil anak.

Keywords:

hearing loss; congenital rubella syndrome; habilitation; auditory-verbal therapy; hearing aid

INTRODUCTION

Rubella infection in pregnancy can cause miscarriage, fetal death or congenital abnormalities after birth. Risk level and types of disability depend gestational age when infected. on When the infection of rubella happens in first trimester (12 weeks), about 85% babies had risks to be born with congenital abnormalities; if infection happens in week 13-16 of pregnancy, risks were dropped into 10-20%, while malformation rarely happens after 20 weeks of pregnancy.^{1,2} In Indonesia, not many studies on the incidence of rubella are conducted. However, it is estimated that the incidence of rubella infection is quite high. Data from the National Basic Health Research (Riset Kesehatan Dasar/Riskesdas) 2011, about 400 cases of congenital rubella syndrome (CRS) were reported, while according to World Health Organization (WHO) in 2012 around 5,000-10,000 babies were born with deafness annually.³

Congenital rubella syndrome is characterized with sensor ineural hearing loss (SNHL), congenital cataract or glaucoma, congenital heart disease, and developmental delay. Other symptoms are craniofacial anomalies, purpura, and meningoencephalitis. Hearing loss is the most common symptom of CRS. Children with CRS who survive, some will have developmental delay, diabetes mellitus type 1 or thyroiditis.^{2,4,5} Some of these impairments can appear or worsen later in the lives of these children. Early introduction and continuation of speech, occupational, physical, and behavior therapies and training with appropriate medical interventions by a multidisciplinary team approach are required to maximize guality of life.⁶

World Health Organization reported more than 100.000 babies were born with CRS worldwide every year and

46%were reported from around southeast Asia including Indonesia. The CRS incidence increased 10 times when epidemic happened.⁷ Hearing loss was estimated happened around 80 - 96% in CRS patients and it can be unilateral or bilateral with various degrees in severity.⁴ Rubella virus can directly affect cochlea by inducing apoptosis in stria vascularis, cochlear duct and the organ of corti. Stria tissue can be infected and change endolymph structure. Vasculitis occurs and directly damages cells in cochlea, which disrupts myelinization in auditory nerves.^{2,8}

Speech and language development are severely affected when hearing impairment is present.^{9,10} Auditory– verbal therapy (AVT) is a listening and spoken language (LSL) instructional approach. The AG Bell Academy for Listening and Spoken Language provides certification to specialists who deal with hearing loss children. A previous study revealed that children who participated in AVT can achieve linguistic skills at the same level as their hearing peers.¹¹ This study aimed to report hearing loss in children with CRS at Dr. Kariadi Central Hospital, Semarang, Indonesia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

descriptive This was а study conducted in Dr. Kariadi Central Hospital, Semarang, Central Java. Data were gathered from medical records from CRS pediatric patients with age 6.2 - 57 months who had BERA examination from January 2019 until December 2020 and met the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Protocol of study

Initial diagnosis of CRS was made

from medical records if characterized with one or more symptoms i.e. SNHL, congenital cataract, congenital heart disease, and laboratory IgG and/ or IgM Rubella (+). The CRS diagnostic was conducted by pediatricion and examined hearing function was conducted by otolaringologist. The SNHL was scored with refer OAE result, tympanometry A, and BERA with hearing threshold \geq 40 dB. Follow-up evaluation was performed by using Google form questionnaire.

Statistical analysis

Data were presented as frequency or percentages and continued by descriptively analysis.

RESULT

Initial data from medical records in period January 2019 until December 2020 showed 55 children with CRS. Boys were found more than girls, mostly aged more than 1 year old. Hearing loss was found in 39 patients (70.9%), all affected bilaterally and 70.9% with very severe hearing loss. The characteristics of subjects are presented in TABLE 1.

Evaluation was performed in September 2021 using Google form, among 30 children with CRS had responses, consisted of 20 CRS children with hearing loss and 10 CRS children with normal hearing. Questionnaire results of 20 CRS children are shown in TABLE 2.

Variable	Total [n (%)]
Gender	
 Male 	32 (59.2)
 Female 	23 (41.8)
Age of having BERA	
• 0 - 1 years old	25 (45.4)
> 1 years old	30 (54.6)
BERA results	
 Hearing threshold < 40 dB 	16 (29.1)
• Hearing threshold $\ge 40 \text{ dB}$	39 (70.9)
 SNHL moderate - severe 	8 (20.5)
 Profound 	31 (79.5)
 Unilateral 	0 (0)
 Bilateral 	39 (100)
 Organ abnormalities 	
Hearing loss	14 (35.9)
 Hearing loss +1 organ abnormality 	19 (48.7)
 Hearing loss + > 1 organ abnormalities 	6 (15.4)

TABLE 1 Basic characteristics of the subjects

	Madamata anno	Deeferred	T-+-1
Variable	In=6 (%)	[n=14 (%)]	10ta1 [n (%)]
	[11-0 (70)]	[11-14(70)]	[11 (70)]
Age (years)			
• 0-1	2 (10)	6 (30)	8 (40)
• >1	4 (20)	8 (40)	12 (60)
Gender			
 Male 	3 (15)	8 (40)	11 (55)
 Female 	3 (15)	6 (30)	9 (45)
Hearing aid type			
 Implant 	0 (0)	3 (15)	3 (15)
 Hearing aid 	4 (20)	6 (30)	10 (50)
 Without hearing aid 	2 (10)	5 (25)	7 (35)
Habilitation			
 Speech therapy/AVT 	2 (10)	6 (30)	8 (40)
 Non-therapy 	4 (20)	8 (40)	12 (60)
 Therapy result 			
 No improvement 	6(30%)	8(40%)	14(70%)
 Improvement 	0(0%)	6(30%)	6(30%)

TABLE 2.	Questionnaire	results of	CRS	children	(n=30)
----------	---------------	------------	-----	----------	--------

Moderate severe hearing loss was found in 6 children, 4 children used hearing aid, while 2 children only had speech therapy resulted with no improvement. Profound hearing loss were identified in 14 children, 9 children had hearing aid (3 implant, 6 conventional hearing aid device), 6 children had speech therapy resulted with improvement. Parent's occupation and education which supports further management of hearing loss in CRS children (TABLE 3).

Variable	Implant [n=3 (%)]	Hearing aid [n=10 (%)]	Non Implant/ Hearing aid [n=7 (%)	Total [n=20 (%)
Parent's occupation				
 Both parents work 	2 (10)	3 (15)	3 (15)	8 (40)
 Only father works 	1 (5)	7 (35)	4 (20)	12 (60)
Parent's education				
 Both parents with scholar degree 	3 (15)	4 (20)	1 (5)	8 (40)
• Father/mother with scholar degree	0 (0)	3 (15)	3 (15)	6 (30)
Father/mother with non-degree	0 (0)	3 (15)	3 (15)	6 (30)

TABLE 3. Parent's occupation and education related to hearing loss management

Parent's occupation and education may affect compliance in follow up control (TABLE 4). Among 20 children with hearing loss (13 children with hearing aid and 7 children with routine speech therapy), 6 children had improve of hearing, 2 children from non hearing aid group, that be conducted on routin speech therapy. All children did no improve of hearing.

	Therapy		Result		
Variable	Routine [n=9 (%)]	Not routine [n=11 (%)]	No improvement [n=14 (%)]	Improvement [n=6 (%)]	
Hearing aid type					
• Implant	3 (15)	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (15)	
 Hearing aid 	4 (20)	6 (30)	7 (35)	3 (15)	
 Without hearing aid 	2 (10)	5 (25)	7 (35)	0 (0)	
Parent's occupation					
 Both parents work 	3 (15)	5 (25)	4 (20)	4 (20)	
 Only father works 	6 (30)	6 (30)	10 (50)	2 (10)	
 Parent's education 					
 Both parents with scholar degree 	6 (30)	2 (10)	5 (25)	3 (15)	
• Father/ mother with scholar degree	2 (10)	4 (20)	4 (20)	2 (10)	
• Father/ mother with non-degree	1 (5)	5 (25)	5 (25)	1 (5)	

TABLE 4. Parent's compliance

DISCUSSION

Rubella infection in pregnancy can cause miscarriage, stillbirth, congenital abnormalities or asymptomatic infection. It can affect some organs and causes congenital abnormalities which called CRS. Prevalence of CRS in Indonesia is still high. Rubella vaccination can decrease CRS prevalence in developed countries, but can not be conducted completely in some of developing countries Indonesia.⁵ including Impact of CRS can cause growth and developmental delay in children, hearing organ impairment can disturb speech and language development, which affect greatly on communication disorder and opportunity on decent education and job.

The result of this study showed that 70.9% children experience bilateral SNHL with mostly profound hearing loss. Age ranged from 6.2 - 57 months. Age 0 - 1 years old were found in 45.4% children and age more than 1 years were

found in 56.4% children. A male and female ratio was 1.4:1. It was different with study conducted in Surabaya which found 1.06:1.¹² A study conducted in Bandung reported that 88% of CRS patients experienced hearing loss in which 75% were bilateral. The ratio male and female was 1:1 and mostly occurred in age group of 1-3 months old (22.11%), whereas very severe SNHL were found in children aged 2-14 months old (22%). Furthermore, a study conducted in Tokyo reported that SNHL occurred in CRS patients with ratio of 1:1.14 Nazme et *al.*¹⁵ reported that SNHL in CRS patients are dominated by male in Bangladesh. A study in Yogyakarta showed severe SNHL in CRS patients were found in 36% children with mostly aged 2-6 months old.5

This study also showed hearing loss with and without other organ abnormalities were 70.9%, only hearing loss were 35.9%, hearing loss with one organ abnormality were 48.7%, and hearing loss with more than one organ abnormalities were 15.4%. This result is similar with the study conducted in Surabaya which reported that bilateral hearing loss was the most common hearing abnormality found with 71.43% cases, hearing loss and congenital heart disease were found in 17.89% cases, hearing loss, congenital heart disease, and ophthalmology abnormalities were found in 16.84% cases, while hearing loss and ophthalmology abnormalities were found in 13.68% cases.¹²

Most CRS study in Indonesia conducted in patients less than 6 months old.⁵ The different result of this study compared with other studies may due to still a lot of children who were admitted in Dr. Kariadi Center Hospital, were referred for auditory examination when aged more than 1 years old. Some cases were referred to ENT Departement with complaint of speech delay. The parents realized after their children were enable to talk like the others.

Further follow up and management for CRS patients need multidisciplinary approach involving pediatrician, ophthalmologist, physical medicine and rehabilitation, physicians, and parents support. Parents occupation and education were one of the factors which determines further management of CRS. Parents with good education and socioeconomics will get well information about the problem of hearing loss in children and its management. Therefore, they can provided psychosocial and academic development supports of the child and to his or her ultimate quality of life. Children with working fathers and mothers will reduce the focus on children's needs. Among 30 children who gave responses in follow up this study, there were 20 children with hearing loss.

Habilitation with implant or conventional hearing aid device was conducted in 13 children (65%). Eight children had speech therapy/AVT, 6 showed improvement. Success rate of speech therapy for SNHL in children with CRS who used hearing aid only 6 form 13 (46%), 7 children doing to routine speech therapy, 6 children showed hearing improvement. 2 children from non hearing aid group, that be conducted on routin speech therapy. All children no improving of hearing. This may cause by non-routine therapy. parents' commitment and occupation limitation, limitation was cost burden, abnormalities in organs involved and limited time and distance from therapy clinic to home. This result similar with previous study which showed that AVT is an effective intervention option for the AVT group.¹⁶

CONCLUSION

Hearing loss in CRS patients are commonly found (70.9%). Habilitation with speech therapy/AVT conducted in some children shows improvement in listening and speech. These findings support the positive effect of creating an appropriate educational environment by considering individualized needs. Also, exploring parental needs is very important for planning and making decisions in the rehabilitation process.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to express our gratitude to all our colleagues of the Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Dr. Kariadi Central Hospital, Semarang, Indonesia, for their full supports in this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dobson SR. Congenital rubella syndrome: clinical features and diagnosis, 2018. Available from https://www.uptodate.com/contents/ congenitalrubella-syndromeclinical-features-and-diagnosis.
- 2. Karimi-Boroujeni M, Zahedi-Amiri A, Coombs KM. Embryonic origins of

virus-induced hearing loss: overview of molecular etiology. Viruses 2021; 13(1):71.

https://doi.org/10.3390/v13010071

3. Kadek K, Darmadi S. Gejala rubela bawaan (kongenital) berdasarkan pemeriksaan serologis dan RNA virus. Indon J Clin Pathol Med Labor 20107; 13(2):63.

http://dx.doi.org/10.24293/ijcpml. v13i2.885

4. Sao T, Navya A. Profiling of audiological characteristics in infants with congenital rubella syndrome. J Otolaryngol ENT Res 2017; 7(6):367-70. https://doi.org/10.15406/

h t t p s : / / d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 5 4 0 6 / joentr.2017.07.00226

 Herini ES, Gunadi, Triono A, Mulyadi AWE, Mardin N, Rusipah, *et al.* Hospital-based surveillance of congenital rubella syndrome in Indonesia. Eur J Pediatr 2017; 176(3):387-93.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-017-2853-8

 Toizumi M, Vo HM, Dang DA, Moriuchi H, Yoshida LM. Clinical manifestations of congenital rubella syndrome: a review of our experience in Vietnam. Vaccine 2009; 37(1):202-9.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vaccine.2018.11.046

- 7. World Health Organization Office for Europe Region. Surveillance guidelines for measles, rubella and congenital rubella syndrome in the WHO European Region, 2009. Available from: http://www.euro. who.int/pubrequest.
- 8. Izzattisselim S, Purnami N. Polymerase chain reaction and serology test to detect rubella virus in congenital rubella syndrome patients with hearing loss. Indo J Trop Infec Dis 200; 8(1)16-23.

https://doi.org/10.20474/ijtid.v8i1.8735

9. Lang-Roth R. Hearing impairment and language delay in infants: diagnostics and genetics. GMS Curr Top Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2014; 13:doc5.

https://doi.org/10.3205/cto000108

10. Toizumi M, Nguyen GTH, Motomura H, Nguyen TH, Pham E, Kaneko KI, *et al.* Sensory defects and developmental delay among children with congenital rubella syndrome. Sci Rep 2017; 7:46483. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep46483

https://doi.org/10.1038/srep46483

- 11. Binos P, Nirgianaki E, Psillas G. How effective is auditory–verbal therapy (AVT) for building language development of children with cochlear implants? A systematic review. Life (Basel) 2011; 11(3):239. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11030239
- 12. Paramita DV, Purnami N. Profile of congenital rubella syndrome in Soetomo General Hospital Surabaya, Indonesia. Infec Dis Rep 2020; 12(Suppl 1):8718.

https://doi.org/10.4081/idr.2020.8718

- 13. Wijana, Ulfa A. ABR profile in children with congenital rubella syndrome at Hasan Sadikin General Hospital. ORLI 2019; 49(1):29-34. https://doi.org/10.32637/orli.v49i1.292
- 14. Sugishita Y, Shimatani N, Katow S, Takahashi T, Hori N. Epidemiological characteristics of rubella and congenital rubella syndrome in the 2012–2013 epidemics in Tokyo, Japan. Jpn J Infect Dis 2015; 68(2):159-65. https://doi.org/10.7883/yoken. JJID.2014.195
- 15. Nazme NI, Hoque M, Hussain M. Congenital rubella syndrome: an overview of clinical presentations in Bangladeshi children. Delta Med Col J 2014; 2(2):42-7.

https://doi.org/10.3329/dmcj.v2i2.20522

16. Dornan D, To T, Houston KT, Sharpe G. Is auditory-verbal therapy effective for children with hearing loss? Newborn Hearing Screening SWOT Analysis View project. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/228842074



Submitted: 2021-10-15

Accepted : 2021-12-02

Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 148-160 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202206

Relationship between high-risk human papilloma virus (HPV) and subclinical condyloma acuminata (CA) in the cervix of high-risk women

Benjamin Ricardo Rubirosa Lumban Tobing*, Richard Hutapea, Kristina Nadeak

Department of Dermatology and Venerology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sumatra Utara, Medan, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Condyloma acuminata (CA) is a sexually transmitted infection (STI) caused by both high- and low risk human papilloma virus (HPV) infection. Subclinical CA looks like a white spot after an acetic acid test. High-risk women are women who have a high risk of STIs, including CA. The aim of this study was to evaluate the relationship between high-risk HPV and subclinical CA in the cervix of high-risk women. This was a cross-sectional analytic study involving 30 high-risk women. The age, the age at first sexual intercourse, the frequency of sexual intercourse, the number of sexual partners and the use of condoms were recorded. Subclinical CA was diagnosed by the 5% acetowhite test. HPV infection was detected by PCR. Kruskal Wallis test was conducted to evaluate the relationship between variables and the results were considered to be significant if p<0.05. The HPV infection was detected in 15 high-risk women with subclinical CA and most subjects showed the high-risk type. No significant relationship between age and using of condom with high-risk HPV or with subclinical CA (p> 0.05). No significant relationship between age at first sexual intercourse and frequency of sexual intercourse with high-risk HPV was also observed (p> 0.05), however, a significant relationship with subclinical CA was observed (p < 0.05). In conclusion, there is a relationship between high-risk HPV and subclinical CA in the cervix of high-risk women.

ABSTRAK

Kondiloma akuminata (KA) merupakan infeksi menular seksual (IMS) yang disebabkan oleh Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) baik tipe risiko tinggi atau rendah. Kondiloma subklinis terlihat seperti bercak putih setelah dilakukan tes asam asetat. Wanita berisiko tinggi adalah wanita yang memiliki risiko tinggi terhadap IMS, termasuk KA. Tujuan penelitian ini adalah mengkaji hubungan antara HPV tipe risiko tinggi dengan KA subklinis pada serviks wanita risiko tinggi. Penelitian ini merupakan penelitian analitik potong lintang yang melibatkan 30 pasien wanita berisiko tinggi. Data usia, usia pertama melakukan hubungan seksual, frekuensi hubungan seksual, jumlah pasangan seksual dan penggunaan kondom dicatat. Kondiloma akuminata subklinis didiagnosis dengan tes acetowhite 5%. Infeksi HPV dideteksi dengan PCR. Uji Kruskal Wallis dilakukan untuk menilai hubungan antar variabel dan hubungan dinyatakan signifikan bisa nilai p<0,05. Infeksi HPV terdeteksi pada 15 orang (50%) wanita berisiko tinggi yang menderita KA subklinis dengan tipe risiko terbanyak, yaitu 7 orang (23,3%). Tidak terdapat hubungan nyata antara usia dan penggunaan kondom dengan infeksi HPV tipe risiko tinggi maupun KA subklinis (p> 0,05). Tidak terdapat hubungan nyata antara usia pertama melakukan hubungan seksual dan frekuensi hubungan seksual dengan HPV tipe risiko tinggi (p> 0,05), namun terdapat hubungan nyata dengan KA subklinis (p<0,05). Dapat disimpulkan terdapat hubungan HPV tipe risiko tinggi dengan kejadian KA subklinis di serviks pada wanita risiko tinggi.

Keywords:

condyloma acuminate; subclinical; high risk HPV; PCR; acetowhite;

INTRODUCTION

Condyloma acuminata (CA) is a sexually transmitted infection (STI) characterized by changes in mucosal and skin hyperplasia and caused by the human papilloma virus (HPV) infection.¹ Basal cells are the first site of HPV infection after inoculation through minor trauma, HPV virions will enter the basal cell layer of the epithelium.² Several clinical features of CA are reported. However, subclinical form of CA that only looks like white spots (positive acetowhite) after the 5% acetic acid test performed is also reported. Therefore, the patient often goes unnoticed even undiagnosed.¹⁻⁴ This infection is also demonstrated by identification of viral DNA on genital skin.⁵ Many studies estimated that subclinical HPV infection rates have a higher prevalence than clinical infections.^{6,7}

High-risk women are women who have a high risk of STIs, including CA.⁸ One of the groups of women at high risk of CA is female commercial sex workers.9-11 The prevalence of CA in each country is different. In developed countries, the prevalence of CA is around 11-46%.¹² It was estimated among 122 million people aged 15-49 years in United State, more than 1% of them suffers from CA and around 2% have subclinical infection.¹³ In Indonesia, the prevalence of CA ranges from 5 to 19%.¹⁴ In Medan, North Sumatera the prevalence of CA at Haji Adam Malik General Hospital in 2008-2011 was 76 people and in 2012-2017 was 39 people.^{15,16}

Based on the possibility of epithelial dysplasia and malignancy, HPV infection is divided into low-risk HPV and high-risk HPV. Low-risk HPV types, such as type 6, 11, 42, 43, 44, 54, 61, 70, 72 and 81 tend to cause benign tumors such as verrucae and CA. Meanwhile, high-risk HV types tend to cause anogenital malignant tumors, such as cervical, vulvar, vaginal, anal and penile cancers. Whereas, HPV types 16 and 18 are often found in highgrade dysplasia and malignancies.^{1,17,18} A study conducted on high-risk women in Lagos showed a high prevalence of highrisk HPV types with most having one type of HPV. Age at first sexual intercourse and an increase in the number of sexual partners are the most important factors for high-risk genital HPV infection in this study.¹⁹ A study on Italian women who have previously been diagnosed with cervical HPV showed a high risk of developing subclinical oral HPV in their sexual partners.²⁰ Another study in Brazil also reported that patients with genital HPV infection are at risk for oral HPV infection.²¹

The correlation between HPV infection and CA is well known. However, studies concerning high risks HPV and subclinical CA is still limited. This study was conducted to evaluate the relationship between high-risk HPV and subclinical CA in the cervix of high-risk women.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design of study

This was an analytic observational study with a cross-sectional design involving high risk women in Public Health Center Glugur Darat, Medan, North Sumatra from Mei 2021 to July 2021.

Protocol of study

A total of 30 high risk women whom met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were involved in this study. The inclusion criteria included high risk women and signed informed consent. According to WHO, high-risk women are those who have risk factors, including husband or sexual partner suffers from STI; husband or sexual partner or patient himself has had another sexual partner in the last one month have a new partner in the last three month have had one or more STI episodes in the past one mo; high-risk sexual partner/husband behavior.⁸ The exclusion criteria included patients who had sex, used vaginal rinses, creams and tampons the day before, patients who have a mass in the birth canal, pregnancy and breastfeeding.

The characteristics of patients included the patient's age, the age at first sexual intercourse, the frequency of sexual intercourse, the number of sexual partners and the use of condoms were recorded. Subclinical CA was diagnosed by the 5% acetowhite test, if there was a white color (positive acetowhite) on the cervix after applying 5% acetic acid.

The research samples were collected at Prodia S. Parman Laboratory in Medan, North Sumatra and would be sent to Prodia Kramat Jaya Laboratory in Jakarta to be examined for HPV types using standard PCR. The protocol of the study was approved by the Health Research Ethics Committee, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sumatera Utara, Medan, North Sumatra.

Statistical analysis

The collected data was tabulated and presented as frequency and percentage. The relationship between high-risk HPV types and subclinical CA in the cervix of high-risk women was statistical analyzed using the Chi Square test. If the Chi Square test conditions did not meet criteria, the Fisher's Exact test would be applied. However, if the two conditions did not meet criteria, then the Kruskal Wallis test would be applied. The results of statistical analysis were considered significant if a p value of <0.05.

RESULTS

The HPV infection was detected in 15 high-risk women with subclinical CA (TABLE 1 and 2).

TABLE 1. Distribution of subclinical CA in high-risk women after 5% acetowhite test

Subclinical CA	High-risk women
	[n (%)]
Positive	15 (50)
Negative	15 (50)

TABLE	2.	Distribution	of	HPV	infection	in
		subclinical	an	d no	n-subclini	cal
		CA				

	HPV infection		
High-risk women	Positive	Negative	
	[n (%)]	[n (%)]	
Subclinical CA	15 (50)	0 (0)	
Non-subclinical CA	0 (0)	15 (50)	

Most subjects showed the high-risk type (TABLE 3). Subclinical CA was most commonly found in the 26-35 y.o. age group (7 people or 46.7%). The 12-16 y.o. age group was the first age group to have sexual intercourse with the highest number of subclinical CA subjects (9 people or 60%). The frequency of sexual intercourse in subclinical CA subjects was mostly found in the age group with the frequency of having sex 1-7 times a wk (8 people or 53.3%). All subjects suffering from subclinical CA had more than 1 sexual partner. Subclinical CA subjects were more commonly found in the age group who had never used condoms (12 people or 80%). High risk HPV types were found in 3 people (42.9%) in the 26-35 y.o. age group, 3 people (42.9%) in the 36-45 y.o. age group and 1 person (14.3%) in the 17-25 y.o. age group. Mix of high-risk and low-risk HPV types were found in the 46-55 y.o. age group (3 people or 75%). The 12-16 y.o. age group was the first age group to have sexual intercourse with the highest number of subjects infected with high-risk HPV types (4 people or 57.1%). Mix high risk and low risk HPV types were found in 2 people (50%) in the 12-16 y.o. age group,

and 2 people (50%) in the 17-25 y.o age group. Subjects with high-risk HPV types who had sexual intercourse more than once a d were found in 3 people (42.9%), 1-7 times a wk 3 people (42.9%), and the least was found in the group with the highest frequency. Having sex 1-3 times a mo was found in 1 person (14.3%). Mix high-risk and low-risk HPV types were found in 2 people (50%) in the group who had sex more than once a d, and 2 people (50%) in the group who had sex 1-7 times a wk. All subjects infected with high-risk HPV types and mix high-risk and lowrisk HPV types had more than 1 sexual partner. Subjects infected with high-risk HPV types were found in the group who had never used condoms (6 people or 85.7%) and all subjects infected with mix high risk and low risk HPV types never used condoms were 4 people.

HPV type	n (%)
High risk	7 (23.3)
• Type 16	1
• Type 31	1
• Type 45	1
• Type 51, 52	2
• Type 52	1
• Type 66/68	1
Low risk	2 (6.7)
 Type 42 and type 70 	1
• Type 43/44	1
Mix of high risk and low risk	4 (13.3)
 Type 33, type 44, and type 84/26 	1
• Type 51 and type 6	1
• Type 53, type 6, type 43/44, type 54/55, type 70 and type 72	1
 Type 58, type 53, type 40/61, and type 42 	1
Outside the type found	2 (6.7)

TABLE 3. Characteristics of sul	bclinical CA in high-risk women b	y HPV type
	0	/ / /

No significant relationship between the age, number of sexual partners and use of condoms was observed (p> 0.05). However, a significant relationship between the

age at first sexual intercourse, and frequency of sexual intercourse with subclinical CA was observed (p<0.05) as presented in TABLE 4.

	Sub cli	nical CA	
Characteristics of high-risk women	Positive [n (%)]	Negative [n (%)]	р
Age (y.o.)			
• 12-16	0 (0)	0 (0)	
17-25	1 (6.7)	1 (6.7)	
• 26-35	7 (46.7)	9 (60)	0.510 ^a
 ■ 36-45 	4 (26.7)	3 (20)	
46-55	3 (20)	2 (13.3)	
Age at first sexual intercourse (y.o.)			
• 12-16	9 (60)	2 (13.3)	
17-25	5 (33.3)	10 (66.7)	
• 26-35	1 (6.7)	3 (20)	0.012 ^a
 ■ 36-45 	0 (0)	0 (0)	
46-55	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Frequency of sexual intercourse			
 > 1 time a d 	6 (40)	2 (13.3)	
 1-7 times a wk 	8 (53.3)	6 (40)	0.014a
 1-3 times a mo 	1 (6.7)	7 (46.7)	0.014*
4 < 1 time a mo	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Number of sexual partners (person)			
• 1	0 (0)	0 (0)	
• > 1	15 (15)	15 (50)	-
Use of condoms			
 Always 	0 (0)	0 (0)	
 Sometimes 	3 (20)	6 (40)	0.213 ^b
 Never 	12 (80)	9 (60)	

TABLE 4. Characteristics of high-risk women based on subclinical CA infection

d: day; wk: week; mo: month; y.o.: years old; ^aKruskal-Wallis Test; ^bFisher's Exact Test

No significant relationship between the characteristics of high risk women i.e. age, age at first sexual intercourse, frequency of sexual intercourse, number of sexual partners and use of condoms with high-risk HPV was observed (p>0.05) as presented in TABLE 5. Furthermore, a significant relationship between high-risk HPV and subclinical CA in the cervix of high-risk women was observed (p< 0.05) as presented in TABLE 6.

Characteristics of high-risk women	High risk [n (%)]	Mix of high and low risk [n (%)]	Non high-risk [n (%)]	р
Age (y.o.)				
• 12-16	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
• 17-25	1 (14.3)	0 (0)	1 (5.3)	0.004a
• 26-35	3 (42.9)	1 (25)	12 (63.2)	0.094*
 ■ 36-45 	3 (42.9)	0 (0)	4 (21.1)	
 46-55 	0 (0)	3 (75)	2 (10.5)	
Age at first sexual intercourse (y.o.)				
• 12-16	4 (57.1)	2 (50)	5 (26.3)	
17-25	2 (28.6)	2 (50)	11 (57.9)	
• 26-35	1 (14.3)	0 (0)	3 (15.8)	0.362ª
• 36-45	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
46-55	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Frequency of sexual intercourse				
> 1 time a d	3 (42.9)	2 (50)	5 (15.8)	
 1-7 times a wk 	3 (42.9)	2 (50)	9 (57.4)	0 1109
 1-3 times a mo 	1 (14.3)	0 (0)	7 (36.8)	0.112 ^ª
4 time a mo	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Number of sexual partners (person)				-
• 1	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
• > 1	7 (100)	4 (100)	19 (100)	
Use of condoms				
 Always 	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
 Sometimes 	1 (14.3)	0 (0)	8 (42.1)	0.155ª
 Never 	6 (85.7)	4 (100)	11 (57.9)	

TABLE 5. Characteristics of high-risk women based on high-risk HPV

d: day; wk: week; mo: month; y.o: years old; ^aKruskal-Wallis test

TABLE 6. Relationship between HPV types and subclinical CA in the cervix of high-risk women.

	Subcli	nical CA	
HPV types	Positive [n (%)]	Negative [n (%)]	р
High risk - Mix of high and low risk			
High risk	7 (63.6)	0 (0)	
Mix of high and low risk	4 (34.4)	0 (0)	-
Total	11 (100)	0 (0)	
High risk - Non-high risk			
High risk	7 (63.6)	0 (0)	0.001a
Non-high risk	4 (36.4)	15 (100)	0.001"
Total	11 (100)	15 (100)	
Mix of high and low risk - Non-high risk			
Mix of high risk and low risk	4 (50)	0 (0)	0.0003
Non-high risk	4 (50)	15 (100)	0.008°
Total	15 (100)	15 (100)	

DISCUSSION

There were 15 high-risk women with positive subclinical CA (50%) and 15 women (50%) who with negative subclinical CA (TABLE 1). The results of this study are in accordance with previous study that reported an abnormal cytology showing an acetowhite area on the cervix of high-risk women.²² Several studies also reported a fairly good correlation with histopathological findings indicating HPV and the presence of positive HPV DNA in the acetowhite area.^{23,24}

The HPV infection was detected in 15 people (50%) with subclinical CA and not detected in 15 people (50%) with nonsubclinical CA (TABLE 2). Yanofsky *et al.*²⁵ reported the subclinical HPV infection rate to be 40%, whereas DNA analysis of apparently uninfected genital skin was reported to be positive for HPV. Giraldo *et al.*²⁶ reported that 29 people (20.7%) with CA were positive HPV infection on PCR examination.

High risk HPV type was the most detected HPV type in women with subclinical CA (7 people or 23.3%), while low risk HPV types were found in 2 people (6.7%). A mixture of high risk and low risk HPV types were found in 4 people (13.3%) and 2 people (6.7%) outside the type of HPV found (TABLE 3). Condyloma acuminata is mostly caused by HPV types 6 or 11, but can also be caused by the high-risk HPV types coinfection.²⁷ This study is in line with the study conducted by Hawkins et al.²⁸ that reported the presence of DNA and mRNA from one HPV type to be the cause of the development of lesions with mixed infection of high risk. In addition, low risk types was found in 4 people (33.3%) and a single infection in 8 people (66.6%). The results of this study are also in accordance with the study conducted by Al-Awadhi et al.²⁹ It was reported that high-risk HPV types were found in 34.62% of patients and low-risk HPV in 14.4 % of patients. The highest prevalence (50.6%) was HPV 1a, 2, 4, 7, 27, 57b, 57c, 65. The prevalence of HVP infection with single types, two types and triple types were 88.4%, 9.0%, and 2.6%, respectively.²⁹

Subclinical CA was most commonly found in the 26-35 y.o. age group (7 people or 46.7%). However, no significantly relationship between age and subclinical CA was observed in this study (p=0.510) (TABLE 4). These results are similar to previous studies. A study conducted by Puspawati et al.³⁰ at Sanglah Hospital Denpasar, Bali reported the age of patients with CA was 12-35 y.o. Likewise, Effendi et al.31 reported patients with CA who come to Dr. H. Abdoel Moeloek Distric Hospital Lampung were dominated by the 20-40 y.o. age group. Peder *et al.*³² reported that the increase of infection risk among the young age is associated with a lack of adaptive immune response and the area of cervical epithelium. In this young age, the cervical epithelium can undergo relatively larger metaplasia in which may increase the risk of HPV infection of the basal cell layer and then increase proliferation. However, Tamer et al.33 reported that the older people can suffer from CA due to decreased immunity and reactivation of latent infection.

The 12-16 y.o. age group was the first age group to have sexual intercourse with the highest people with subclinical CA (9 people or 60%). A significant relationship between the age of first sexual intercourse and subclinical CA was observed (p=0.012) as presented in TABLE 4. This result is in line with the study conducted by Tamer *et al.*³³ that reported the age at first sexual intercourse is significantly associated with the people with CA. Abnormal cells in the cervix can lead to malignancy.³³⁻³⁵

The frequency of sexual intercourse in people with subclinical CA was mostly found in the group with the frequency of having sex 1-7 times a wk (8 people or 53.3%) in this study (TABLE 4). A significant relationship between the frequency of sexual intercourse with subclinical CA was observed (p=0.014). A study conducted by Haseen *et al.*,³⁶ supported the results obtained in this study. It was found that the frequency of sexual intercourse could lead to a higher positive incidence of STIs included subclinical CA. Haseen *et al.*³⁶ reported that adolescents who visited female sex workers at least once a mo had a higher prevalence of symptoms than other adolescents.

All subjects suffering from subclinical CA had more than 1 sexual partner (TABLE 4). Tamer *et al.*³³ reported a significant number of sexual partners in patients with CA (3 people) compared to without CA (1 people) (p = 0.0001). Peder *et al.*³² reported that women who had multiple partners are more likely to develop CA than those had single partners.

People with subclinical CA were more higher in the group never using condoms (12 people or 80%). However, it was no significant relationship between using condom and the subclinical CA prevalence (p=0.213) as presented in TABLE 4. The results is in line with study conducted by Nareswari et al.35 It was reported that the majority of people with CA informed that they had never used a condom during sexual intercourse (51.1% in men vs. 72.3% in women).35 Many studies report the function of condoms as a protector for the prevention of transmission of HPV infection. This function is especially important in women because they do not want to be seen as distrusting their partners so that they are more susceptible to infection.³²

High risk HPV types were found in 3 people (42.9%) in the 26-35 y.o, age group 3 people (42.9%) in the 36-45 y.o. age group and at least 1 people (14.3%) in the 17-25 y.o. age group. High-risk and lowrisk mixed HPV types were found in 3 people (75%) in the 46-55 y.o. age group. No significant relationship between age and high-risk HPV types (p=0.094) was resported (TABLE 5). Kang et al.³⁷ in China reported that the prevalence of high-risk HPV types is greater in older women. The prevalence of highrisk HPV types (p<0.001), HPV16/18/45 (p=0.002), and high-risk HPV types other than HPV16/18/45 (p=0.002) generally increased with age. High-risk HPV types more found in older women due to increased lifetime exposure, incidence of HPV, and/or viral viability in older women. In addition, the high incidence in older women was due to acquired HPV infection caused by changes in the sexual behavior of women themselves and their sexual partners and reactivation of previous latent HPV infections due to a decrease in the body's immune system at menopause.37

The 12-16 y.o. age group was the first age group to have sexual intercourse with the highest number of subjects infected with high-risk HPV types (4 people or 57.1%). High risk and low risk mixed HPV types were found in 2 people (50%) in the 12-16 y.o. age group, and 2 people (50%) in the 17-25 y.o. age group (TABLE 5). No significant relationship between age at first sexual intercourse with high-risk HPV types was observed (p=0.362). The results of this study were not supported by Kang et al.³⁷ who reported that younger age at initiation of sexual intercourse have a higher risk of developing high-risk HPV infection.

Subjects with high-risk HPV types having sexual intercourse more than once a day were found in 3 people (42.9%), 1-7 times a wk in 3 people (42.9%), and the least were found in the group with the frequency of having sex 1-3 times a month in 1 person (14.3%). High-risk and low-risk mixed HPV types were found in 2 people (50%) in the group having sex more than once a day, and 2 people (50%) in the group having sex 1-7 times a wk. No significant relationship between the frequency of sexual intercourse with high-risk HPV types (p=0.112) as presented in TABLE 5. Haseen *et al.*³⁶ reported that the more frequent the frequency of sexual intercourse will increase the incidence of STI. Adolescents who frequently visited female sex workers had more STIs than other adolescents.³⁶

All subjects infected with high-risk HPV types and mixed high-risk and lowrisk HPV types had more than 1 sexual partner (TABLE 5). Kang *et al.*³⁷ reported the most high-risk HPV types in women had a number of sexual partners 5 or more. The women who have had more than 1 sexual partner for life have a 1.3fold risk of experiencing high-risk HPV infection.³⁷

Subjects infected with high-risk HPV types were found in the group never using condoms (6 people or 85.7%) and all subjects infected with mixed high risk and low risk HPV types had never used condoms (4 people or 100%). However, no significantly relationship between using condom and high-risk HPV types (p=0.155) as presented in TABLE 5. Tay et al.³⁸ reported that women not using condoms shows a high prevalence of HPV infection (28.6%) and infection with high-risk HPV types (23.8%). In addition, the use of condoms has been shown to be protective in preventing STIs and could reduce the prevalence of HPV infection.³⁹

A significantly association between high-risk HPV types and subclinical cervical CA in high-risk women (p=0.001) was observed (TABLE 6). This results are in line with the study conducted by Al-Awadhi et al.²⁹ It was reported that there is a relationship between HPV types and the incidence of CA with 34.62% of patients infected with high-risk HPV types more than 14.4% of patients infected with low-risk HPV types. Another study in Austria reported that 42% of patients are infected with low-risk HPV and 21% of patients were positive for the highrisk HPV genotype. Multiple infections with low risk and high-risk genotypes were reported in 36% of patients.⁴⁰

Based on the possibility of epithelial dysplasia and malignancy, HPV is divided into low-risk HPV and high-risk HPV. Low-risk HPV types, such as types 6, 11, 42, 43, 44, 54, 61, 70, 72 and 81 tend to cause benign tumors such as verrucae and CA. While high risk types tend to cause anogenital malignant tumors, such as cervical, vulvar, vaginal, anal and penile cancers, where HPV types 16 and 18 are often found in high-grade dysplasia and malignancy.^{1,17,18}

Cervical cancer is one of the most common types of cancer in women which it is associated with HPV infection. Patients infected with HPV genotypes 6 or 11 had an increased risk of having CA (OR=2.34; 95%CI= 0.955-5.737; p=0.06). In addition, this association increased with the presence of high-risk HPV types and low-risk HPV types for having CA (OR= 2.814; 95% CI= 1.208-6.55; p=0.017) and cases with high-risk HPV types (OR= 2,329; 95% CI= 1.029-5.269; p=0.042). Patients with CA are usually found to have CIN2/3.41 A cohort study involving 10,971 patients (1,685 men and 9,286 women) in the Swedish population reported that CA is strongly associated with an increased risk of cancers of the anogenital tract, such as the vulva, penis, and anus.42

CONCLUSION

There is a relationship between highrisk HPV and subclinical CA in the cervix of high-risk women.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to express gratitude to the Head of the Department of Dermatology and Venereology of Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sumatera Utara and Universitas Sumatera Utara Academic Hospital, Medan, Indonesia. The authors declare no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this article.

REFERENCES

- 1. Winer RL, Koutsy LA. Genital human papilloma virus infection. In: Holmes KK, Sparling PF, Stamn WE, Piot P, Wasserheit J, Corey L, *et al.*, eds. Sexually transmitted disease. 4th eds. New York, NY: McGraw Hill; 2008. 490-501.
- 2. Androphy EJ, Kirnbauer R. Human papilloma virus infection. In : Goldsmith LA, Katz SI, Gilchrest BA, Paller AS, Leffell DJ, Wolff K, eds. Fitzpatrick's dermatology in general medicine. 8th ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 2012. 2421-33.
- 3. Goldstone S, Palefsky JM, Giuliano AR, Giuliano AR, Moreira Jr ED, Aranda C, *et al.* Prevalence of and risk factors for human papillomavirus (HPV) infection among HIV-seronegative men who have sex with men. J Infect Dis 2011; 203(1):66-74.

https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiq016

- 4. Patel H, Wagner M, Singhal P, Kathari S. Systematic review of the incidence and prevalence of genital warts. BMC Inf Dis 2013; 13:39. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-13-39
- 5. Baken LA, Koutsky LA, Kuypers J, Kosorok MR, Lee SK, Kiviat NB, *et al.* Genital human papillomavirus infection among male and female sex partners: prevalence and typespecific concordance. J Infect Dis 1995; 171(2):429-32.

https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/171.2.429

- Setiati S, Alwi I, Sudoyo AW. Ilmu Penyakit Dalam. 4th ed. Jakarta: Interna Publishing; 2014.
- 7. Moscicki AB, Hills N, Shiboski S, Powell K, Jay N, Hanson E, *et al.* Risk for incident human papillomavirus infection and low grade squamous intraepithelial lesion development in young females. JAMA 2001; 285(23):2995-3002.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.285.23.2995

- 8. World Health Organization. Regional office for the Western Pacific. Guidelines for HIV/ AIDS, STI, and behavioural risk factors surveillance: Pacific Island countries and areas. WHO Regional Office for Western Pacific, 2000. Available from: http://www.who. int/hiv/strategic/wpr_surv_pac00. pdf.
- 9. Mayo Clinic. Genital warts. Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research (MFMER), 2005. Available from: http://www. mayoclinic.com.
- 10. Anderson RM. Transmission dynamics of sexually transmitted infections. In: Stanberry L, and Bernstein D, eds. Sexually transmitted diseases. Cambridge: Academic Press, 2000. 25-37.
- 11. Tyring SK. Human papillomavirus infections: epidemiology. pathogenesis and host immune response. J Am Acad Dermatol 2000; 43(1 Pt 2):S18-26. https://doi.org/10.1067/mjd.2000.107807
- 12. Amo JD, Gonzalez C, Losana J, Clavo P, Munos L, Ballesteros J, *et al.* Influence of age and geographical origin in the prevalence of high risk human papillomavirus in migrant female sex workers in Spain. Sex Transm Infect 2005; 81(1):79-84. https://doi.org/10.1136/sti.2003.008060
- Daili SF, Nilasari H, Makes WIB, Zubier F, Rowawi R, Pudjiati SR. Infeksi menular seksual. 5th ed. Jakarta: Balai Penerbit Fakultas Kedokteran Universitas Indonesia, 2017.
- Daili SF, Make WIB, Zubier F. Infeksi menular seksual. 3th ed. Jakarta: Balau Penerbit Fakultas Kedokteran Universitas Indon, 2005.
- 15. Aswar A. Karakteristik pasien kondiloma akuminata di RSUP Haji Adam Malik Medan Periode

1 Januari 2008-31 Desember 2011. [Skripsi] Medan: Fakultas Kedokteran Universitas Sumatera Utara, 2012.

- 16. Latheresia EE. Karakteristik pasien kondiloma akuminata pada anogenital dengan human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) Di RSUP Haji Adam Malik Medan Periode Januari 2012-Desember 2017. [Tesis]. Medan: Departemen Ilmu Kesehatan Kulit dan Kelamin FK Universitas Sumatra Utara. 2019.
- Lorincz AT, Reid R. Association of human papillomavirus with gynecologic cancer. Curr Opin Oncol 1989; 1(1):123-32. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001622-198910000-00030
- 18. Hyun JS, Kim GB, Choi BS, Kim MS, Park SG. Giant anal condyloma (giant condyloma acuminatum of anus) after allogenic bone marrow transplantation associated with human papillomavirus: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2015; 9:9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-1947-9-9
- 19. Okunade KS, Nwogu CM, Oluwole AA, Ornalu RI. Prevalence and risk factors for genital high-risk human papillomavirus infection among women attending the out-patient clinics of a university teaching hospital in Lagos, Nigeria. Pan Afr Med J 2017; 28:227.

https://doi.org/10.11604/ pamj.2017.28.227.13979

- 20. Cossellu G, Fedele L, Badaoui B, Angiero F, Farronato G, Monti E, *et al.* Prevalence and concordance of oral and genital HPV in women positive for cervical HPV infection and in their sexual stable partners: an Italian screening study. PLoS ONE 2018; 13(10):e0205574. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0205574
- 21. Peixoto AP, Campos GS, Queiroz LB,

Sardi SI. Asymptomatic oral human papillomavirus (HPV) infection in women with a histopathologic diagnosis of genital HPV. J Oral Sci 2011; 53(4):451-9.

https://doi.org/10.2334/josnusd.53.451

- 22. Badeeh MA, Zol-Fokar D, Ali E. Comparing different methods for diagnosis of human papilloma virus infection of the cervix in Egyptian women. EBWHJ 2016; 6:95-100.
- 23. Kumar B, Gupta S. The acetowhite test in genital human papillomavirus infection in men: what does it add? J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2001; 15(1):27-9. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1468-3083.2001.00196.x
- 24. Santoso JT, Likes W. Colposcopic acetowhitening of vulvar lesion: a validity study. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2015; 292(2):387-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-015-3666-5
- Yanofsky VR, Patel RV, Goldenberg G. Genital warts: a comprehensive review. J Clin Aesthet Dermatol 2012; 5(6):25-36.
- 26. Giraldo P, Gonçalves AKS, Pereira SAS, Mazon SB, Gondo ML, Witkin SS. Human papillomavirus in the oral mucosa of women with genital human papillomavirus lesions. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2006; 126(1):104-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejogrb.2005.09.009
- 27. Léonard B, Kridelka F, Delbecque K, Goffin F, Demoulin S, Doyen J, *et al.* A clinical and pathological overview of vulvar condyloma acuminatum, intraepithelial neoplasia, and squamous cell carcinoma. Biomed Res Int 2014; 2014:480573.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/480573

28. Hawkins MG, Winder DM, Ball SLR, Voughan K, Sonnex C, Stanley MA, *et al.* Detection of specific HPV subtypes responsible for the pathogenesis of condylomata acuminata. Virol J 2013; 10:137.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-10-137

- 29. Al-Awadhi R, Al-Mutairi N, Albatineh AN, Chehadeh W. Association of HPV genotypes with external anogenital warts: a cross sectional study. BMC Infect Dis 2019; 19(1):375. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-4005-4
- 30. Puspawati NMD, Sissy, Gotama D. A retrospective study of condyloma acuminate profile in outpatient clinic of dermato-venerology Sanglah General Hospital Denpasar, Bali-Indonesia period 2015-2017. BDV 2018; 1(1):1-3.

https://doi.org/10.15562/bdv.v1i1.1

- 31. Effendi А, Silvia E, Hernisa Analisis faktor-faktor M. yang berhubungan dengan kondiloma akuminata di Poliklinik Kulit Dan Kelamin RSUD Dr. H. Abdul Moeloek Bandar Lampung Tahun 2016. J Ilmu Kedok Kesehat 2017; 4(1): 8-12.
- 32. Peder LD, Silva CM, Madeira HS, Malizan JA, Nascimento BL, Horvath JD, *et al.* Predictors associated with and the prevalence of condylomata acuminate infection among people in Southern Brazil. Rev Cienc Saude 2021; 11(1): 22-30.

https://doi.org/10.21876/rcshci.v11i1.1021

 Tamer E, Cakmak SK, Ilhan MN, Artuz F. Demographic characteristics and risk factors in Turkish patients with anogenital warts. J Infect Public Health 2016; 9(5):661-6.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2015.12.009

- 34. Toral JAB. Prevalence of high-risk HPV in women with biopsy-proven condyloma acuminata. PJOG 2019; 43(1):34-9.
- 35. Nareswari A, Mawardi P, Kusumawardani A, Ellistasari

EY. Gender differences in sociodemographic characteristics and risk factors among condyloma acuminate patients in Dr. Moewardi General Hospital Surakarta. Med J Kedok Kesehat 2020; 14(2):205-9. https://doi.org/10.33533/jpm.v14i2.2169

36. Haseen F, Chawdhury FAH, Hossain ME, Huq M, Bhuiyan MU, Rahman DMM, et al. Sexually transmitted infections and sexual behavior among youth clients of hotel-based female sex workers in Dhaka, Bangladesh. Int J STD AIDS 2012; 23(8):553-9.

https://doi.org/10.1258/ijsa.2012.011373

37. Kang LN, Castle PE, Zhao FH, Jeronimi J, Chen F, Bansil P, *et al.* A prospective study of age trends of high risk human papillomavirus infection in rural china. BMC Infect Dis 2014; 14:96.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-96

38. Tay SK, Oon LLE. Prevalence of cervical human papillomavirus infection in heathy women is related to sexual behaviours and educational level: a crosssectional study. Int J STD AIDS 2014; 25(14):1013-21.

h t t p s : / / d o i . org/10.1177/0956462414528315

- 39. Chen Z, Meng W, Du R, Zhu Y, Zhang Y, Ding Y. Genotype distribution and the relative risk factors for human papillomavirus in Urumqi, China. Exp Ther Med 2013; 6(1):85-90. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2013.1073
- 40. Juelg E, Busch M, Lueger A, Guenova E, Bergmayr MS, Hoetzenecker W. Distribution of human papillomavirus genotypes in condylomata acuminata: an Austrian cohort study. Dermatology 2019; 235(5):413-7.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000500908

41. Hasanzadeh M, Rejali M, Mehramiz M, Akbari M, Seresht LM, Yazdandoost Y, *et al.* The interaction of high and low-risk human papillomavirus genotypes increases the risk of developing genital warts: a population-based cohort study. J Cell Biochem 2019; 120(8):12870-4.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.28557

42. Wen LM, Estcourt CS, Simpson JM, Mindel A. Risk factors for the acquisition of genital warts: are condoms protective? Sex Transm Infect 1999; 75(5):312-6. https://doi.org/10.1136/sti.75.5.312



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 161-170 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202207

Antibiotic resistance of biofilm-producing bacteria from sepsis patients in Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo Hospital, Purwokerto, Central Java

Rani Afifah Nur Hestiyani^{1*}, Wahyu Siswandari², Vitasari Indriani², I Dewa Sang Ayu Putu Peramiarti¹, Hermin Prihartini³, Dwi Utami Anjarwati¹

¹Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Jenderal Soedirman, ²Department of Clinical Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Jenderal Soedirman, ³Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Therapy, Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital, Purwokerto, Central Java, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2018-11-12 Accepted : 2021-09-13 Sepsis is a life-threatening organ dysfunction induced by the body's response to infection and is a significant cause of critical illness and death in hospitals. Bacteria are the most common pathogens that cause sepsis, and their ability to form biofilms increases their resistance to antibiotics. As a result of the failure of antibiotic administration therapy, the severity and pain of sepsis worsen. The study used a descriptive research design to determine the antibiotic resistance pattern of biofilm-producing bacteria from clinical isolates of sepsis patients. Using the BacT/Blood Culture System Alert, all patients suspected of sepsis in the intensive care unit of Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital Purwokerto were examined for blood cultures between March and July 2018. These were then identified and tested for antibiotic resistance with the Vitek 2 Compact. Biofilm formation was detected utilizing the microtiter plate assay method, and the data were analyzed using a frequency distribution table. The results obtained 12 bacterial isolates, with Escherichia coli (41.67%), Staphylococcus haemolyticus (33.33%), Klebsiella pneumoniae ssp pneumoniae, Enterobacter cloacae complex, and Acinetobacter baumannii complex (8.33%) as the most common bacteria. All gram-negative bacteria (more than 80%) were resistant to ampicillin, cefoxitin, ceftazidime, ceftriaxone, aztreonam, and trimethoprim but were sensitive to meropenem (100%). Gram-positive bacteria were resistant to cefoxitin, benzylpenicillin, oxacillin, ciprofloxacin, erythromycin, and clindamycin (100% each). However, they were sensitive to tigecycline, nitrofuran, quinupristin, linezolid, vancomycin, and tetracycline (100% each). Gram-negative bacteria formed 50% biofilms, and 50% did not, whereas gram-positive bacteria produced 100% biofilms. In conclusion, bacteria clinical isolates of septic patients from Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital Purwokerto are multiresistant to more than six types of antibiotics and produce weak to moderate biofilms, which can promote antibiotic resistance.

ABSTRAK

Sepsis adalah disfungsi organ yang mengancam jiwa yang diakibatkan oleh respon tubuh terhadap infeksi dan diyakini menjadi penyebab utama penyakit kritis dan kematian di rumah sakit. Bakteri sebagai patogen utama penyebab sepsis sering menjadi resisten terhadap antibiotik dan kemampuannya membentuk biofilm dapat meningkatkan resistensinya sehingga meningkatkan keparahan dan kesakitan kejadian sepsis karena kegagalan terapi pemberian antibiotik. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengetahui pola resistensi antibiotik bakteri penghasil biofilm dari isolat klinik pasien sepsis. Desain penelitian yang digunakan deskriptif. Semua pasien terduga sepsis di ruang perawatan intensif RSUD Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo Purwokerto selama bulan Maret-Juli 2018 dilakukan pemeriksaan kultur darah dengan alat *BacT/Alert Blood Culture*

Keywords: bacteria; biofilm; antibiotic resistance; sepsis; epidemiology System, kemudian diidentifikasi dan diuji resistensi dengan alat Vitek 2 Compact. Pembentukan biofilm dengan metode mikrotiter plate assay. Data dianalisis dengan tabel distribusi frekuensi. Hasil didapatkan 12 isolat bakteri dengan bakteri terbanyak, yaitu Escherichia coli (41,67%), Staphylococcus haemolyticus (33,33%), Klebsiella pneumoniae ssp pneumoniae, Enterobacter cloacae complex, Acinetobacter baumannii complex masing-masing (8,33%). Semua bakteri gram negatif resisten diatas 80% terhadap ampisilin, cefoxitin, ceftazidin, ceftriaxon, aztreonam, dan trimetoprim tapi sensitif terhadap meropenem 100%. Bakteri gram positif resisten terhadap cefoxitin, benzilpenicilin, oxacilin, ciprofloxacin, eritromisin dan clindamisin masing-masing 100% dan sensitif terhadap tigecyclin, nitrofurat, quinupristin, linezoid, vancomycin and tetracyclin masingmasing 100%. Dari ke 12 bakteri, 50% bakteri gram negatif membentuk biofilm dan 50% tidak membentuk biofilm, sedangkan bakteri gram positif penghasil biofilm 100%. Kesimpulan penelitian ini adalah bakteri isolat klinik pasien sepsis dari RSUD Prof Margono Soekarjo Purwokerto multiresisten terhadap lebih dari 6 jenis antibiotik dan menghasilkan biofilm lemah sampai moderat yang dapat meningkatkan resistensinya terhadap antibiotik.

INTRODUCTION

Sepsis is a potentially fatal organ dysfunction induced by the body's immune response to infection and is a vital cause of critical illness and death in hospitals.¹ The incidence is relatively high, affecting millions of individuals each year, and it is rising. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), sepsis affects more than 30 million people each year, with the potential to cause 6 million deaths,² which is a heavy burden for developing and impoverished countries. In Indonesia, 35 patients were studied at Prof. Dr. R. D. Kandou Manado Hospital, where 29 patients (82.8%) were diagnosed with sepsis, and 23 patients (65.7%) died.³The patients with sepsis experienced organ dysfunction due to irregular host body responses that can lead to septic shock and death.⁴ Nearly 15% of sepsis patients are treated in Intensive Care Units (ICUs), with twothirds developing septic shock. According to reports, sepsis is a leading cause of death among patients treated in these units.^{3,5} In addition, patients with sepsis are particularly vulnerable due to low immunity, malnutrition, and exposure to medical treatment, all of which increase mortality and cost of care.^{6,7}

Gram-negative bacteria such as Escherichia coli, Klebsiella spp., Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Enterobacter spp., *Proteus* spp., *Neisseria* spp., *and Acinetobacter* spp., are known to be the most common pathogens that cause sepsis, other than gram-positive bacteria (*Staphylococcus aureus* and *Coagulasenegative Staphylococci*).^{3,8} Bacteria can produce clinical symptoms of sepsis because they share virulence factors with their hosts and induce an inflammatory response. Furthermore, Gram-negative bacteria can infect the host due to the presence of lipopolysaccharide and an endotoxin, but gram-positive bacteria contain an exotoxin that functions as a superantigen.⁸

Bacteria that cause sepsis are often antibiotic-resistant, worsening the condition of the patients.⁹ Appropriate antibiotic selection is crucial for lowering sepsis mortality and is administered within 1-2 hours after sepsis diagnosis. In addition, the pattern of resistance differs by hospital and changes over time. A study at Moewardi Hospital in 2016, E. coli is resistant to ampicillin, chloramphenicol, and gentamicyn.¹⁰ Lewis *et al.*¹¹ also reported *Acinetobacter* resistance to ceftriaxone and imipenem. Research conducted in the intensive care room of Fatmawati Hospital, Indonesia, showed that P. aeruginosa, S. epidermidis, and E. coli were resistant to meropenem, levofloxacin.12 gentamicin, and Furthermore, in Margono Soekarjo General Hospital, the resistance of Klebsiella to meropenem was reported.¹³

Antibiotic resistance is a primary cause of antibiotic therapy failure in patients with sepsis and septic shock, raising the mortality rate in hospitals. Biofilm formation by sepsis-causing bacteria is another factor that contributes to the ineffectiveness of sepsis patients' can produce treatment.¹⁴ Bacteria biofilms, making them more resistant to antibiotics at least 10-1000 times than planktonic bacteria.¹⁵ This can increase the severity and pain of the incidence of sepsis due to the failure of antibiotic therapy. Biofilms protect bacteria from antibiotics and the immune system by bacterial colonization.¹⁶ For instance, can tolerate antimicrobial biofilms agents at concentrations of 10-1000 times that needed to inactivate genetically equivalent planktonic bacteria.¹⁷

Sepsis requires fast and precise handling. Proper and prompt administration of antibiotic therapy is needed to reduce sepsis mortality.¹⁷ Information on bacterial antibiotic resistance that causes sepsis and the ability of these bacteria to produce biofilms that can increase the incidence of antibiotic resistance is needed to be used as guidelines for appropriate antibiotic therapy in the treatment of septic patients. Research on the antibiotic resistance of bacteria that causes sepsis and the ability of these bacteria to produce biofilms has never been carried out at the Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital, Purwokerto. This study aimed to determine the antibiotic resistance pattern of biofilm-producing bacteria from clinical isolates of sepsis patients in Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital, Purwokerto.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subject

The research design used is descriptive. The study sample was all

bacteria isolated from adult patients suspected of sepsis treated in intensive care at Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital, Purwokerto, during the period March - July 2018. Identification of bacteria and antibiotic resistance testing was carried out according to the standards in the Microbiology Division of the Clinical Pathology Laboratory Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital, Purwokerto using Vitek 2 Compact. Biofilm testing was conducted at the Research Laboratory of the Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Jenderal Soedirman, Purwokerto.

Bacteria isolates

All bacteria were obtained from Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital and isolated from clinical material of blood samples from sepsis patients in the intensive care unit room. As much as 5 mL blood samples were taken by skilled health workers according to the standards, then put into the BacT/Alert Blood Culture System transport media for review.

Identification and antibiotic susceptibility test

The bacteria were identified and tested for antibiotic resistance with Vitek 2 Compact.

Microtiter plate assay

The microtiter plate method was conducted as previously described¹⁴ with modification: bacteria were grown in 3 mL of trypticase soy broth (TSB) medium for 24 h at 37°C. The initial inoculum was diluted with a ratio of 1: 100 (which concentration 10µL culture in 1 mL TSB), then put 100 µL TSB with 1.5% glucose and TSB without glucose into each of the 96-well microtiter plate wells and added 10 µL of diluted culture into each well. The plate was covered with plastic (wrapping) and incubated at 37°C for 20 h. Planktonic bacteria were carefully removed from each well with a 200 µL pipette (gently pipette and leave the biofilm on the bottom of the well until the bottom of the well looks clear. Furthermore, the well was washed with 300 µL PBS (phosphate-buffered saline) to remove non-adherent bacteria. After that, PBS wasis discarded with a 200 µL (2 times) pipette slowly. Then the well was painted with 100 µL 1% crystal violet (try not to touch the bottom of the pipette), then save 30 min at room temperature (on the table). The well was washed again with distilled water then added 5% acid isopropanol (HCl and two propanols). Optical density (OD) was calculated at a wavelength of 450 nm. Staphylococcus epidermidis 12228, which is a biofilmproducing strain, was used as a positive control. Bacterial cells are categorized as very strong biofilm producers when > 4 X ODC; 2 X Odc <... ..4X Odc is moderate; or Odc <..... < 2 X Odc is said to be weak. < Odc includes non-biofilm. Odc = OD negative control, Ods = OD.

Data analysis

The data were analyzed and then presented descriptively with a frequency distribution table. This research has passed the ethical review by the Medical Research Ethics Commission, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Jenderal Soedirman, Purwokerto.

RESULTS

The patient characteristics

The results showed 12 positive blood cultures from sepsis patients: five men (41.66%) and seven women (58.33%)

Bacterial distribution

This research obtained 12 bacterial isolates from sepsis patients, namely *E. coli* (41.67%), *S. haemolyticus* isolates (33.33%), *K. pneumoniae ssp pneumoniae, E. cloacae complex*, and *A. baumannii complex*, respectively (8.33%). The distribution of bacteria that cause sepsis is presented in TABLE 1.

TABLE 1. Distribution of sepsis bacteria in Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital Purwokerto for the period March-July 2018 (n = 12)

Microorganism	Number of isolate	Percentage (%)
Gram-negative		
• E. coli	5	41.67
• K. pneumoniae ssp pneumoniae	1	8.33
E. cloacae complex	1	8.33
 A. baumannii complex 	1	8.33
Gram-positive		
 S. haemolyticus 	4	33.33
Total	12	100

Antibiotic resistance

In this study, the antibiotic resistance result, obtained automatically by a Vitek[®] 2 Compact. Gram-negative bacterial antibiotic resistance test results from sepsis patients are presented in TABLE 2, and the gram-positive bacterial resistance test results are presented in TABLE 3. It was found that all gram-negative bacteria are still sensitive to carbapenem antibiotics, which are meropenem and resistant to beta-class antibiotics lactam, namely ampicillin. *Escherichia coli* is still sensitive to meropenem, amikacin, ertapenem, gentamicin, tigecycline, and nitrofuran(100%) but resistant to more than 50% beta-lactam class antibiotics. *Klebsiella* is still sensitive to carbapenem, amikacin, gentamicin, ciprofloxacin, tigecycline, and nitrofurat groups (100%) and all resistant to ampicillin, cefoxitin, ceftriaxone, and trimethoprim. *Enterobacter cloacae complex* shows sensitivity to meropenem and amikacin but is resistant to 14 other types of antibiotics. *Acinetobacter baumannii complex* is sensitive to

ertapenem, meropenem, and tigecycline respectively by 100% but resistant to 12 different types of antibiotics.

Gram-positive bacteria *S. haemolyticus* is resistant to cefoxitin, benzylpenicillin, oxacillin, ciprofloxacin, erythromycin, and clindamycin 100% and sensitive to tigecycline, nitrofuran, quinupristin, linezolid, vancomycin, and tetracycline 100%. *Staphylococcus* is resistant to cefoxitin (TABLE 3).

TABLE 2. Resistance patterns of septic gram-negative bacteria in Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital Period March-July 2018.

	Antibiotic resistance [% (n)]			
Antibiotic	E. coli	K. pneumoniae ssp	E. cloacae complex	A. baumannii complex
Ampicillin	80 (4)	100 (1)	100 (1)	100 (1)
AS	60 (3)	100 (1)	100 (1)	0
Piperacillin	20 (1)	0	100 (1)	100 (1)
Cefoxitin	60 (3)	100 (1)	100 (1)	100 (1)
Ceftazidime	60 (3)	100 (1)	100 (1)	100 (1)
Ceftriaxone	60 (3)	100 (1)	100 (1)	100 (1)
Cefepime	40 (2)	100 (1)	100 (1)	100 (1)
Aztreonam	60 (3)	100 (1)	100 (1)	100 (1)
Ertapenem	0	0	100 (1)	0
Meropenem	0	0	0	0
Amikacin	0	0	0	100 (1)
Gentamicin	0	0	100 (1)	100 (1)
Ciprofloxacin	0	0	100 (1)	100 (1)
Tigecycline	0	0	100 (1)	0
Nitrofuran	0	0	100 (1)	100 (1)
Trimethoprim	60 (3)	100 (1)	100 (1)	100 (1)

TABLE 3. The pattern of resistance of gram-positive bacteria to cause sepsis in Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital Period March-July 2018.

Antibiotic	Antibiotics resistance to <i>S. haemolyticus</i> [% (n)]
Cefoxitin	100 (4)
Gentamicin	75 (3)
Tigecycline	0
Nitrofuran	0
Trimethoprim	50 (2)
Benzylpenicillin	100 (4)
Oxacillin	100 (4)
Ciprofloxacin	100 (4)
Levofloxacin	100 (4)
Moxifloxacin	25 (1)
Erythromycin	100 (4)
Clindamycin	100 (4)
Quinuprístin	0
Linezolid	0
Vancomycin	0
Tetracycline	0
Rifampicin	75 (3)

Biofilm assay

The biofilm test results using the microtiter plate assay method are presented in TABLE 4. Negative control OD was obtained (Odc = 0.0128). Of the 12 bacteria, 50% of gram-negative bacteria form biofilms, and 50% do not form biofilms, while 100% grampositive bacteria produce biofilms. *Staphylococcus haemolyticus* and *K*.

pneumoniae ssp pneumoniae bacteria show the weak ability to produce biofilms (0.0128 < ODc 00.0256), while *E. coli* and *E. cloacae complex* do not produce biofilms (Odc \leq 0.0128). Only *A.* baumannii is a moderate biofilms former (0.0256 \leq Odc 0.0512). The frequency of biofilm-producing bacteria and multi antibiotic resistance of bacterial isolates are presented in TABLE 5.

TABLE 4. Results of biofilm production for bacterial isolates using the microtiter plate method

	Biofilm former			
Bacterial isolates	Non-biofilm	Weak	Moderate	Strong
	[n (%)]	[n (%)]	[n (%)]	[n (%)]
Gram-positive				
 S. haemolyticus 		4 (33.33)		
Gram-negative				
• E. coli	5 (41.67)			
 E. cloacae complex 	1 (8.33)			
 A. baumannii complex 			1 (8.33)	
 K. pneumoniae ssp pneumoniae 		1 (8.33)		

Non biofilm: ODc \leq 0.0128; Weak: 0.0128 < ODc \leq 0.0256; Moderate 0.0256 < ODc \leq 0.0512; Strong ODc> 0.0512

TABLE 5. Frequency of biofilm-producing bacteria and antibiotic multiresistance

Microorganism	Antibiotic resistance	Biofilm former
Gram-positive bacteria		
 S. haemolyticus 	11 multi-resistance	Weak
Gram negative bacteria		
• E. coli	11 multi-resistance	Non-former
 K. pneumoniae ssp pneumoniae 	8 multi-resistance	Weak
 E. cloacae complex 	14 multi-resistance	Non-former
 A. baumannii complex 	12 multi-resistance	Moderate

DISCUSSION

The results showed that the most common bacterial causes of sepsis in adults were gram-negative bacteria, *E. coli* (41.67%), and gram-positive bacteria *S. haemolyticus* (33.33%). This is consistent with the study in Brazil (53.2%), in Southeast Asia (5%), and in Indonesia (68,8%).^{5,18,19} The research conducted in Moewardi General Hospital, Solo, and in Ethiopia shows a different result, where gram-positive bacteria were the most common causes of sepsis by 15.09% and 83.4%, respectively.^{8,10} The variations of bacteria that cause sepsis in hospitals in different countries can occur due to geographical location, epidemiological variants, the nature of the patient population, limited sample size, and limited research time span. The prevalence of infection can be affected by season; this study may have failed to show the actual prevalence of pathogen that causes it.^{5,20} In this study, the research time span is only five months (March to July), therefore the pattern of bacteria is different from the other hospital.

Escherichia coli in the study was a gram-negative bacteria that was reported to be the cause of sepsis and other gram-negative bacteria, namely *Klebsiella*, *Acinetobacter*, and *Enterobacter*. These results are consistent with the study in Ethiopia and Brazil.^{5,20} The different results found from Indonesia's research, where the gram-negative bacteria found were *Klebsiella* sp. This can occur because of differences in geographical location, causing a variety of agents causing sepsis.¹⁹

Gram-positive bacteria haemolyticus S. is the second Staphylococcus negative coagulase (CoNS) after S. epidermidis, most often isolated from clinical cases such as sepsis.²⁰ However, the results of the study showed S. haemolyticus to be the most grampositive bacteria causing sepsis. This difference is likely due to differences in blood culture systems and media content. The amount of CoNS isolated from blood cultures needs to be considered because it is considered a contaminant in many studies. The current research of CoNS is an important pathogen for nosocomial infections and sepsis.^{21,22}

Antibiotic therapy for septic patients is faced with the challenge of the emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and even develops into multiresistance. The antibiotics recommended for adult sepsis patients for grampositive bacteria are vancomycin and gentamicin, while for gram-positive bacteria is meropenem.

Echerichia coli isolates in the study were resistant to beta-lactam antibiotics

above 50% but sensitive to meropenem, gentamicin, amikacin, ertapenem, tigecycline, and nitrofuran 100%. This is according to study at Riau Hospital and Solo.^{9,10} *Klebsiella* is still 100% sensitive to carbapenem, amikacin, gentamicin, ciprofloxacin, tigecycline, and nitrofuran groups, all of which are resistant ampicillin, cefoxitin, ceftriaxone, and Enterobacter trimethoprim. cloacae *complex* shows sensitivity to meropenem and amikacin but is resistant to 14 other antibiotics. Acinetobacter baumannii *complex* is still 100% sensitive to ertapenem, meropenem, and tigecycline, but resistant to 12 different types of antibiotics.

All gram-negative bacteria are resistant above 80% against ampicillin, cefoxitin, ceftazidime, ceftriaxone, aztreonam, and trimethoprim but are sensitive to 100% meropenem. Empiric antibiotic therapy for sepsis can use meropenem. Meropenem is the choice the treatment of *Enterobacter* for infection because of its immunity to destruction by beta-lactamase produced by this pathogen.¹⁹

Gram-positive bacteria S. haemolyticus are 100% resistant to cefoxitin, benzylpenicillin, oxacillin, ciprofloxacin, ervthromycin, and clindamycin, and 100% sensitive to tigecycline, nitrofuran, quinupristin, linezolid, vancomycin, and tetracycline. Staphylococcus is resistant to cefoxitin, which means that the isolates include methicillin resistance. Many studies report S. haemolyticus is resistant to penicillin, cephalosporin, tetracycline aminoglycosides, quinolones, glycopeptides, and phosphomycines.^{23,24} The mechanism of S. hemolytic methicillin resistance determines resistance to all beta-lactam antibiotics i.e. penicillin, cephalosporins, carbapenems, and monobactams. This mechanism is related to the presence of the mecAgene, encoding the PBP2a protein modified penicillin transpeptidase, which is responsible for

the synthesis of pentaglycine bridges in peptidoglycan. Another important feature of *Staphylococci* is their ability to survive in a hospital environment.²⁵ Vancomycin can be an empiric therapy for antibiotics against *S. haemolyticus*. However, many studies have reported cases of *Vancomycin Resistance S. aureus* (VRSA).²⁶

All bacterial isolates became multiresistant because thev were resistant to more than two or more types of antibiotics. Similar studies also showed same results.^{19,20} Ciprofloxacin, the which became an antibiotic for grampositive and negative bacteria, actually experienced resistance.

In this study, the susceptibility test and species identification were carried out automatically by Vitec compact 2. The advantages of this tool are practical and useful in detecting species.¹⁶

In addition to being resistant to antibiotics, the ability of bacteria to produce biofilms that can decrease antibiotic efficacy is a serious problem in handling septic patients. The ability of bacteria in surface attachments and the formation of multicellular communities is an important key to the infection stage and becomes a bacterial virulence factor.^{14,16} Biofilm assay showed that all 100% gram-positive bacteria were able to produce biofilms even though they were weak. In gram-negative bacteria, 75% did not produce biofilms, while 25% produced weak and moderate biofilms. All isolates were multiresistant to more than six antibiotics, where 50% produced biofilms. This shows that most multidrug resistance bacteria are biofilm producers.

The antibiotics resistance mechanisms of biofilms and planktonic bacteria are different. The biofilm is more resistant to antibiotics up to 1000 times more than free-bacteria.¹⁶ The prevalence of bacteria that cause sepsis, most of which are multi resistant to antibiotics, needs special attention. The pattern of resistance and sensitivity to antibiotics is necessary as a guideline for empirical antibiotic therapy to treat septic patients whose immune conditions are very vulnerable. In addition, the ability of bacteria to produce biofilms that increase their tolerance in biofilms means that different therapeutic methods are needed, such as topical antibiotics.

CONCLUSION

The clinical bacterial isolates from sepsis patients at Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital, Purwokerto, Central Java is multiresistant to more than six types of antibiotics and produce weak to moderate biofilms, which can increase their resistance to antibiotics

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to thank all the staff of the Clinical Pathology laboratory at Prof Dr. Margono Soekarjo General Hospital, Purwokerto, who has helped carry out bacterial culture and technician laboratory in the Research laboratory of the Medical faculty Jenderal Soedirman University who has helped biofilm assay. We also would like to thank the Research and Community Service Institute of Jenderal Soedirman University for providing research funding through the Institutional Research scheme.

REFERENCES

1. Dugar S, Chiraj C, Abhijit D. Sepsis and septic shock: guideline-based management. Cleve Clin J Med 2020; 87(1):53-64.

https://doi.org/10.3949/ccjm.87a.18143

2. Makic MBF, Bridged E. Managing sepsis and septic shock: current guidelines and definition. Am J Nurs 2018; 118(2):34-9. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. NAJ.0000530223.33211.f5

- Tambajong RN, Diana CL, Lucky K. Profil penderita sepsis di ICU RSUP Prof. Dr. R. D. Kandau Manado periode Desember 2014-November 2015. Jurnal e-Clinic (eCl). 2016; 4: 1.
- 4. Zanon F, Caovilla JJ, Michel RS, Cabeda EV, Ceretta DF, Luckemeyer GD, *et al.* Sepsis in the intensive care unit: etiologies, prognostic factors, and mortality. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva 2008; 20(2):128-34.
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shanker-hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock (sepsis-3). JAMA 2016; 315(8):801-10. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.0287
- Gotts JE, Matthay MA. Sepsis: pathophysiology and clinical management. BMJ 2016; 353:1585. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i1585
- 7. Hall MJ, Sonja NW, DeFrances CJ, Golosinskiy A. Inpatient care for septicemia or sepsis: a challenge for patients in hospitals. NCHS Data Brief 2011; 62:1-8.
- Alebachew G, Teka B, Endris M, Shiferaw Y, Tessema B. Etiologic agents of bacterial sepsis and their antibiotic susceptibility patterns among patients living with human immunodeficiency virus at gondar university teaching hospital, northwest ethiopia. Biomed Res Int 2016; 2016:5371875.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/5371875

- 9. Oyong N, Dewi A, Karina. Pola resistensi bakteri penyebab sepsis neonatorum di instalasi perawatan neonatus RSUD Arifin Riau. Sari Pediatri 2016; 17(6):435-40. h t t p : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 4 2 3 8 / sp17.6.2016.435-40
- 10. Mahendra AD, Tirtodiharjo K, Kusuma ITD. The pattern of bacteria and its resistance on adult sepsis patient at Dr. Moewardi Geeneral Hospital, Indonesia. Arch Clin Microbiol 2016; 7(5):28.

https://doi.org/10.4172/1989-8436.100058

- 11. Lewis MT, Biedenbach DJ, Jones RN. In vitro evaluation of cefepime and other broad-spectrum beta-lactams against bacteria from Indonesian medical centers the Indonesia Antimicrobial Resistance Study Group. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 1999; 35(4):285-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0732-8893(99)00099-1
- 12. Radji M, Fauziah S, Aribinuko N. Antibiotic sensitivity pattern of bacterial pathogens in the intensive care unit of Fatmawati Hospital, Indonesia. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed 2011; 1(1):39-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2221-1691(11)60065-8
- 13. Afifah, Tunggul AP, Peramiarti IDSAP. Resistensi *Klebsiella* sp. terhadap meropenem di RSUD Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo Purwokerto. Scripta Biologica 2017; 4(2):135-7. https://doi.org.10.20884/1.sb.2017.4.2.378
- 14. Moghadam SO, Pourmand MR, Aminharati F. Biofilm formation and antimicrobial resistance in methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from burn patients, Iran. J Infect Dev Ctries 2014; 8(12):1511-7.

https://doi.org/10.3855/jidc.5514

 Davies D. Understanding biofilm resistance to antibacterial agents. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2003; 2(2):114-22.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1008

DU. 16. Anjarwati Siswandari W, IDSAP. Peramiarti Profile of biofilm-producing Staphylococcus epidermidis from intravenous catheter colonisation at Prof. Dr. Margono Soekarjo Hospital Purwokerto. Indonesian Journal of Pharmacy 2019; 30(1):1-6. http://doi.org/10.14499/ indonesianjpharm30iss1pp1

17. Abebe GM. The role of bacterial

biofilm in antibiotic resistance and food contamination. Int J Microbiol 2020; 1705814.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/1705814

 Limmathurotsakul D. Causes and outcomes of sepsis in Southeast Asia: a multinational multicentre crosssectional study. Lancet Glob Health 2017; 5(2):e157-67.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30007-4

 Hidayati, Arifin H, Raveinal. Kajian penggunaan antibiotik pada pasien sepsis dengan gangguan ginjal. Jurnal Sains Farmasi dan Klinik 2016; 2(2):129-37.

https://doi.org/10.29208/jsfk.2016.2.2.75

- 20. Kumalo A, Kassa T, Mariam ZS, Daka D, Tadesse AH. Bacterial profile of adult sepsis and their antimicrobial susceptibility pattern at Jimma University specialized hospital, South West Ethiopia. Health Science Journal 2016; 10(2):1-8.
- 21. Karunakaran R, Raja NS, Ng KP, Navaratnam P. Etology of bloodculture isolates among patents in a multdisciplinary teaching hospital in Kuala Lumpur. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 2007; 40(5):432-7.
- 22. Piete A, Verschraegen G. Role of Coagulase-negatve Staphylococci in human disease. Vet Microbiol 2009; 134(1-2):45-54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

vetmic.2008.09.009

23. Holden MTG, Hsu LY, Kurt K, Weinert

LA, Mather AE, Harris SR, *et al.* A genomic portrait of the emergence, evolution, and global spread of a methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* pandemic. Genome Res 2013; 23(4):653-64.

https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.147710.112

24. Lebeaux D, Barbier F, Angebault C, Benmahdi L, Ruppe E, Felix B, *et al.* Evolution of nasal carriage of methicillin-resistant coagulase negative staphylococci in a remote population. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2012; 56(1):315-23.

https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00547-11

25. Czekaj T, Ciszewski M, Szewczyk EM. Staphylococcus haemolyticus : an emerging threat in the twilight of the antibiotics age. Microbiology 2015; 161(11):2061-8.

https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.000178

- 26. Pradipta IS., Sandiana AT, Halimah E, Diantini A, Lestari K, Abdulah R. Microbial and resistance profile in isolate from adult sepsis patients: an observatonal study at an Indonesian private hospital during 2009-2012. Int J Pharm Sci Rev Res 2013; 19(2):24-9.
- 27. McCarhty H, Rudkin JK, Black NS, Gallagher L, O'Neill E, O'Gara JP. Methicillin resistance and the biofilm phenotype in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2015; 5:1.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2015.00001



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 171-180 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202208

Challenge in diagnosing tuberculosis on a boy with severely wasted in limited resource area

Marini Siagian¹, Norman Tanyadji²

¹Oksibil District General Hospital, Pegunungan Bintang, Papua, ²Department of Pediatric, Oksibil District General Hospital, Pegunungan Bintang, Papua

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2021-01-04 Accepted : 2021-07-26 Hunger and malnutrition are still the leading cause of morbidity and mortality among children around the world. Undernutrition increases the risk of tuberculosis (TB) which in turn could worsen undernutrition. Indonesia is currently the second highest newly diagnosed TB in the world after India. TB in children with severely wasted is difficult to diagnose. This is a case report about a 35-month-old boy with severely wasted complicated with hypoglycemia, severe dehydration, and pneumonia. After proper nutritional management without the expected outcome, patient was then worked up for TB resulting negative result of tuberculin skin test (TST). Nevertheless, he was still treated with antituberculosis and had significant improvement, hence continuation to complete 6 mo period of therapy. This case report describes the challenge of diagnosing TB in children with severely wasted in limited resource areas. The reduced immune responses, due to severely wasted, caused subtle clinical signs of TB and decreased sensitivity to tuberculin testing. The unavailability of radiologic examination added further problem in diagnosis. The diagnosis of TB should be considered among children in areas with a high prevalence of TB, presenting with severely wasted refractory to proper nutritional management.

ABSTRAK

Kelaparan dan malnutrisi masih menjadi penyebab utama morbiditas dan mortalitas anak-anak di seluruh dunia. Kekurangan gizi dapat meningkatkan risiko terjadinya tuberculosis (TB) yang pada gilirannya dapat memperburuk kekurangan gizi. Saat ini Indonesia menduduki peringkat kedua tertinggi penderita TB baru di dunia setelah India. Tuberkulosis pada anak gizi buruk sulit didiagnosis. Pada makalah ini dilaporkan kasus anak laki-laki berusia 35 bulan keadaan gizi buruk dengan komplikasi hipoglikemia, dehidrasi berat, dan pneumonia. Setelah manajemen nutrisi yang tepat tanpa hasil yang diharapkan, pasien kemudian diperiksa untuk TB dengan hasil tes kulit tuberkulin (TST) negatif. Namun demikian, ia masih diobati dengan antituberkulosis dan mengalami peningkatan berat badan yang signifikan, sehingga dilanjutkan untuk menyelesaikan periode terapi 6 bulan. Laporan kasus ini menjelaskan tantangan dalam mendiagnosis TB pada anak dengan kondisi gizi buruk di daerah dengan sumber daya yang terbatas. Berkurangnya kekebalan tubuh, karena kondisi gizi buruk, menyebabkan tanda-tanda klinis TB yang tidak jelas dan penurunan kepekaan terhadap tes tuberkulin. Tidak tersedianya pemeriksaan radiologis menambah masalah lebih lanjut dalam diagnosis. Diagnosis TB harus dipertimbangkan di antara anak-anak di daerah dengan prevalensi TB yang tinggi, dengan gejala yang sangat refrakter terhadap manajemen nutrisi yang tepat.

Keywords: severely wasted; tuberculosis; pneumonia; malnutrition; children
INTRODUCTION

Hunger and malnutrition are still the leading cause of morbidity and mortality among children around the world. The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) seek sustainable solutions to end hunger and all forms of malnutrition by 2030 and achieve food security. Nutritional problems, such as malnutrition and stunting, are still major problems that need to be addressed immediately.¹ In 2019, 47.0 million children under five years around the world were wasted, of which 14.3 million were severely wasted and 10.5 million of severely wasted cases occurred in Asia.² According to Basic Health Research (Riset Kesehatan Dasar, Riskesdas) 2018, the proportion of children under five years in Indonesia (0-59 mo) is around 8.8% (23 million), and 3.5% (805,000) children are severely wasted. The prevalence of severely wasted in Papua is 4.8%.^{3,4} Based on Statistic Data of Papua 2020, incidence of wasted in Pegunungan Bintang Regency were 110 cases.⁵

Wasting has short and long-term impacts, such as growth and development disorders, including cognitive dysfunction, impairment of the immune system function, risk of degenerative disease later in life, and ultimately death. The risk of death associated with severe wasting is 12-fold higher compared to the well-nourished children.^{6,7} Children with undernutrition are at increased risk of death from infectious diseases and, conversely, severe infectious diseases in early childhood can affect nutritional status. Undernutrition is also known to increase the risk of tuberculosis (TB) and TB can cause or worsen undernutrition.⁸

There were estimated 10.0 million new cases of TB disease in 2019 globally (130 cases per 100,000 population, and about 845,000 new TB cases in Indonesia (312 per 100,000 population). The number of new TB cases in Indonesia was the second highest after India. Prevalence of TB in Papua based on Basic Health Research 2018 was 0.77%. This number was higher than national average. TB affects all countries and age groups whereas 12% were children.^{4,9,10}

According to Indonesian national guideline of medical service for management of TB 2019, the diagnosis of TB in children based on history, symptoms, physical examination include analysis of child development, tuberculine test or IGRA (interferon gamma release assay), bacteriological confirmation other relevant and investigations (chest X-ray, lumbar puncture, biopsy and others according to the location of the affected organ).9

Diagnosis of TB among children utilizes a scoring system that can be carried out in limited health care facilities, both with limited medical personnel and diagnostic tools. If the microscopic examination is negative or there is no access to referrals (radiology/ Xpert MTB/RIF/culture), then broadspectrum antibiotic therapy (non-OAT and non-quinolones) should be administered for 1-2 wk. If there is no clinical improvement after antibiotic administration, the patient needs to be assessed for TB risk factors. Patients with high risk factors for TB can be diagnosed as clinical TB. Since the higher risk of disseminated TB in children less than 5 y.o., TB therapy should be given as soon as the diagnosis is made.⁹

The bacteriological diagnosis of TB in children is more difficult due to low production of sputum. The diagnosis of TB among children in limited resource area both with limited medical personnel and diagnostic tools is even more difficult. Clinical signs of TB in children are largely non-specific, such as unexplained weight loss or failure to grow normally, chronic cough, unexplained fever, especially when it continues for more than 2 wk.¹¹ Clinical signs of TB in children, especially those with severely wasted, are often subtle. The diagnosis of TB is even more difficult when such children present with acute pneumonia.¹² Following below is a case report of Pulmonary TB in a boy with severely wasted presented with pneumonia.

CASE

A 35-mo.o. Papuan boy, presented to the emergency room (ER) of Oksibil General Hospital with chief complaint of difficulty of breathing over the last 48 h. Patient had history of three weeks of watery diarrhea, twice to three times over 24 h, slightly greenish stools with no blood noted. Diarrhea was associated with 3 wk cough and intermittent fever. Patient was noted to get weaker by day and drink poorly. The symptoms persisted until two d prior to admission, he had difficulty of breathing. There was no history of vomiting. His urination was within normal limit. There was no history of pain during urination or bloody urine.

The patient was the youngest of three siblings. One year ago, the patient was admitted to our institution with community-acquired-pneumonia. His weight and height at that time was 8 kg and 82 cm. The patient was discharged fully recovered after seven d of treatment with antibiotics and since then had never come for follow up and/or seeking any treatment at our institution. The patient had never been evaluated for TB, and both parents denied any history of TB, prolonged coughing, or TB treatment. During pregnancy, the mother only ate sweet potatoes and had never done any antenatal care at the health center and/or hospital. The labor occurred spontaneously at home, assisted by nonmedically trained family members, and had his umbilical cord cut with razor. Patients had exclusive breastfeeding until the age of 6 mo, then introduced with sweet potatoes for complimentary feeding from 6 mo old until now. For the past month, he preferred more breast milk and was unwilling to eat solid food.

Parents can sometimes provide formula milk, but due to economic problems, it was often unavailable. During his present illness, the patient can only consume about 50 mL of formula milk or about 50 g of sweet potatoes. Patient had never been immunized, particularly BCG. The history of growth and development is not clear. Patient took several steps and say a few words besides mama, papa at the age of 1 y, and more fluently at 2 y.o.

Upon admission at the ER, the patient was found to be somnolent, looked severely ill, with pulse rate 136 beats/min, respiration rate (RR) 64 breaths/min, axillary temperature (t) 37,6°C, peripheral capillary oxygen saturation (SpO2) 93% at room air. His anthropometric measurement upon admission as follow: weight 8 kg, height 86 cm, and head circumference 48 cm, with mid-upper arm circumference (MUAC) 10.5 cm. He had sunken eyes, anemic conjunctivae, but no icteric sclerae. He had dry oral mucosa, with no thrush or redness. He had no enlarged lymph nodes nor abscesses on his neck. On chest examination, we found intercostal, subcostal retraction, with bilateral rhonchi on both lung fields, with no wheezing noted. He had flat and supple stomach, with normal bowel sounds, slow returning turgor, without hepatosplenomegaly. He also had baggy pants with cold extremities and capillary refill time of 2 sec.

The laboratory test results upon admission were hemoglobin of 9.4 g/dL, leukocytes of 7,500 μ L, platelets of 169,000 μ L, lymphocytes 22.1%, granulocytes 68.0%, MCV 68.4 fL, MCH 24.9 pg, MCHC 36.4 g/dL, non-reactive anti-HIV, GDS of 45 mg/dL. There was no x-ray examination performed due to unavailability of the service in our institution.

Patient was initially diagnosed as severely wasted, short stature, hypoglycemia, severe dehydration, persistent diarrhea probably bacterial, and community pneumonia.

The patient were then hooked to O2 at 2 LPM by nasal cannula, given of D10% 40 mL (5 mL/kg) intravenous bolus to treat hypoglycemia, and administered ringer lactate 80 mL/hour (10 mL/kg/h) for 2 h then slowly reduced within 6 h to his maintenance rate using D5 ½ NS. To treat the infection, the patient received ampicillin 250 mg/6 h (125 mg/kg /day) IV, and gentamicin 40 mg/24 h (5 mg/ kg/day) IV. We started the enteral diet immediately after resuscitation via the nasogastric tube using the F-100 from the hospital kitchen. Administration of F-100 started with 50 mL (his normally tolerated volume of milk) which was then increased gradually every 4-6 h to reach 60% of the calorie requirement per day. Apart from F-100, we also provided zinc supplementation and vitamin A through the nasogastric tube.

The patients' weight gain was only 300 g over 13 d of admission, even after proper nutritional management. We considered an ongoing untreated TB infection, hence the tuberculin test which shown no induration after 48 h. Nevertheless, we decided to start oral anti-tuberculosis drugs (OAT). After the initiation of OAT, he had weight gain of 100 g/d for the next 13 d and was able to achieve full oral intake by the 23rd hospital day. The patient was then discharged after undergoing treatment for 26 d with weight of 9.5 kg and height of 86 cm.

DISCUSSION

Nutrition for infants, children, and adolescents should maintain current weight and support normal growth and development. Dietary intake should provide energy requirements as well as the essential macronutrient and micronutrient needed in sustaining the function of multiple vital processes. Nutrient deficiencies can limit growth, immune function. affect impair neurodevelopment, and increase

morbidity and mortality. Worldwide, malnutrition and undernutrition are the leading causes of acquired immunodeficiency, and a major factor underlying morbidity and mortality in children <5 **V.O.**¹³ Immediate of determinants nutritional status are maternal age, occupation and educational status, number of family members, family income, psychosocial factors in the mother-child interactions, childcare practices, child dietary intake and health status, access to clean water and sanitation.^{14,15} Malnutrition among children 6-59 mo is influenced more by external factors such as dietary intake and immunity to infection.³

In this case, the patient had persistent diarrhea for the past 3 wk and a medical history of community-acquiredpneumonia a year prior. The patient was exclusively breastfed for 6 mo and was further weaned with sweet potatoes from 6 mo old until now. Since the last one month, the patient preferred breast milk compared to solid food, formula milk was often unavailable. The patient was only given sweet potatoes daily, a source of carbohydrates without any protein, fat, and other micronutrients. This showed continuously insufficient food intake and repeated suffered infectious disease.¹⁶ When a child's intake is insufficient to meet his daily needs, physiologic and metabolic changes take place in an orderly progression to conserve energy and prolong life, called reductive adaptation. Energy is conserved by reducing physical activity and growth, reducing basal metabolism and the functional reserve of organs, and reducing inflammatory and immune responses.^{7,13}

This patient was a 35-mo.o. boy weighing 8 kg, with height of 86 cm, MUAC 10.5 cm. Based on the WHO classification in this patient weight-forheight Z score was at Z < -3SD, heightfor-age was -3 <Z <-2, weight-for-age Z <-3SD, so that this patient diagnosed with severely wasted, severely underweight, and short stature. The complications were severe dehydration, hypoglycemia, and acute pneumonia, made us take the decision the patient to be hospitalized. Based on the Indonesian guidelines for the prevention and management of severely wasted for under-five children, hospitalization for severely wasted 6-59 mo children with complications and/or comorbidities that lead to malnutrition, such as TB and HIV, poor appetite, and inability of the family to give proper care.³

Children with undernutrition are at increased risk of death from infectious diseases and, conversely, severe infectious diseases in early childhood affect nutritional status.8 The can main effects observed in severe acute malnutrition occur in the T-lymphocytes and the complement system. The number of lymphocytes originating in the thymus gland drastically decreases and the gland atrophies.¹⁶ Lower serum leptin levels in malnutrition children lead to atrophy of thymus cells, lymph nodes, and tonsils leading to impaired cellular immunity. There are reduced differentiation of CD4 cells with normal CD8-T lymphocytes as well as loss of delaved hypersensitivity, impaired phagocytosis and reduced secretory IgA susceptibility to invasive gastrointestinal infection.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ The resultant changes lead to increased susceptibility to infections and severe complications.¹⁶ Repeated exposure to pathogens leads to colonization of bacteria in the intestine with accumulation of inflammatory cells in the small intestinal mucosa, damages the intestinal villi and leads to malabsorption of nutrients which ultimately leads to malnutrition.^{19,20} The systemic circulating leptin deficiency in malnutrition is also correlated with several other bacterial, viral and parasitic infections such as TB, pneumonia, sepsis, amoebiasis, malaria and other infection due to defective cytokine production.¹⁸

Children with fast breathing and/or chest indrawing are classified as having pneumonia.²¹ The most commonly isolated organisms in severelv malnourished children with pneumonia were Klebsiella species, Staphylococcus Streptococcus aureus. pneumonia (Pneumococcus), Escherichia coli. Haemophilus influenzae, and Salmonella species. Impaired of immune function, including lower leptin levels cause poorer clearance of S. aureus from the lungs increases the spread of this pathogen to the lower respiratory tract.^{19,20,22} Arpitha *et al.*²³ reported, severity of malnutrition was a significant risk factor for increased of pneumonia. severity Artawan²⁴ concluded that nutritional status was related to severity of pneumonia in children. Diagnosis of pneumonia optimally includes a combination of history, clinical signs, and chest X-ray. Adequate laboratory and radiological services are frequently absent in primary facilities. hence WHO healthcare recommends basing the diagnosis of pneumonia primarily on visible clinical parameters, including respiratory rate and chest indrawing.22 Among wellnourished children, most of the clinical signs have acceptable sensitivity and specificity. In contrast, among children with severe acute malnutrition (SAM), the predictive power of most clinical signs is lower. When fast breathing and lower chest wall indrawing are caused by pneumonia, they persist even after full rehydration, thus allowing for diagnosis of pneumonia after full rehydration.²²

Based on WHO recommendations. under-five severe malnutrition with complications (hypoglycemia, hypothermia, decreased consciousness/ lethargy, or looking sick) need to receive antibiotics (IM/IV). parenteral The selection of ampicillin and gentamicin has considered the coverage of the cause of infection among malnutrition accompanied by complications, both pneumonia and persistent diarrhea.³

We monitored our therapy by weighing and recording body weight after the transition phase in g/kg BW/d. The increase in body weight on the 13th d of treatment when compared to when it was admitted was still less than 5 g/kg BW/d. Evaluation of patients to find out the root of the problem of insufficient weight gain includes giving F-100 in the form of correct administration, correct frequency and correct volume spent by the patient, and there are comorbidities that have not been resolved.

Tuberculin test on day 13th showed no induration after 48 h. The sensitivity of the tuberculin test decreases in severe malnutrition children, and increasing the dose is necessary to increase the sensitivity,²⁵ so that in these patients the tuberculin dose is increased to 0.1 mL, but still no induration produced. Kumbhojkar *et al.*²⁶ reported that more than 70% of malnourished children with tuberculin showed negative results, and more positive results in well-nourished children.

Tuberculosis can mimic many common childhood diseases, including pneumonia, generalized bacterial and viral infections, malnutrition, and HIV infection.²⁷ Undernutrition increases the risk of TB and TB can cause or worsen undernutrition.⁸ This is why clinicians in such places rely mostly on a combination of epidemiology, history of exposure, clinical features, chest X-rays, and tuberculin skin test (TST) following WHO criteria in making a diagnosis and treating childhood TB. The Xpert MTB/ RIF assay, a highly sensitive real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) test, is specific for TB. However, it requires high-quality samples, is expensive, and is not readily available in resource-poor and TB-endemic.¹² National guidelines for the management of TB on children in limited resource area in Bangladesh use symptom-based screening as a good tool in case detection in resource-limited area.28

The 1999 WHO manual on the management of severe malnutrition suggested a screening of TB contacts as part of the initial history among children with malnutrition.8 Routine TB risk assessment among acutely malnourished children, combined with improved linkages with TB services, would help increase TB case finding and improve outcomes for children with TB and undernutrition. Guidelines from South Africa recommended considering TB on children with moderate acute malnutrition (MAM) and SAM, whereas Bangladesh recommended TB screening in the context of specific signs or symptoms such as cough for >2 wk, chest infection that fails to respond to antibiotics, or history of contact with a TB case, which could already count as TB risk assessment.

The diagnosis of TB in children relies on thorough assessment of all the evidence derived from a careful history of exposure, clinical examination and relevant investigations.²⁶ Clinical signs of TB in children are largely non-specific, such as unexplained weight loss or failure to grow normally, chronic cough, unexplained fever, especially when it continues for more than 2 wk.¹¹ Systemic signs and symptoms may appear early or late in the disease course. Daily fever, intermittent or persistent throughout the day, and usually lasts more than one week. The cough is usually unremitting for > 2 wk. Night sweats are uncommon, subjective and nonspecific, and are significant only when they drench the child's clothes and bedding. Chills and rigors are rare, except in disseminated disease. Anorexia and associated wasting or failure to thrive during the past 3–6 mo or having lost >10% of body weight over any interval of time.²⁷

Peripheral lymphadenopathy from TB typically consists of a unilateral, enlarged, non-painful, rubbery lymph node, sometimes becoming fluctuant, with or without spontaneous drainage in the form of a sinus tract. Respiratory signs and symptoms depend on the site, and degree of involvement.²⁷ The diagnosis of TB can be made with confidence in most children using careful clinical assessment.²⁸

Global laboratory initiative (GLI) model TB diagnostic algorithms 2018 recommend if no MTB detected by Xpert MTB/RIF or no test available is the evaluation of the clinical response after 3–5 d of antibiotic treatment. The presumptive TB treatment should start among patient with serious illness, danger signs, worsening conditions, or minimal improvement.²⁹ However, clinical signs of TB on our patient with severe malnutrition was subtle, and the diagnosis of TB were even more difficult due to the presentation of acute pneumonia, negative TST unavailability of radiological and examination in our institution. After the initiation of antituberculosis, the patient showed weight gain of 10 g/kg BW/d for the next 13 d. Patients were also able to tolerate full oral intake by the 23rd d of treatment. The patient was then discharged after 26 d of treatment with no medical complications, good appetite, and good clinical condition. The patient was routinely followed up to pediatric outpatient in our institution for continuous monitoring of weight gain and TB treatment.

The WHO recommends the use of standard-dose combination anti-TB therapy that includes rifampicin (R), isoniazid (H), pyrazinamide (Z) and ethambutol (E) in all children.³⁰ Children with malnutrition have altered drug metabolism, however, based on a systematic review of the efficacy, safety, and pharmacokinetics of antibiotics in children with SAM, further research is needed to guide optimal antibiotic treatment for these children.⁸ There was no significant difference in the half-life of H among the underweight compared to the well-nourished control children.³¹ Roy *et al.*³² reported no significant difference in the serum concentrations of H in moderately malnourished and wellnourished children. Among children treated for TB with thrice-weekly Z or E, the maximum concentration for Z was significantly reduced in severely malnourished compared with their wellnourished counterparts.³³ However, the maximum concentration for ethambutol showed no significant difference when compared for both groups of children.³⁰ Malnutrition was not associated with low plasma concentrations of isoniazid, rifampicin and ethambutol.³⁴ It may be safe to use doses lower than the WHO recommended doses of H, R and Z for acutely malnourished children with TB. However, doses should be increased gradually following nutritional recovery, according to the change in BMI, or weight-for-age and weight-for-height z-scores.³⁰

CONCLUSION

This case report describes the challenge of diagnosing TB in children with severely wasted in limited resource areas. The reduced immune responses due to severely wasted caused subtle clinical signs of TB and decreased sensitivity to tuberculin testing. The unavailability of radiologic examination added further problem in diagnosis. The diagnosis of TB should be considered among children in areas with a high prevalence of TB presenting with severely wasted refractory to proper nutritional management.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

No conflict of interest was declared.

REFFERENCES

1. Kementerian Perencanaan Pembangunan Nasional (Bappenas)/ UNICEF. Laporan baseline SDG tentang anak-anak di Indonesia. Jakarta: BAPPENAS dan UNICEF, 2017.

Available from: https://www. unicef.org/indonesia/sites/unicef. org.indonesia/-files/201906/SDG_ Baseline report%20Indonesian.pdf

- 2. UNICEF/WHO/World Bank Group. Levels and trends in child malnutrition: UNICEF/WHO/World Bank Group Joint Child Malnutrition Estimates: Keys Findings of the 2020 edition. Geneva (Switzerland): UNICEF/WHO/World Bank, 2020 [cited 2020 Dec 02]. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/ bitstreams/1273507/retrieve
- Kementrian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia. Pedoman pencegahan dan tatalaksana gizi buruk pada balita. Jakarta: Kementrian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia, 2019. Available from: Pedoman pencegahan dan tatalaksanan gibur pada balita.pdf. [cited 2020 Dec 05].
- 4. Kementrian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia. Riset kesehatan dasar 2018. Jakarta: Kementerian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia 2019. Available from: http://www.depkes. go.id/resources/download/infoterkini/. [cited 2020 Dec 07].
- Badan Pusat Statistik Provinsi Papua. Papua dalam angka 2020. Irian Jaya: Badan Pusat Statistik Provinsi Papua; 2020. Available from: https://papua. bps.go.id/publication/download. [cited 2020 Dec 10].
- UNICEF. Regional report on nutrition security in ASEAN, Vol 2. Bangkok: UNICEF, 2016 Available from: https:// www.asean.org/storage/2016/03/ Regional-Report-on-Nutrition-Security-in-ASEAN-Volume-2.pdf. [cited 2020 Dec 12].
- Kementrian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia. Pedoman pelayanan gizi pada masa tanggap darurat Covid-19. Kementerian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia; 2020. Available

from: https://covid19.go.id/storage/ app/media/Materi%20Edukasi/ pedoman-pelayanan-gizi padamasa-tanggap-darurat-pandemicovid-19-13-05-2020.pdf. [cited 2020 Dec 12].

- 8. Patel LN & Detjen AK. Integration of childhood TB into guidelines for the management of acute malnutrition in high burden countries. Public Health Action 2017; 7(2):110-5. https://doi.org/10.5588/pha.17.0018
- Kementerian Kesehatan Republik 9. Pedoman Nasional Indonesia. Pelayanan Kedokteran Tatalaksana Tuberkulosis. Kementerian Republik Kesehatan Indonesia; 2019. Available from: https:// rsparudungus.jatimprov.go.id/ wp-content/uploads/2020/03/ KMK-No.-HK.01.07-MENKES-755-2019-ttg-Pedoman-Nasional-Pelayanan-Kedokteran-Tata-Laksana-Tuberkolosis-1.pdf
- 10. WHO. Global tuberculosis report 2020. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/ bitstreams/1312164/retrieve
- 11. Roya-Pabon CL, Perez-Velez CM. Tuberculosis exposure, infection and disease in children: a systematic diagnostic approach. Pneumonia 2016; 8:23

https://doi.org/10.1186/s41479-016-0023-9

- 12. Chisti MJ, Salam MA, Shahid ASMSB, Shahunja KM, Das SK, Faruque ASG, *et al.* Diagnosis of tuberculosis following world health organizationrecommended criteria in severely malnourished children presenting with pneumonia. Global Pediatric Health 2017; 4:2333794X16686871. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333794X16686871
- Maqbool A, Parks EP, Shaikhkhalil A, Panganiban J, Mitchell JA, Stallings VA. Nutritional requirements. In: Kliegman RM, ST Geme JW, Shah SS, Tasker RC & Wilson KM, editors. Nelson textbook of pediatrics. 21

ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Inc, 2020; 55:303-21

14. Worku BN, Abessa TG, Wondafrash M, Vanvuchelen M, Bruckers L, Kolsteren P, *et al.* The relationship of undernutrition/psychosocial factors and developmental outcome of children in extreme poverty in Ethiopia. BMC Pediatrics 2018; 18(1):45.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12887-018-1009-y

- 15. Blaney S, Menasria L, Main B, Chhorvann C, Vong L, Chiasson L, *et al.* Determinants of undernutrition among young children living in South Nikum District, Siem Reap, Cambodia. Nutrients 2019; 11(3):685. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11030685
- Ngo J, Serra-Majem L. Hunger and Malnutrition. In: Ferranti P, Berry EM, Anderson JR, editors. Encyclopedia of Food Security and Sustainability. Philadelphia: Elsevier Inc. 2019:315-35.
- 17. Matarese G. Leptin and the immune system: how nutritional status influences the immune response. Eur Cytokine Netw 2000; 11(1):7-14.
- 18. Maurya R, Bhattacharya P, Dey R, Nakhasi H. Leptin function in infectious disease. Front Immunol 2018; 9:2741.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02741

 Rodríguez L, Cervantes E, Ortiz R. Malnutrition and gastrointestinal and respiratory infections in children: a public health problem. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2011; 8(4):1174-205.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph8041174

20. Valeria D, Ugo C, Claudio R. Acute malnutrition in children: Pathophysiology, clinical effects and treatment. Nutrients 2020; 12(8):2413.

https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12082413

21. WHO.RevisedWHOclassification and treatment of childhood pneumonia at health facilities: Implications for policy and implementation. Geneva:

World Health Organization, 2014. Available from: https://apps.who.int/ iris/bitstream/handle/. [cited 2021 May 22].

- 22. Chisti MJ, Tebruegge M, Vincente SL, Graham SM, Duke T. Pneumonia in severely malnourished children in developing countries-mortality risk, aetiology and validity of WHO clinical signs: a systematic review. Trop Med Int Health 2009; 14(10):1173-89. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3156.2009.02364.x
- 23. Arpitha G, Rehman MA, Ashwitha G. Effect of severity of malnutrition on pneumonia in children aged 2M-5Y at a tertiary care center in Khammam, Andhra Pradesh: a clinical study. Sch J App Med Sci 2014; 2:3199-203
- 24. Artawan, Purniti PS, Sidiartha IGL. The relationship between nutritional status with pneumonia severity in children at Sanglah Hospital, Bali, Indonesia. Sari Pediatri 2016; 17(6):418-22.
- 25. Lloyd AV. Tuberculin test in children with malnutrition. Br Med J 1968; 3(5617):529-31.
- https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.3.5617.529 26. Kumbhojkar SM, Sarawade S, Khalate S. A study of mantoux test reaction in protein energy malnutrition. IJHSR 2016; 6(2):78-83.
- 27. Mandal N, Anand PK, Gautam S, Das S, Hussain T. Diagnosis and treatment of peadiatric tuberculosis: an insight review. Crit Rev Microbiol 2017; 43(4):466-80. https://doi.org/10.1080/104084 1X.2016.1262813
- 28. NTP & WHO Bangladesh. National guidelines for the management of tuberculosis in children. Second edition. Bangladesh; NTP and WHO Bangladesh, 2016 Avaible from: https://www.who.int/docs/ default-source/searo/bangladesh/ pdf-reports/year-2016-2018/ national-guidelines-for-themanagement-of-tuberculosis-in-

child.pdf?sfvrsn=fa4456b8_2 . [cited 2021 May 23].

- 29. Global Laboratory Initiative. GLI model TB diagnostic algorithms. Global Laboratory Initiative, 2018. Avaible from;http://www.stoptb. org/wg/gli/assets/documents/ gli_ algorithms.pdf. [cited 2021 May 27].
- 30. Oshikoya KA, Senbanjo IO. Cation when treating tuberculosis in malnourished children. Arch Dis Child 2018;103(12):1101-3. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2018-314972
- 31. Oshikoya KA, Sammons HM, Choonara I. A systematic review of pharmacokinetics studies in children with protein-energy malnutrition. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2010; 66(10):1025-35.
 - https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-010-0851-0
- 32. Roy V, Gupta D, Gupta P, Sethi GR, Mishra TK. Pharmacokinetics

of isoniazid in moderately malnourished children with tuberculosis. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2010; 14(3):374-6.

33. Graham SM, Bell DJ, Nyirongo S, Hartkoorn R, Ward SA, Molynuex EM. Low levels of pyrazinamide and ethambutol in children with tuberculosis and impact of age, nutritional status, and human immunodeficiency virus infection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006; 50(2):407-13.

h t t p s : //d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 2 8 / AAC.50.2.407-413.2006

34. Mukherjee A, Velpandian T, Singla M, Kanhiya K, Kabra SK, Lodha R. Pharmacokinetics of isoniazid, rifampicin, pyrazinamide and ethambutol in Indian children. BMC Infect Dis 2015; 15:126. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-015-0862-7

180



Journal of the Medical Sciences (Berkala Ilmu Kedokteran)

Volume 54, Number 2, 2022; 181-201 http://dx.doi.org/10.19106/JMedSci005402202209

Obesity and the role of genetic polymorphism: A review of genes as the risk of obesity

Pramudji Hastuti

Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2021-04-26 Accepted : 2021-11-24 Obesity can be caused by environmental factors, which are higher energy input or lower energy expenditure. Environmental factors supported by genetic factors cause a person to have a different risk for developing obesity from to another. Genetics factors cause obesity through several pathways, which are impaired regulation in the hypothalamus and the regulation of energy expenditure. Obesity may be caused by one gene as monogenic-associated obesity, however, commonly caused by several genes together with environmental factors as the main multi-factorial risk of obesity. Obesity causes inflammation which leads to metabolic diseases. Many efforts are performed to prevent or treat obesity through the intervention to environmental and or genetic factors. Many attempts to reduce the prevalence of obesity were performed by influencing the environmental risk factors or the genetic risk factors. The genetic risks of obesity may be different from one to another country or between ethnic groups. In this review, we identified the main genes which influence obesity. Therefore, a better treatment approach should consider the differences role of genes in obesity rather than only changes in lifestyle. Nutrigenetic approach by considering the difference role of genes in responding to nutrients or drugs is recommended in individualized treatment plans.

ABSTRAK

Obesitas dapat disebabkan faktor lingkungan, yaitu masukan energi yang tinggi atau pengeluaran energi yang rendah. Faktor lingkungan yang didukung faktor genetik menyebabkan seseorang memiliki risiko obesitas yang berbeda antara satu orang dengan orang lain. Gena mempengaruhi terjadinya obesitas melalui beberapa jalur, yaitu terganggunya regulasi dalam hipotalamus dan pengaturan pengeluaran energi. Obesitas mungkin disebabkan oleh gena tunggal, tetapi umumnya beberapa gena bersama faktor lingkungan sebagai penyebab obesitas. Obesitas menyebabkan peradangan yang dikaitkan dengan timbulnya penyakit metabolik. Berbagai usaha dilakukan untuk mencegah atau mengobati obesitas dengan mempengaruhi faktor lingkungan atau genetik. Banyak upaya untuk menurunkan prevalensi obesitas dilakukan dengan mempengaruhi risiko faktor lingkungan dan genetik. Risiko genetik obesitas mungkin berbeda di satu antar negara atau antar kelompok etnik. Oleh karena itu, pendekatan pengobatan yang lebih baik harus mempertimbangkan perbedaan peran gena dalam obisetas daripada hanya perubahan gaya hidup. Pendekatan nutrigenomik dengan mempertimbangkan perbedaan peran gena dalam merespon nutrien atau obat disarankan dalam perencanaan pengobatan secara individu.

Keywords: energy expenditure; genetic; nutrigenetic; obesity; polymorphism

INTRODUCTION

Obesity is defined as abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair health. The main cause of obesity is excess energy intake with long-term and low-calorie use. Obesity increases the risk of metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, hypertension, musculoskeletal disease, and various types of cancer. Since 1975, the prevalence of obesity is increasing worldwide. A rapid increase in obesity is recorded in South East Asia, including in Indonesia.¹

Obesity is caused by the environment and genetic factors. Some individuals are more susceptible to becoming obese than others even in the same environments. When the population is in the same condition as an obesogenic environment, there are obese and normal-weight persons. This means that some individuals are more susceptible to becoming obese than others. These differences are influenced by the genetic variation in individuals. Over the past two decades and with the development of molecular technology, some studies have proven that several genes are associated with obesity. More than a hundred loci related to the polygenic of obesity in these genes have been identified.²

Based on genetic criteria, the causes of obesity are classified into monogenic, syndromic, and polygenic. Monogenic obesity is caused by a single gene mutation that affects increased input of food and reduces energy use.³ This is related to polymorphism or variation in genes associated with the hypothalamic system in the control of energy balance, which includes the leptin-melanocortin system. The result of this mutation leads to changes in the activity of hormones, enzymes, and receptors, which causes hyperphagia with the onset of obesity. Sometimes, these mutations are also correlated with endocrine abnormalities. Some mutation

genes correlated with monogenic obesity are *LEP* (leptin), *LEPR* (leptin receptor), *POMC* (pro-opiomelanocortin), *MC4R* (melanocortin-4-receptor), and *PCSK1* (preprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 1).⁴

Obesity as a syndrome is caused by a group of genes. Usually, this condition happens in obese patients with cognitive delays, hyperphagia, hypothalamic dysfunction, and organ abnormalities. Obesity is associated with intellectual disorders, dysmorphic disorders, organspecific abnormalities, and hypothalamic disorders. Some examples of related syndromes are Prader-Willi, Bardet-Biedl, Cohen, Alstrom, and X-fragile syndrome.⁵

Polygenic obesity is found in 95% of cases of obesity and many related genes cause this type of obesity while they are also influenced by environmental factors such as the obesogenic environment. Certain individuals can be susceptible to variations in obesity-causing genes through various pathways: i) appetite control (NPY, POMC, MC4R, etc.), ii) energy expenditure (uncoupling protein/UCP), or iii) inflammatory (adiponectin/ADIPOQ, tumor necrosis factor- α /TNF α , interleukon-6/IL6, Resistin/RETN, etc.).⁵

This review outlines some of the genetic factors that play a role in the occurrence of obesity through appetite control by the hypothalamic system, energy expenditure, and inflammation compared with other studies.

DISCUSSION

Genes associated with energy and appetite regulation in the hypothalamus

Obesity occurs due to a disorder in the regulation of energy metabolism. The central nervous system (CNS) plays an important key in controlling energy homeostasis, and the hypothalamus has a role in integrating and regulating the entire balance of the body. The hypothalamus is the part of the brain involved in the main controls of the intake of food and energy expenditure. In particular, the arcuate nucleus (ARC) located near the median eminence (ME) in the hypothalamus is essential in regulating metabolism. This ME organ facilitates the transport of peripheral hormones and nutritional signals by the ARC nerve. Thus, the ARC integrates hormonal metabolic signals and nutrients from peripheral circulation.⁶

There are two different types of functional antagonist neurons in ARC, which are orexigenic (appetitestimulating) neuropeptide Y (NPY) and protein-neuropeptide agouti-related Y (AgRP/NPY) and the anorexigenic pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC). Neuropeptide Y is an appetite stimulator that directly sends signals to the PVN (paraventricular nucleus) to increase appetite and adiposity in humans. AgRP (agouti-related protein) is an appetite-stimulating neurotransmitter that involves the antagonists MC3R (melanocortin-3-receptor) MC4R and (melanocortin-4-receptor) in the hypothalamus. Pro-opiomelanocortin is an appetite-inhibiting molecule that produces α , β , γ -MSH (melanocytestimulating hormone) and plays a role through MC4R and MC3R.⁷

When nutrients are enough, POMC undergoes hydrolysis into α -MSH to activate MC3R and MC4R and provide satiety. A disorder in MC4R causes the failure to give an appropriate response to the full condition which causes obesity due to hyperphagia.⁶

Pro-opiomelanocortin

The melanocortin system of the central nerve is an important point to control nutritional conditions, controlling appetite, and metabolic response. Some research shows the molecular pathways of melanocortin as central control of energy homeostasis and appetite to maintain body weight. Melanocortin is highly expressed in the pituitary and ARC in the hypothalamus and released into the blood circulation through the sympathetic nervous system. Melanocortin signal pathways are regulated in two ways i.e. leptin related signals and G protein-couple receptor-related signals.

Leptin-related signals

In this signaling pathway, leptin is produced by white adipose tissue (WAT) and after passing through the bloodbrain barrier it will be bound to specific leptin receptors in the hypothalamus. Leptin, through two groups of neurons POMC/CART (Cocaine and amphetamineregulated transcripts) and NPY/AgRP, increases POMC/CART and produces α , β , γ -MSH in post-translation, which inhibits NPY/AgRP.

G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR)related signals

At this signal, POMC peptides are activated by cAMP when it is bound to the G-proteins in MCR. In cell membranes, MCR is activated by ligand bonds resulting in changes in the conformation and translating of extracellular signals into biological responses. The MCR joins the Gs family of G-proteins and stimulates the cAMP/ ERK1/2 path. The Gs family forwards the signal from the MCR to adenylate cyclase converts ATP into cAMP to activate PKA which will involve the phosphorylated CREB family. This phosphorylated CREB will induce or inhibit the expression of genes containing CRE sequences (cAMPresponsive elements) in the promoter. The Gs subunit complex will modulate the ERK 1/2 path. This modulation facilitates the different biological functions of MCR⁷. Energy homeostasis involves chemical and neuronal signals in the human body to maintain the amount of energy expenses and regulate the input of energy through the sensation of hunger. MC3R and MC4R peptides and molecular signals of the central

melanocortin pathway regulate energy balance and homeostasis by activating or inhibiting leptin and its receptors by MC3R and MC4R in the hypothalamus.



IGURE 1. Energy balance and homeostasis are regulated by POMC/CART and NPY/ AGRP influenced by leptin via leptin receptor (Modified from Singh *et al.*⁷).

Adipocytes secrete leptin polypeptides which pass through the blood vessels of the brain and are bound to specific receptors on two parts of neurons in the hypothalamus ARC. The first part of the neuron is NPY/ AgRP with an appetite-enhancing effect as orexigenic, which can be inhibited by leptin receptors. The second is an appetite-lowering POMC/CART neuron as anorexigenic, which can be enhanced by leptin receptors. In this mechanism, POMC/CART by the influence of prohormone convertase 1 and 2 (PC 1 and PC2), is converted into ACTH, and subsequently converted into α -, β -, and γ -MSH. These results can activate the signal to the MCR 1-5 family, which plays an important role in the regulation of energy balance and its homeostasis (FIGURE 1).7

POMC is an appetite-suppressing gene, which produces α -, β -, γ -MSH, and ACTH through MC3R and MC4R. As a result of acute POMC and ACTH deficiency in the adrenal cortex, the

deficit causes childhood obesity from birth. Research in children with POMC gene mutations led to the occurrence of ACTH disorders with characteristics such as growth delay, mild hypothyroidism, reddish hair, and pale skin as a sign of α -MSH deficiency. In Pakistan, it was found Arg236Gly mutations in the POMC gene affected heterozygous obese subjects by 0.4%.8 Research in children carrying the Tyr221Cys variant that encodes β-MSH causes impaired MC4R activation thus leading to hyperphagia and obesity conditions.9 Polymorphism of POMC (C8246T) genes correlated with leptin levels in obese people of the Javanese population in Indonesia, carriers of CC and TC genotypes had higher leptin levels.¹⁰ This result is in accordance with other studies ¹¹⁻¹⁴ but in Caucasian females, this polymorphism is not significantly different¹⁵.

MC3R genetic mutation

This gene has one exon located on

chromosome 20 (20q.13.2-q13.3). MC3R also plays a role as an anti-inflammatory response. There are 15 missense mutations out of 18 mutations reported in the MC3R gene. Mutations in the MC3R gene are associated with obesity in humans. Research in Singapore found 183I/N, 69S/C, 70A/T, 87I/T, 134M/I, 249L/V, 260A/V, 280T/S, 275M/T and 297L/V polymorphisms. There are also reports of 33I/S variants being identified in obese subjects in the USA, Italy, and Poland. Other studies have also shown Thr280Ser mutations that can decrease gene expression resulting in ligand bond failure and intracellular cAMP signal failure.^{7,16}

MC4R genetic polymorphism

is the major MCR MC4R in melanocortin pathways. It is also a family of G-protein coupled receptors(GPCR) with seven transmembrane domains expressed in the hypothalamus, brain, muscles, adipocytes, and astrocytes. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) mutations that occur near the MC4R genes are associated with obesity. The SNP rs1778231 and rs129070134 are reportedly linked to obesity in Europe and India. MC4R mutations are more common in northern Europe compared to Asia. The polymorphism of Val103Ile is associated with abdominal obesity with a minor allele frequency (MAF) of 2-4% in heterozygous (103Val/Ile) compared with homozygous (103Val/Val).¹¹ There are 376 single-nucleotide variants (SNVs) in the MC4R gene area. These mutations cause failure in ligand bonds and affect the gene expression.¹²

Pro-convertase/ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase pyrodiesterase (PC1/ ENPP1)

PC1/ENPP1 enzyme is an endoprotease serine enzyme that depends on calcium (calcium-dependent

serine) which causes the maturation of several nucleotides. In mammals, this PC family consists of several members: PC1/3 (PCSK1)-PCSK9. PC1, and PC3 are widely expressed in neuroendocrine cells, and this enzyme breaks down prohormone and proneuropeptides in secretory granules. It is found with 14 exons and 13 introns in the PCSK1 gene located on chromosome 5 in humans.¹⁷

PC1/ENPP1 is an enzyme encoded by the PCSK 1 gene that breaks down POMC. Mutations in the PCSK 1 are correlated with obesity, impaired glucose tolerance, low plasma cortisol levels, and hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. This mutation also increased concentrations of proinsulin and POMC in plasma, but plasma insulin concentrations remained at very low levels.¹⁸ Other studies have suggested that there is a positive correlation between PCSK1 deficiency and obesity. In European populations, the prevalence of PCSK1 deficiency as a heterozygous carrier was 0.83% of the population. Other studies have also mentioned that the heterozygous variant PCSK1 is associated with obesity and impaired glucose metabolism in children.¹⁹ Polymorphism of PC-1 K121Q (G > T) (rs10444981) gene had higher leptin levels in GG genotype of the obese group compared to the control group in the Javanese population of Indonesia.¹⁰ This variation of genotype is a risk factor for T2DM in Indonesia²⁰ and this result is in line with other studies²¹⁻²³, but some research found this gene variation was not a significant risk factor for obesity and T2DM^{15,24-26}.

Leptin

Leptin is an adipokine with the function as a regulator of appetite through its action in the hypothalamus through POMC, AgRP, and MC4R. A homozygous leptin mutation causes leptin deficiency causes hunger and rapid weight gain. Patients with heterozygous leptin mutations showed low leptin levels and increased weight gain. Mutations in the leptin receptor gene (LEPR) can also cause monogenic obesity which can be treated with the administration of MC4R agonist drugs²⁶. Leptin is produced mainly by white adipose tissue (WAT) cells. Biosynthesis and secretion of leptin depend on the amount of WAT and the status of energy storage. Leptin is also known as a hormone that provides satiety. Leptin as an active protein secreted into circulation will be transported to the brain through its receptors in the hypothalamus causing decreasing expression of genes encoded NPY, POMC, and corticoliberin (CRH) with decreased appetite and reduced consumption of food that decrease body weight and increase energy use. Leptin is a factor that protects against hunger and obesity. Leptin may also increase insulin sensitivity in peripheral tissues and increase glucose uptake and oxidation in skeletal muscles. Leptin also has thermogenesis action through the regulation of mitochondrial proteins in brown adipose tissue (BAT).²⁷

Leptin and leptin receptors can regulate fat catabolism and energy intake. In the ARC in the hypothalamus, leptin is bound to its receptors and inhibits the NPY/AgRP pathway increasing appetite (orexigenic) and activating the POMC/CART pathway, which decreases appetite (anorexigenic). Leptin deficiency in humans can occur due to frame-shift mutations in the homozygous gene (deletion G133) and result in shorter protein molecules with impaired function.⁷ A study showed that two leptin receptor gene polymorphisms in rs1137100 (109K/R) and rs1137101 (223Q/R) were found higher in body weight, waist circumference, and leptin levels in the obesity group than in the control. The frequency of 103R/R homozygous in the obesity group was higher than in the control, while 223Q/R polymorphism was associated with obesity and leptin levels²⁸ in the Western and Eastern of Indonesia.²⁹ Additionally, this polymorphism was correlated with metabolic syndrome in the Chinese population³⁰ and hypertension,³¹⁻³² but this polymorphism was not found to be a risk factor for metabolic syndrome and obesity,³³ in Turkish children nor hypertension in Chinese populations.³⁴ A summary of mutations of genes that cause obesity through regulation in the hypothalamus is presented in TABLE 1.

Genes	Effect of mutation	Some mutations found	References
NPY	Changes in the signal sequence, affect the signal of energy balance, and inhibit lipolysis	rs17149106 (G>T), rs16147 (C>T), rs16139 (T>C), rs5574 (C>T	11,12,13
РОМС	Impaired MC4R activation and loss of melanocortin signaling in melanocortin receptor and leptin- melanocortin pathway	Arg236Gly Tyr221Cys C8246T	8,10, 14, 15
MC3/3R	Decreased expression, failure in ligand bond, intracellular cAMP signal failure	183I/N, 69S/C, 70A/T, 87I/T, 134M/I, 249L/V, 260A/V, 280T/S, 275M/T and 297L/V, 33I/S, Thr280Ser	7, 16, 17
MC4/MC4RR	Failure in ligand bonds and affect the expression	rs1778231, rs129070134 Val103Ile	9
Leptin/receptor leptin	Disturbance of the leptin signal causes increases food intake, positive energy balance, and the accumulation of fat.	Lys109Arg, Gln223Arg G133 del	28-34
PC1	Failure in the processing of POMC to some peptides	K121Q (G > T) (rs10444981)	10, 15, 20-26

TABLE 1. Effect of mutation genes causes obesity in energy balance through the hypothalamus

Genes related to energy expenditure

There are two types of adipose tissue in mammals i.e. white adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT). WAT plays a role in energy homeostasis in the body by storing excess energy as triglycerides and releasing free fatty acids (FFAs) when the energy is needed. BAT specifically regulates energy consumption to give heat production response to maintaining body in temperature. BAT plays an important role in regulating energy balance.³⁵ Obesity-related genes in maintaining energy expenditure include uncoupling proteins (UCP1, UCP 2, and UCP 3) and adrenoceptor-β (ADRB1, ADRB 2, and ADRB 3).

Uncoupling protein (UCP)

Uncoupling proteins (UCPs) are a group of mitochondrial proteins contained in mitochondrial membranes that serve to transport protons to the mitochondrial matrix. Mitochondrial respiration releases the extrusion of protons (H⁺) out of the mitochondria into the intermembrane of mitochondrial, producing potential redox and encouraging ATP synthase. UCP pumps protons from the intermembrane to the mitochondrial matrix and removes proton gradients while reducing ATP production and superoxide production.³⁶

UCP1 has been extensively studied and is mostly found in brown adipocyte mitochondria. A total of 8% of UCP1 are found in mitochondrial proteins. UCP1 is characterized as an important transporter for mitochondrial Cold membranes. А environment. increased thyroid hormones. norepinephrine, and stimulation of adrenergic and cAMP may increase UCP1 gene expression. UCP1 plays a role in the regulation of energy consumption, thermogenesis, and reactive oxygen species (ROS). The mechanism is associated with the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus and obesity. UCP2 and UCP3 are homologous of UCP1. UCP2 is found in mitochondria of adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, kidneys, liver, lungs, and macrophages. Meanwhile, UCP3 is found in many skeletal muscles. UCP 4 and UCP5 are found commonly in the nerves of the central nervous system (CNS).³⁶

Mutations in the UCP genes cause decreased energy consumption and increased risk of weight gain and are associated with metabolic diseases. The UCP1 gene is present on chromosome 4 in g31.1, which consists of 6 exons with 9-kb length. Some studies found SNPs in the noncoding region of such as A3826G the UCP1 gene, (rs1800592), A1766G(rs3811791), and A112C (rs10011540), and coding region Ala64Thr (rs45539933) and Met229Leu (rs2270565). SNP A>G's position at -3826 bp (rs1800592) of 5' noncoding gene is found in Canada with G allele and is associated with increased body weight, and increased risk of diseases correlated with obesity. In another study in Australia, allele G was associated with an increase in body weight and high blood glucose concentrations in women. Another study on women in India found that the GG genotype is linked to obesity and increased blood pressure. Research in Italy found that the G allele is associated with decreased insulin sensitivity in the obese group.

Another mutation is substitution A in G in the -1766 (rs3811791) nucleotide of the *UCP1* gene. The allele variant -1766G is associated with severe obesity with waist-hip ratio, body fat percentage, and increased amount of abdominal fat parameters. Studies in Korea found that the carriers of the haplotype polymorphisms A3826G and A1766G have a high percentage of body fat. Another polymorphism at A112C in the UCP1 gene involving the allele C showed decreases in the promoter activity of the UCP1 gene, which were correlated with insulin response and associated with insulin resistance in patients with T2DM.³⁷

UCP2 is highly expressed in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue, involved in energy regulation in the metabolism of lipids. DNA sequencing found there is a substitution of alanine by valine in exon 4 and insertion/deletion 45 bp 3'UTR in exon 8 of UCP2 gene. This polymorphism contributes to the variation in metabolic rate and adiposity in adipose tissue. There is a correlation between UCP2 mRNA in adipose tissue and body weight in humans, in which the UCP2 overexpression is correlated with obesity.7 Polymorphism of 55A/V occurs in exon 4 UCP2 where substitution C by T nucleotide causes alanine substitution for valine at position 55 amino acid sequence of the UCP2. Some studies found carriers of V/V genotype have a higher risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus and obesity compared with carriers of A/V and A/A genotype. Insertion/deletion of 45 bp at 3'UTR of exon 8 of UCP2 and downstream polymorphism of 158 bp of stop codon increases the risk of obesity. In Indonesia, polymorphism of 55A/V UCP2 genotype in the male group showed that V/V genotype and V allele significantly lower the risk of obesity. Insertion/deletion of 45 bp UCP2 gene in the male group showed that insertion/ insertion genotype and insertion allele significantly increase the risk of obesity whereas for females it showed that the insertion/deletion genotype and insertion allele lowered the risk of obesity.³⁸ The increase of UCP2 expression involves decrease of ATP synthesis lead to decrease of insulin secretion and increase risk of T2DM. G allele polymorphism of G866A is associated with decreased mRNA expression, increased body weight, body fat mass, and risk of height/ body weight. Allele -866A is associated with obesity and high insulin level in the Indian people. In Indonesia, variations of UCP2 (Ala55Val and I/D45 bp) are risk factors

for obesity with different stratification of gender.³⁹ In some populations, this polymorphism is considered as a risk factor for obesity,⁴⁰⁻⁴³ risk of diabetes,^{44,45} and chronic kidney disease.⁴⁶ However, in Italian⁴⁷ and French populations⁴⁸ this polymorphism is not found to be a risk factor for obesity.

UCP3 gene polymorphism, i.e. substitution of nucleotide C/T at position 55 occurs in the promoter and near the TATA box. The SNP's in this location has an effect on the transcription of the UCP3 gene and influences the expression of UCP3 mRNA in skeletal muscles which is correlated with metabolic function. One study found that body weight increased in someone carrying 55T allele in Scandinavia.³⁷

β2-adrenergic receptors

 β -adrenergic receptors are a family of GPCR and catecholamine targets, specifically epinephrine through the sympathetic nervous system (SNS). β-adrenergic receptors play an important role in the risk of excess body weight and are associated with the regulation inflammatory cytokines. of These receptors consist of three classes: β 1, β 2, and β 3-adrenergic receptors (ADRB1, ADRB2, ADRB 3). Molecular signals that occur in the body can trigger activation of β -adrenergic receptors such as β-adrenergic receptors following the PKA/c-AMP pathway through activation in the SNS. Epinephrine stimulates ADRB and then activates the Gs family, especially $G\alpha$. Furthermore, $G\alpha$ binds adenylate cyclase enzyme to catalyze the conversion of ATP into cAMP. After that, cAMP will activate cAMP-dependent kinase which will stop the epinephrine action. This pathway will eventually regulate energy expenditure and lipolysis.³

There is evidence that ADRB receptors participate in human weight regulation and some gene polymorphisms in ADRB receptors affect metabolic complications and increase weight. The ADRB2 gene is located on chromosome 5g31-32 and consists of 2 kb DNA length. ADRB2 gene encodes proteins with a length of 413 amino acids. ADRB2 is found in fat cells, blood vessels, heart, and respiratory tract. These receptors are responsible for stimulating lipolysis activity in adipose tissue and controlling the smooth muscles. The ADRB2 gene includes some polymorphisms in the population. Around 80 polymorphisms have been identified, and some are in SNPs that occur in the 5'-untranslated region (UTR) associated with obesity. The SNPs of 34V/M, 16R/G 27Q/E, and 16T/I. Of the two SNPs, 16R/G and 27Q/E have a minor allele frequency (MAF) of 40-50%, 16T/I with MAF of 1-3%, and the 34V/M with MAF of less than 1%.49

Variation in the ADRB2 gene is identified as cause increased body weight and lipid metabolism disorders in females in codon 27 (27Q/E). 27E alleles are associated with increased body weight, subcutaneous fat, and increased levels of leptin and triglycerides in males, while women are associated with increased body weight, body fat mass, and waist-hip ratio.⁷ 16R/G polymorphism (rs1042713) and 27Q/E (rs1042714) in the ADRB2 gene are associated with the risk of weight gain, high blood pressure, metabolic syndrome, and asthma. Polymorphism is also often associated with changes in the activity of the SNS and results in lipolysis, metabolic and cardiovascular regulation. There is some correlation between asthma in 16R alleles and 27E alleles in obese individuals in Javanese populations.⁵⁰ Polymorphisms of 16R/G shows that carriers of R/G genotype had decreased risk of obesity compared to the R/R genotype. Q/E genotype of 27Q/E increases the risk of obesity. Q/Q and Q/E genotypes had significant differences for plasma insulin in the obese group. The combination of 16R/G and 27Q/E genotypes decreased the risk of obesity compared to 16R/R + 27E/E.⁵¹ This result is in accordance with studies in white⁵² and Korean population.⁵³ However, Kawamura et al.52 reported that polymorphism of ADRB 2 is not a risk factor for obesity in the Japanese-American population. А detailed summary of polymorphisms of the UCP1, 2, 3 and ADRB genes is presented in TABLE 2

TABLE 2. Effect of mutation genes that c	cause obesity to influence e	nergy expenditure
--	------------------------------	-------------------

Genes	Effect of mutation	Some mutation found	Reference
UCP1/3	Decrease UCP protein expression and lower energy expenditure	A3826G, A-1766G, A112C, Ala64Thr, Met229Leu, C55T	37
UCP2	Decrease UCP protein expression and lower energy expenditure	Ala55Val, I/D 45 bp	39-48
β-adrenergic/ receptor	Regulate energy by stimulating lipolysis and thermogenesis through activation of catecholamine induction from adenylate cyclase through the G protein overexpression of adiponectin adipocytes it caused an increase in adipogenesis and lipid storage	34V/M, 16R/G 27Q/E, 16T/I +276G > T	51-54

Genes association of obesity and inflammation

Inflammation is the body's defense mechanism. Obesity is а chronic inflammatory low-level condition. This inflammation is different from general inflammation because there are no signs of inflammation, but it has similarities because this disorder is caused by inflammatory signaling pathways. Obesity that is associated with inflammation is caused by increased adipose tissue, increased production adipocytokines, of and causes inflammation associated with certain pathophysiological processes.

The inflammatory process happens if blood cells (neutrophils, eosinophils, monocytes, and lymphocytes) enter adipose tissue. An increase in the number of adipocyte cells that occurs in obesity leads to an increase in the number of pro-inflammatory molecules such as adipokine/chemokine. Increases of these molecules have an effect on the endothelium to increase the production of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM) and vascular adhesion molecules (VCAM), polymorphonuclear phagocytes and mononuclear out into the extravascular compartment. Adipocytokines include leptin, which activates endothelial cells and causes the accumulation of macrophages in adipose tissue, will releasing pro-inflammatory molecules. Other adipocytokines, such as resistin induce the expression of adhesion molecules (VCAM-1 and ICAM-1) in endothelial cells and increase the synthesis and secretion of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , and IL-6. and IL-12. In the inflammatory process, macrophagesinadiposetissuewillrelease chemoattractants for macrophages, resulting in chronic inflammation. The accumulation of macrophages in adipose tissue plays an important role in the increase of inflammatory mediators (IL-8, IL-6, IL-1, and TNF- α) causes oxidative stress, hypoxia, and lipolysis in the adipose continuing in increasing the production of adipositokin.⁵⁵ Some of the genes associated with inflammation and obesity are shown in FIGURE 2.



FIGURE 2. Obesity causes an increase in inflammation and is influenced by variations of genes and environment factors.

Adiponectin

Adiponectin is a 28 KDa protein consisting of 244 amino acids with a role as an anti-inflammatory cytokine.⁵⁶ Adiponectin is secreted by various types of cells including adipocyte and endothelial cells. The anti-inflammatory effects of adiponectin are mediated by two adiponectin receptors (AdipoR1 and AdipoR2). The binding of adiponectin to its receptors will activate several signals such as IRS-1/2, AMPK, and MAPK p38. Activation of IRS-1/2 by adiponectin signals is involved in the sensitization of insulin. In the liver, adiponectin activates glucose transporters and inhibits gluconeogenesis through AMPK, stimulating catabolism of lipids and lowering inflammation through the PPAR α pathway. Adiponectin is also found to modulate eating behavior and energy expenditure during fasting through central effects. Adiponectin levels are inversely proportional to obesity, insulin sensitivity, type 2 DM, and metabolic syndrome.57

Adiponectin levels in the blood are lower in obese individuals compared to normal weight. There is a gene that encodes adiponectin located on the third chromosome (3g27) close to the locus responsible for the presence of type 2 DM and obesity. Some research on obese subjects found SNP in the adiponectin gene. There is a genetic variation of about 30-70% that affects plasma adiponectin levels. One of the SNP's adiponectin genes is +45T>G (rs2241766) on exon 2 which does not change amino acid sequences.⁵⁸ Polymorphism of +276G>T of adiponectin gene in Indonesia is not considered a risk factor for obesity nor DM. Polymorphism of ADRB is a risk factor for obesity with diabetes in the Indian population,⁵⁹ adult women,⁶⁰ and a risk factor for coronary artery disease,⁶¹ metabolic syndrome,⁶² and hypertension.63

Resistin

Resistin is produced and released from WAT tissue. It is produced at low levels in preadipocyte, endothelial cells, and vascular skeletal muscle cells, but resistin is mostly found in peripheral mononuclear and spinal cells. Resistin has 11 cysteine residues at the end of the C-terminal. Peptide resistin is rich in cysteine 12.5 kDa and consists of 108 amino acids in humans. The human resistin gene (Retn) is found on chromosome 19. Resistin has a role in activating TNF- α and IL-12 in macrophages and monocytes.⁶⁴

The release of human resistin is mediated by inflammatory factors such as stimulation of lipopolysaccharide or cytokines, IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α . In vivo, resistin can increase cell adhesion molecules in endothelial cells so that there is an increase of ICAM-1, VCAM-1, and Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) as opposed to the effect of the adipokine, adiponectin. This increase in resistin levels is correlated with an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines, especially in patients with metabolic syndrome. Some studies found that increased resistin levels are correlated with increased levels of C-reactive protein and TNF- α . These data stated that the increased level of resistin is associated with increased inflammation.64

The relationship between serum resistin, BMI, and body fat was reported that the expression of resistin mRNA and protein levels are detected in subcutaneous and visceral abdominal adipocyte, and serum resistin levels are higher in obesity. Resistin is also a marker in fat distribution because it is specifically associated with abdominal fat deposits. The relationship between resistin and obesity is stronger in the female subjects compared to men. Diet and physical exercise can lower resistin levels, which is followed by a decrease in BMI and fat mass.⁶⁵

Some SNPs are identified in the Retn gene but only a minor allele frequency of 5% is associated with disease risk. There are several SNP in Retn (-537 and -420) and +299 (IVS2 +181G \rightarrow A) associated with an increase in BMI. Increased serum resistin is reported in type 2 DM subjects carrying -420G/G genotype. Obesity research in Japan reported SNP -638G>A, -420C>G, and -358G>A although associated with serum resistin, but no significant difference was found in obese subjects and controls and was not correlated with insulin resistance⁶⁶. In research on obese people in Indonesia, polymorphism of +299G > A is associated with insulin resistance and resistin level, negatively correlated with insulin level but -420 C/G and +62G>A polymorphism was not correlated with DM risk⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹ while resistin is correlated with a marker of inflammation.70

TNF- α

TNF-α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that can provide an immunological response. Activation of the immunologic system during infection or injury causes metabolic changes.⁷¹ TNF- α is expressed on the surface of transmembrane protein cells and is involved in the pathogenesis of various inflammatory diseases. The TNF- α gene is located on chromosome 6.p21.1—21.3. TNF- α is involved in the metabolism of fat and causes a higher level of triglycerides in the blood as a result of decreased activity of lipoprotein lipase and increased synthesis of hepatic fatty acids in the body. Subjects with obesity are associated with high $TNF-\alpha$ expression and correlated with higher insulin levels. In addition, TNF-α is known to regulate the expression and secretion of leptin⁷². In WAT obese individuals, proinflammatory M1 macrophages form crown-like structures and surround dead adipocyte cells. Increased macrophages

M1 in WAT obesity is a major source of TNF- $\!\alpha$ and IL-6. 73

Substitution of guanine by adenine in the promoter (-308G/A TNF- α gene) has been identified to be associated with higher blood pressure, leptin levels, and higher cholesterol level leading to the development of the metabolic syndrome. Research into Caucasian and Chinese populations found a correlation between -308G TNF- α alleles and obesity risk. Other studies have also found that AA and GA genotypes are more common in male obese individuals, whereas in female individuals AG genotype is associated with a higher risk of obesity.⁷¹ In another study in Brazil, -308G/A polymorphism in TNF- α promoters, A allele, GA, and AA genotypes contribute to increased insulin resistance and excess body weight in adult.⁷³ In the Javanese population, this gene polymorphism showed that GA genotype patients have lipid and $TNF-\alpha$ levels higher than the GG genotype, and variation of -308 G/A TNF- α gene plays a role in a higher risk of obesity,^{74,75} risk of breast cancer,⁷⁶ hypertension,⁷⁷ and inflammatory bowel disease.78

Interleukin-6

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is a proinflammatory cytokine that influences the activity of the brain, metabolic regulation, and the development of various cancers. IL-6 cytokines are bound to IL-6R membrane receptors and the complex IL-6 and IL-6R are associated with glycoprotein 130 kDa in which dimerization will initiate signals via Janus kinase (JAK)/signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) and phosphoinositide-3 kinase pathways.

IL-6 plays an important role in inflammatory signaling pathways and is associated with obesity as well as visceral adipose tissue. Genetic variants of IL-6 in the promoter of genes affect the function and expression. Polymorphism in functional promoter IL-6-174G/C affects IL-6 transcription. The human IL-6 gene is located on the 7p21 chromosome, and -174G/C polymorphism is thought to be associated with obesity risk.⁷⁹ In the obese group of western Indonesia, carriers of the CC genotype had higher CRP and lower IL-6 levels than the GC and GG genotypes. The frequency of CC genotype in the obese group is 47.2% compared with 28.1% in controls and these genotypes and the allele are considered a risk factor for obesity.⁸⁰⁻⁸⁴ Effects of gene mutation correlated with obesity and inflammation are summarized in TABLE 3.

Genes	Effect of mutation	Some mutation found	Reference
Adiponectin	Anti-inflammatory cytokine	+45T>G (rs2241766), +276G>T	20, 57, 58-63
Resistin	Binding of a transcription factor on RETN promoter, activating TNF- α , IL-11, IL-6, IL-12	+62G>A, -420C>G, +299G>A, -638G>A, -358G>A	66-70
TNF-alpha	Modification of the binding sites in certain transcription factors, and affect the regulation of transcription and secretion. TNF- α binds to the receptor will increase the cellular and pro-inflammatory NF-kB and activation of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase	-308 G/A	74-79
Interleukin-6	Affect a transcriptional system, release truncated protein, initiates signals via Janus kinase and phosphoinositide-3 kinase pathways	-174G/C	80-84
Endothelin-1	Affect the synthesis of endothelin-1 and increase levels of endothelin concentration.	T-1370G, 198K/N, G2288T, T-1370G, +138/ins/del	85-87

TABLE 3. Effects of mutation genes that cause obesity and inflammation

Endothelin-1

A recent study found there is a positive correlation between higher body weight and endothelin-1 (ET-1) levels. ET-1 is a vasoactive peptide primarily produced and released by endothelial cells. Most ET-1 circulation is derived from vascular endothelial cells and is synthesized by adipocyte tissue. There are ET-2 and ET-3, but ET-1 is the most dominant molecule and has an effect. Active ET-1 is a hormone with 21 amino acids the result of the translation process as preproendothelin with 200 amino acids and hydrolyzed and modified by endothelin converting enzymes (ECEs), resulting in mature and secreted ET-1. Its receptors occur in various tissues such as endothelium, vascular skeletal muscle cells, adipocytes, and hepatocytes. The secretion of ET-1 helps the metabolic

function in healthy individuals. When ET-1 levels increase in plasma it can lead to a variety of health problems.

Obese patients have an increase in plasma ET-1 levels when compared to normal-weight individuals. This increase in ET-1 production is mainly in adipose tissues. Adipose in obese patients can release ET-1, which can be 2 to 3 times higher than in normal-weight subjects. The increase in ET-1 contributes to lipid regulation and is a risk factor for insulin resistance in some patients with obesity due to their interactions with ETA and ETB subtype receptors. Stimulation of ET-1 is associated with increased expression of TNF-α by macrophages and increased transcription rate of IL-6, NFκβ, and monocyte chemotactic protein-1.85 In the Javanese population, variation of 198K/N ET-1 gene, 198N/N genotype is a risk factor of obesity compared to

198K/K genotype. Levels of ET-1 plasma are higher in obese subjects than that of control subjects, and N/N genotype has the highest ET-1 plasma level.⁸⁶

ET-1 or EDN-1 is a polypeptide that has vasoconstriction activity and mitogenic effects, in the heart has positive inotropic and chronotropic characters, stimulates sympathetic and renin-angiotensin-aldosterone systems, as well as homeostasis modification. The human ET-1 gene consists of 6836 nucleotides located on the 6p23-p24 chromosome, capable of producing prepro-ET-1 that can be hydrolyzed into large ET-1s. There are several variants of the ET-1 gene, including transversion, insertion, and transition. repeated nucleotide polymorphisms, which affect the genetic risk of cardiovascular diseases. and other related Ten polymorphisms including transversions have been found: -1370 (T-1370G), +5665 (198K/N), G2288T polymorphisms (rs2070699), and -974 C>A (rs3087459). Transitional polymorphisms are +3660 (106E/E), G8002A (rs2071942), rs1476046, rs2071943, and rs9296345 polymorphisms. addition, In the polymorphism of insertion/deletion is +138 (+138/ex1ins/delA) (rs1800997). Some are associated with significantly diseases (phenotypes), different especially cardiovascular system-related diseases such as high blood pressure, ischemia. angina, and coroner's syndrome. Some other related diseases are asthma, lung edema, hearing loss, obesity, and sleep apnea.⁸⁷

The differences in results and the limitation of the genetic study in the various populations are due to differences in the gene pool for each population which has different genetic variations, genes associated with obesity are numerous, environmental factors and eating habits in each population/ ethnic are different. The pathogenesis of obesity is complex, where one variation of a gene can affect the genes located nearby that influence these diseases. Additionally, the studies of genes and obesity are not able to control all of the confounding factors and differences in criteria or design variables used in the research protocols.

CONCLUSION

There are some genetic factors that contribute to the causes of obesity by acting through control mechanisms in the hypothalamus or changes in energy expenditure. Some genetic variations can influence obesity and may have different risks within some ethnic groups in the world. These results can be used for consideration if treatment will be conducted in different populations, and there may be nutrigenetic or pharmacogenetic variations which could give different results.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Author would like to thank Maya Uzia B. for the assistance to prepare this manuscript.

REFERENCES

- 1. Blüher M. Obesity: Global epidemiology and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2019; 15(5):288-98. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0176-8
- Albuquerque D, Nóbrega C, Manco L, Padez C. The contribution of genetics and environment to obesity. Br Med Bull 2017; 123(1):159-73. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldx022
- 3. Rohde K, Keller M, la Cour Poulsen L, Blüher M, Kovacs P, Böttcher Y. Genetics and epigenetics in obesity. Metabolism 2019; 92:37-50. h t t p s : //doi.org/10.1016/j. metabol.2018.10.007
- 4. Pinto RM, Steinmetz LS, Barbosa JMG, Mendes AFCS, Curado MP, da Cruz AD. The role of genetics in the pathophysiology of obesity: A

systematic review. Obes Res - Open J 2019; 6(1):11-7.

https://doi.org/10.17140/OROJ-6-137

- Huvenne H, Dubern B, Clément K, Poitou C. Rare genetic forms of obesity: Clinical approach and current treatments in 2016. Obes Facts 2016; 9(3):158-73. https://doi.org/10.1159/000445061
- 6. Timper K, Brüning JC. Hypothalamic circuits regulating appetite and energy homeostasis: Pathways to obesity. DMM Dis Model Mech 2017; 10(6):679-89.

https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.026609

- Singh RK, Kumar P, Mahalingam K. Molecular genetics of human obesity: A comprehensive review. Comptes Rendus - Biol 2017; 340(2):87-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crvi.2016.11.007
- 8. Shabana and Hasnain S. Prevalence of POMC R236G mutation in Pakistan. Obes Res Clin Pract 2016; 10(1):S110-6.
- 9. Yang Y, Xu Y. The central melanocortin system and human obesity. J Mol Cell Biol 2021; 12(10):785-97.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjaa048

- 10. Hastuti P, Tasmini, Cholid A, Sadewa AH. Polymorphism of prohormone convertase-1 and proopiomelanocortin associated with leptin level in Javanese ethnic of Indonesia. AIP Conf Proc 2019. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5098413
- 11. Yeung EH, Zhang C, Chen J, Bowers K, Hu FB, Kang G, Qi L. Polymorphisms in the neuropeptide Y gene and the risk of obesity: findings from two prospective cohorts. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011; 96(12):E2055-62. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-0195

https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2011-0195

12. Ding B, Kull B, Liu Z, Mottagui-Tabar S, Thonberg H, Gu HF, *et al.* Human neuropeptide Y signal peptide gain-of-function polymorphism is associated with increased body mass index: possible mode of function. Regul Pept 2005; 127(1-3):45-53.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

regpep.2004.10.011

- 13. Aberle J, Flitsch J, Beck NA, Mann O, Busch P, Peitsmeier P, *et al.* Genetic variation may influence obesity only under conditions of diet: analysis of three candidate genes Mol Genet Metab 2008; 95:188-91. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 10.1016/j. ymgme.2008.07.008
- 14. Kulanuwat S, Santiprabhob J, Phonrat B, Limwongse C. Association between rs155971 in the PCSK1 gene and the lipid profile of obese Thai children: A family-based study. Genet Mol Res 2015; 14(3):9136-44. https://doi.org/10.4238/2015.August.7.23
- 15. Chen Y, Snieder H, Wang X, Kaviya B, McCaffrey C, Spector TD, *et al.* Proopiomelanocortin gene variants are associated with serum leptin and body fat in normal female population. Eur J Hum Genet 2005; 13(6):772-80.

https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201407

16. Yang F, Yang F, Tao YX. Biased signaling in naturally occurring mutations in human melanocortin-3 receptor gene. Int J Biol Sci 2015; 11(4):423-33.

https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.11032

- 17. Stijnen P, Ramos-Molina B, O'Rahilly S, Creemers JWM. PCSK1 mutations and human endocrinopathies: From obesity to gastrointestinal disorders. Endocr Rev 2016; 37(4):347-71. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2015-1117
- Klein S, Romijn JA. Obesity. In: Melmed S, Polonsky KS, Larsen PR, Kronenberg HM editors, William Texbook of Endocrinology, 13th ed. Philadephia: Elsevier Inc., 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-29738-7.00036-8
- 19. Courbage S, Poitou C, Le Beyec-Le Bihan J , Karsenty A, Lemale J, Pelloux V, *et al.* Implication of heterozygous variants in genes of the leptin-melanocortin pathway in severe obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2021; 106(10):2991-3006.

https://doi.org/10.1210/clinem/dgab404

- 20. Arianti R, Ariani NL, Muhammad A, Sadewa AH, Farmawati A, Sunarti, *et al.* Influence of single nucleotide polymorphism of ENPP1 and ADIPOQ on insulin resistance and obesity: A case-control study in a Javanese population. Life 2021; 11:552. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11060552
- 21. Hsiao TJ, Lin E. The ENPP1 K121Q polymorphism is associated with type 2 diabetes and related metabolic phenotypes in a Taiwanese population. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2016; 433:20-5.
- 22. Weedon MN, Shields B, Hitman G, Walker M, McCarthy MI, Hattersley AT, *et al.* No evidence of association of ENPP1 variants with type 2 diabetes or obesity in a study of 8089 U.K. Caucasians. Diabetes 2006; 55:3175-9.

https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-0410

23. Morandi A, Pinelli L, Petrone A, Vatin V, Buzzetti R, Froguel P, *et al.* The Q121 variant of ENPP1 may protect from childhood overweight/obesity in the Italian population. Obesity 2006; 17:202-6.

https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.470

- 24. Baker M, Gaukrodger N, Mayosi BM, Imrie H, Farrall M, Watkins H, *et al.* Association between common polymorphisms of the proopiomelanocortin gene and body fat distribution: a family study. Diabetes 2005; 54(8):2492-6. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 2 3 3 7 / diabetes.54.8.2492
- 25. Wang R, Zhou D, Xi B, Ge X, Zhu P, Wang B, *et al.* Association between vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms and bone mineral density in Chinese women. Biomed Environ Sci 2012; 24(2):200-6.
- 26. Bochenski J, Placha G, Wanic K, Malecki M, Sieradzki J, Warram JH, *et al.* New polymorphism of ENPP1 (PC-1) is associated with increased risk of type 2 diabetes among

obese individuals. Diabetes 2006; 55(9):2626-30.

https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-0191

27. Zorena K, Jachimowicz-Duda O, Ślęzak D, Robakowska M, Mrugacz M. Adipokines and obesity: Potential link to metabolic disorders and chronic complications. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21(10):18pages.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21103570

- 28. Hastuti P, Zukhrufia I, Padwaswari MH, Nuraini A, Sadewa AH. Polymorphism in leptin receptor gene was associated with obesity in Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Egypt J Med Hum Genet 2016; 17(3):271-6. h t t p s : //d o i . o r g / 10.1016/j. ejmhg.2015.12.011
- 29. Hastuti P, Muhammad A. Correlation of leptin receptor gene variation with blood pressure and glucose level in type 2 diabetes mellitus subjects of Ternate population, East of Indonesia. Mal J Med Health Sci 2020; 16(SUPP3):56-61.
- 30. Wu J, Zhuo Q, Chen X, Tian Y, Piao J, Yang X. Association of leptin receptor gene polymorphrism with metabolic syndrome in older Han adults from major cities in China. Wei Sheng Yan Jiu 2016; 45(3):376-82.
- Lian Y, Tang Z, Xie Y, Chen Z. Leptin receptor gene polymorphisms and risk of hypertension: a metaanalysis. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015; 8(8):14277-82.
- 32. Gu P, Jiang W, Chen M, Lu B, Shao J, Du H, *et al.* Association of leptin receptor gene polymorphisms and essential hypertension in a Chinese population. J Endocrinol Invest 2012; 35(9):859-65.
- 33. Komşu-Örnek Z, Demirel F, Dursun A, Ermiş B, Pişkin IE, Bideci A. Leptin receptor gene Gln223Arg polymorphism is not associated with obesity and metabolic syndrome in Turkish children. Turkish J Ped 2012; 54(1):20-4.
- 34. Pena GG, Guimarães ALS, Veloso

RR, Reis TC, Gomes CS, Neto JFR, *et al.* Leptin receptor gene Gln223Arg polymorphism is not associated with hypertension: a preliminary population-based cross-sectional study. Cardiol Res Pract 2002; 879037:7pages.

35. Clément K, Mosbah H, Poitou C. Rare genetic forms of obesity: From gene to therapy: physiol Behav 2020; 227:113134.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. physbeh.2020.113134

- 36. Schneider K, Valdez J, Nguyen J, Vawter M, Galke B, Kurtz TW, *et al.* Increased energy expenditure, Ucp1 expression, and resistance to dietinduced obesity in mice lacking nuclear factor-erythroid-2-related transcription factor-2 (Nrf2). J Biol Chem 2016; 291(14):7754-66.
 - https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.673756
- 37. Sreedhar A, Zhao Y. Uncoupling protein 2 and metabolic diseases. Mitochondrion 2017; 34:135-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mito.2017.03.005
- 38. Pravednikova AE, Shevchenko SY, Kerchev VV, Skhirtladze MR, Larina SN, Kachaev ZM, et al. Association of uncoupling protein (Ucp) gene polymorphisms with cardiometabolic diseases. Mol Med 2020; 26(1):51. https://doi.org/10.1186/s10020-020-00180-4
- 39. Surniyantoro HNE, Sadewa AH, Hastuti P. Uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2) as genetic risk factor for obesity in Indonesia is different in gender stratification. Kobe J Med Sci 2018; 64(2):E64-72.
- 40. Dalgaard LT, Andersen G, Larsen LH, Sørensen TI, Andersen T, Drivsholm T, *et al.* Mutational analysis of the UCP2 core promoter and relationships of variants with obesity. Obes Res 2003; 11(11):1420-7.

https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2003.191

41. Oktavianthi S, Trimarsanto H, Febinia CA, Suastika K, Saraswati MR, Dwipayana P, *et al.* Uncoupling protein 2 gene polymorphisms are associated with obesity. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2012; 11:41.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2840-11-41

- 42. Zhang M, Wang M, Zhao ZT. Uncoupling protein gene 2 polymorphisms association in with overweight and obesity susceptibility: a meta-analysis. Meta Gene 2014; 2:143-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mgene.2013.10.009
- 43. Lee YH, Kim W, Yu BC, Park BL, Kim LH, Shin HD. Association of the ins/ del polymorphisms of uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2) with BMI in a Korean population. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008; 371(4):767-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.04.144
- 44. Shiinoki T, Suehiro T, Ikeda Y, Inoue M, Nakamura T, Kumon Y, *et al.* Screening for variants of the uncoupling protein 2 gene in Japanese patients with non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Metabolism 1999; 48(5):581-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0026-0495(99)90054-9
- 45. Xu K, Zhang M, Cui D, Fu Y, Qian L, Gu R, Wang M, Shen C, Yu R, Yang T. UCP2 -866G/A and Ala55Val, and UCP3 -55C/T polymorphisms in association with type 2 diabetes susceptibility: a meta-analysis study. Diabetologia 2011; 54(9):2315-24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-011-2245-y
- 46. Avesani CM, Kamimura MA, Utaka S, Pecoits-FilhoR,NordforsL,Stenvinkel P, *et al.* Is UCP2 gene polymorphism associated with decreased resting energy expenditure in nondialyzed chronic kidney disease patients? J Ren Nutr 2008; 18(6):489-94. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jrn.2008.08.009
- 47. Maestrini S, Podestà F, Di Blasio AM, Savia G, Brunani A, Tagliaferri A, *et al.* Lack of association between UCP2 gene polymorphisms and obesity

phenotype in Italian Caucasians. J Endocrinol Invest 2003; 26(10):985-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03348196

48. Otabe S, Clement K, Rich N, Warden C, Pecqueur C, Neverova M, et al. Mutation screening of the human UCP 2 gene in normoglycemic and NIDDM morbidly obese patients: lack of association between new UCP 2 polymorphisms and obesity in French Caucasians. Diabetes 1998; 47(5):840-2.

https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.47.5.840

49. Szendrei B, González-Lamuño D, Amigo T, Wang G, Pitsiladis Y, Benito PJ, *et al.* Influence of ADRB2 Gln27Glu and ADRB3 Trp64Arg polymorphisms on body weight and body composition changes after a controlled weight-loss intervention. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2015; 41(3):307-14.

https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2015-0425

50. Leite N, Lazarotto L, Milano GE, Titski AC, Consentino CL, de Mattos F, et al. Associação do gene ADRB2 com sobrepeso e asma em crianças e adolescentes e sua relação com a aptidão física [Beta 2-adrenergic receptor gene association with overweight and asthma in children and adolescents and its relationship with physical fitness]. Rev Paul Pediatr 2015; 33(4):381-6.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rpped.2015.01.012

51. Shafriani NR, Hastuti P, Sadewa AH. Heterozygote polymorphisms of ARG16GLY and GLN27GLU ADRB2 gene is risk protective for obesity in Javanese population of Indonesia. African J Biotechnol 2018; 17(37):1172-9.

https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB2018.16514

52. Gjesing AP, Andersen G, Burgdorf KS, Borch-Johnsen K, Jørgensen T, Hansen T, *et al.* Studies of the associations between functional beta2-adrenergic receptor variants and obesity, hypertension and type 2 diabetes in 7,808 white subjects. Diabetologia 2007; 50(3):563-8.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-006-0578-8

- 53. Kim SH, Kim DJ, Seo IA, Min YK, Lee MS, Kim KW, *et al.* Significance of beta2-adrenergic receptor gene polymorphism in obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus in Korean subjects. Metabolism 2002; 51(7):833-7. https://doi.org/10.1053/meta.2002.33347
- 54. Kawamura T, Egusa G, Fujikawa R, Okubo M. Gln27Glu variant of the beta2-adrenergic receptor gene is not associated with obesity and diabetes in Japanese-Americans. Metabolism 2001; 50(4):443-6.

https://doi.org/10.1053/meta.2001.21695

- 55. Castro AM, Macedo-de la Concha LE, Pantoja-Meléndez CA. Low-grade inflammation and its relation to obesity and chronic degenerative diseases. Rev Médica del Hosp Gen México 2017; 80(2):101-5. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 10.1016/j. hgmx.2016.06.011
- 56. Metz S, Huang LO, Kilpeläinen TO. Genetic variation, adipokines, and cardiometabolic disease. Curr Opin Pharmacol 2020; 52:33-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2020.04.006
- 57. Recinella L, Orlando G, Ferrante C, Chiavaroli A, Brunetti L, Leone S. Adipokines: potential new therapeutic target for obesity and metabolic, rheumatic, and cardiovascular diseases. Front Physiol 2020; 11:1-32. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fphys.2020.578966
- 58. Kasap T, Samet O, Omar A, Ali G. +45T>G single nucleotide polymorphism of adiponectin gene: Is it a factor in childhood obesity? J Clin Anal Med 2018; 9(5):376-80 http://doi.org/10.4328/jcam.5735
- 59. Mackawy AMH, Alzohairy MA, Ahmed EA, Badawy MEH. Adiponectin gene polymorphism and the incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in obese patients in Qassim

Region, Saudi Arabia. J Am Sci 2011; 7:432-43.

- 60. Khabour OF, Alomari MA, Abu Obaid AA. The Relationship of adiponectin level and ADIPOQ gene variants with BMI among young adult women. Dermatoendocrinol 2018; 10(1):e1477902. https://doi.org/10.1080/19381980.201 8.1477902
- 61. Gui MH, Li X, Jiang SF, Gao J, Lu DR, Gao X. Association of the adiponectin gene rs1501299 G>T variant, serum adiponectin levels, and the risk of coronary artery disease in a Chinese population. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2012; 97(3):499-504.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. diabres.2012.05.011

- 62. Al-Daghri NM, Al-Attas OS, Alokail MS, Alkharfy KM, Hussain T, Yakout S, *et al.* Adiponectin gene polymorphisms (T45G and G276T), adiponectin levels and risk for metabolic diseases in an Arab population. Gene 2012; 493(1):142-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2011.11.045
- 63. Leu HB, Chung CM, Lin SJ, Jong YS, Pan WH, Chen JW. Adiponectin gene polymorphism is selectively associated with the concomitant presence of metabolic syndrome and essential hypertension. PLoS One 2011; 6(5):e19999. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.

pone.0019999

- 64. Dasari R, Raghunath V. Obesity and type II diabetes mellitus: Is resistin the link? J Diabetes Endocr Pract 2018; 1(1):1.
- 65. Acquarone E, Monacelli F, Borghi R, Nencioni A, Odetti P. Resistin: A reappraisal. Mech Ageing Dev 2019; 178:46-63.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2019.01.004

66. Pandey R. Resistin, is there any role in the mediation of obesity, insulin resistance and type-II diabetes mellitus? Juniper Online J Case Stud 2018; 6(3):10-13. https://doi.org/10.19080/ JOJCS.2018.06.555686

67. Hastuti P, Tasmini T, Utami RF, Kaita Riwa MR, Steven S, Sadewa AH. Variation of resistin gene is correlated with insulin resistance in obese people of Indonesia. Open Access Maced J Med Sci 2019; 7(12):1891-5.

https://doi.org/10.3889/oamjms.2019.456

- 68. Utami RF, Hastuti P, Sadewa AH. RETN rs3745368 polymorphism and resistin level in Javanese ethnic Indonesian obese: A case-control study. J Tekn Lab 2019; 8(1):41-9. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 2 9 2 3 8 / teknolabjournal.v8i1.164
- 69. Menzaghi C, Trischitta V. Genetics of serum resistin: A paradigm of population-specific regulation? Diabetologia 2010; 53:226-8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-009-1589-z
- 70. Silswal N, Singh AK, Aruna B, Mukhopadhyay S, Ghosh S, Ehtesham NZ. Human resistin stimulates the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNFalpha and IL-12 in macrophages by NF-kappaB-dependent pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 334(4):1092-101.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.06.202

71. Menezes CA, de Oliveira Andrade LJ, Pinheiro JJ, Correia GS, de Melo PRS, *et al.* Tumor necrosis factor alpha -308 promoter polymorphism and insulin resistance in overweight and obese adolescents. Med 2017; 50(6):358-64. https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.2176-

https://doi.org/10.11606/issn.21/6-7262.v50i6p358-364

- 72. Mărginean CO, Mărginean C, Meliţ LE. New insights regarding genetic aspects of childhood obesity: A minireview. Front Pediatr 2018; 6:1-8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2018.00271
- 73. Kern L, Mittenbühler MJ, Vesting AJ, Ostermann AL, Wunderlich CM, Wunderlich FT. Obesity-induced TNFα and IL-6 signaling: The

missing link between obesity and inflammation- driven liver and colorectal cancers. Cancers (Basel) 2019; 11(1):1-21.

https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11010024

- 74. Hastuti P, Martantiningtyas DC, Karita D, Tasmini, Sadewa AH. Polymorphism of -308 G/A TNF- gene correlated with the concentration of TNF- and lipid profile in obese subject of Javanese population. African J Biotechnol 2017; 16(37):1849-54. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB2017.16150
- 75. Pyrzak B, Wisniewska A, Popko K, Demkow U, Kucharska AM. Association between anthropometric measures of obesity, metabolic disturbances and polymorphism G-308A of the tumor necrosis factoralpha gene in children. Euro J Med Res 2010; 15(Suppl 2):141-6. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-783X-15-S2-141
- 76. Flores-Ramos LG, Escoto-De Dios A, Puebla-Pérez AM, FigueraVillanueva LE, Ramos- Silva A, Ramírez-Patiño R. Association of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha -308G>A polymorphism with breast cancer in Mexican women. Genet Mol Res 2013; 12(4):5680-93 https://doi.org/10.4228/2012

https://doi.org/10.4238/2013. November.18.17

- 77. Li YY. Tumor necrosis factor-Alpha G308α gene polymorphism and essential hypertension: A Metaanalysis involving 2244 participants. PLoS One 2012; 7(4):e35408. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0035408
- 78. Bonyadi M, Abdolmohammadi R, Jahanafrooz Z, Somy MH, Khoshbaten M. TNF-alpha gene polymorphisms in Iranian Azari Turkish patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. Saudi J Gastroenterol 2014; 20:108-12. https://doi.org/10.4103/1319-3767.129475
- 79. Hu M, Yu Z, Luo D, Zhang H, Li J, Liang F, *et al.* Association between -174G>C polymorphism in the IL-6

promoter region and the risk of obesity: A meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97(33):e11773. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 9 7 / MD.000000000011773

- 80. Hastuti P, Martantiningtyas DC, Karita D, Tasmini, Sadewa AH. Association of-174 g>c interleukin-6 gene polymorphism with interleukin-6 and c-reactive protein levels and obesity: A case-control study among people/residents of Western Indonesia. Med J Malaysia 2019; 74(5):400-4.
- Boeta-Lopez K, Duran J, Elizondo D, Gonzales E, Rentfro A, Schwarzbach AE, Nair S. Association of interleukin-6 polymorphisms with obesity or metabolic traits in young Mexican-Americans. Obes Sci Pract 2017; 4(1):85-96.

https://doi.org/10.1002/osp4.138

- 82. Ramírez-López G, Portilla-de Buen E, Sánchez-Corona J, Salmerón-Castro J, Mendoza-Carrera F. Interleukin-6 polymorphisms are associated with obesity and hyperglycemia in Mexican adolescents. Arch Med Res 2013; 44(1):62-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- arcmed.2012.10.019 83. Berthier M, Paradis A, Tchernof A, Bergeron J, Prud'homme D, Després J, et al. The interleukin 6 -174G/C polymorphism is associated with indices of obesity in men. J Hum

Genet 2003; 48:14-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s100380300002

84. Joffe YT, van der Merwe L, Evans J, Collins M, Lambert EV, September AV, et al. Interleukin-6 gene polymorphisms, dietary fat intake, obesity and serum lipid concentrations in black and white South African women. Nutrients 2014; 6:2436-65.

https://doi.org/10.3390/nu6062436

85. Jenkins HN, Rivera-Gonzalez O, Gibert Y, Speed JS. Endothelin-1 in the pathophysiology of obesity and insulin resistance. Obes Rev 2020; 21(12):1-9.

https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13086

86. Karita D, Sadewa AH, Hastuti P. Association between polymorphism of lys 198 asn endothelin-1 gene and endothelin-1 plasma level in Javanese obesity population. Bangladesh J Med Sci 2019; 18(1):46-9. https://doi.org/10.3329/bjms.v18i1.39546

87. Ahmed M, Rghigh A. Polymorphism in endothelin-1 gene: An overview. Curr Clin Pharmacol 2016; 11(3):191-210.

https://doi.org/10.2174/15748847116 66160701000900